EDGAROnline

BRIGHTCOVE INC

FORM 10-K

(Annual Report)

Filed 03/05/13 for the Period Ending 12/31/12

Address 290 CONGRESS STREET
BOSTON, MA 02210
Telephone (888) 882-1880
CIK 0001313275
Symbol BCOV
SIC Code 7374 - Computer Processing and Data Preparation and Processing Services
Industry  Software & Programming
Sector Technology
Fiscal Year 12/31

Powere d By ED‘GA;Rbn]ine

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2013, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.
Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.


http://www.edgar-online.com

Table of Contents

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
M ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forwacibking statementsthat involve risks and uncertainties, as well auagptions that, if they never materialize or pi
incorrect, could cause our results to differ matlrifrom those expressed or implied by such foodapking statements. The statements contained snhnual Report on For
10-K that are not purely historical are forwdodking statements within the meaning of SectioA B7the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, ou8ges Act, and Section 21
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amenaleixchange Act. Such forward-looking statementtuide any expectation of earnings, revenue orr dith@ncial items; any
statements of the plans, strategies and objeativemnagement for future operations; factors thay affect our operating results; statements reletediding employees;
statements related to potential benefits of theliadpn of Zencoder Inc.; statements related tariei capital expenditures; statements relatedttoduieconomic conditions or
performance; statements as to industry trends #redt matters that do not relate strictly to histakifacts or statements of assumptions underlyirygod the foregoing. Forward-
looking statements are often identified by the efseords such as, but not limited to, “anticipatthélieve,” “can,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,“expect,” “intend,” “may,”
“will,” “plan,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would,” and similar expressions or vations intended to identify forward-looking statemts. These statements are
based on the beliefs and assumptions of our maregdrased on information currently available to agement. Such forward-looking statements are sutgetsks,
uncertainties and other important factors thatdealuse actual results and the timing of certagmesvto differ materially from future results exgged or implied by such
forward-looking statements. Factors that could earscontribute to such differences include, batreot limited to, those identified below, and thdseussed in the section
titled “Risk Factors” included in Item 1A of Parbf this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the ridiscussed in our other Securities and Exchange Gssion, or SEC, filings.
Furthermore, such forward-looking statements spe#kas of the date of this report. Except as meguby law, we undertake no obligation to updatefanwvard-looking
statements to reflect events or circumstances thitetlate of such statements. Forward-looking rstaés in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may inelsthtements about:

. our ability to achieve profitability

. our competitive position and the effect of competitin our industry

. our ability to retain and attract new custom:

. our ability to penetrate existing markets and deyelew markets for our service

. our ability to retain or hire qualified accountiagd other personne

. our ability to protect our intellectual propertydaoperate our business without infringing uponithellectual property rights of other

. our ability to maintain the security and relialyilaf our systems

. our estimates with regard to our future performaamue total potential market opportuni

*  our estimates regarding our anticipated resultspefations, future revenue, capital requirementiscam needs for additional financing; &
. our goals and strategie
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PART |

Iltem 1. Business
Overview

Brightcove Inc., or Brightcove, is a leading glopabvider of cloud-based solutions for publishimgl @istributing professional digital media. Brighte was incorporated
in Delaware in August 2004 and our headquarterinaBeston, Massachusetts. Brightcove Video Clawd/ideo Cloud, our flagship product released i0&3ds the world’s
leading online video platform. As of December 3112, we had 6,367 customers in over 60 countmetyding many of the world’s leading media, retgkhnology and
financial services companies, as well as governspeaiucational institutions and non-profit orgatiaas. In 2012, our customers used Video Cloudstiver an average of
approximately 699 million video streams per momthich we believe is more video streams per mordh #iny other professional solution.

Video Cloud enables our customers to publish astiibute video to Internet-connected devices qyiakasily and in a cost-effective and high-quatitgnner. Our
innovative technology and intuitive user interfagee customers control over a wide range of featarel functionality needed to publish and deliveompelling user
experience, including content management, formavecsion, video player styling, distributed cachiadvertising insertion, content protection andritistion to diverse device
types and multiple websites, including their owrbsites, partner websites and social media siteed/Cloud also includes comprehensive analytidsati@v customers to
understand and refine their engagement with enguse

In August 2012, we acquired Zencoder Inc., or Zdecpa leading cloud-based media processing seamiddHTMLS5 video player technology provider. Werpta
continue to develop, operate, support and pronm&&éencoder media processing service and HTMLSoviadayer technology in their current form as distiproduct offerings.
We also plan to integrate Zencoder products arftht#ogies with our Video Cloud product.

In May 2011, we announced the release of Brightdgwe Cloud, or App Cloud. We made our first comnirsale of App Cloud in September 2011 and made Ap
Cloud generally commercially available in NovemBed1. On February 27, 2013, we announced that aretpldiscontinue our App Cloud platform and tdeas focus on
development of new native player software develagrkits, or SDKs, for mobile devices. We will canie to operate App Cloud for existing customersuph June 2014.

We generate revenue by offering our products ttocusrs on a subscription-based, software as acgemi SaaS, model. Our revenue grew from $63.6omih the year
ended December 31, 2011 to $88.0 million in the yealed December 31, 2012, and the number of cestonsing our products grew from 3,872 as of Deegrb, 2011 to
6,367 as of December 31, 2012. To date, substigraibbf our revenue has been attributable toVideo Cloud product. Our consolidated net loss $&&5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012 compared to $17.3 milbothk year ended December 31, 2011.

Our Solutions
Our solutions provide our customers with the follogvkey benefits:

. Comprehensive, highly configurable and scalabletsmhs. Video Cloud includes all of the features and fior@lity necessary to publish and distribute vi
online to a broad range of Internet-connected @svic a high-quality manner. The Zencoder mediagssing service, or the Zencoder Service, inclatlex the
features and functionality necessary to encodéadiifiies and convert them into a wide range ofifats in a high-quality manner. In addition, our tistdnant
architecture enables us to deliver our solutiowsspur customer base with a single version osoftware, making it easier to scale our solutionwascustomer
and end user base expar

. Easy to use and low total cost of owners. Video Cloud and the Zencoder Service were dedigmée intuitive and easy-to-use, empowering aaywithin an
organization to distribute video online a
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encode digital files. We provide reliable, costeetfve, on-demand solutions to our customers,vieliethem of the cost, time and resources assatigith in-
house solutions and enabling them to be up andrrignwithin minutes of signing with u

Open platform and extensive ecosystafiteo Cloud’s open and extensible platform engbler customers to customize standard featurefuactionality and
easily integrate third-party technology to meetrtbevn specific requirements and business objestiVe have an extensive ecosystem of technologgelnton
partners, which we refer to as the Brightcove Altie. More than 100 Brightcove Alliance members Havi# solutions that rely upon, or are alreadggrated
with, our Video Cloud platform. This ecosystem irdes large technology service providers such abddnd Google, many providers of niche technology
services, creative agencies and digital developsienps. These integrated technologies provide wstomers with enhanced flexibility, functionalitycaease of
use.

Help customers grow their audience and generatemae. Our customers use our product to achieve keynbasiobjectives such as driving site traffic, insieg
viewer engagement on their sites, increasing caiverates for transactions, increasing brand aveseand expanding their audiences. Video Clowdges our
customers with video advertising features suclvals for ad insertions and built-in ad server aetivork integrations, which help our customers gateer
advertising revenue from their audience. We bel@mwecustomers view us as a strategic partnerrinbgaause our business model is not dependentitsfirly our
own audience or generating our own advertisingmegeOur business interests align with our custehieterests as we each benefit from the succesarof
customer’ online strategy

Ongoing customer-driven developmeihrough our account managers, customer supgort, teroduct managers and regular outreach fronoiskr@dership, we
solicit and capture feedback from our customer fi@s@corporation into ongoing enhancements tosmlutions. Since 2008, we have provided our custsrwitt
enhancements to our Video Cloud platform, on awerage to two times every month. Delivering clowddd solutions allows us to serve additional custem
with little incremental expense and to deploy irations and best practices quickly and efficierdlptir existing customer

Our Business Strengths
We believe that the following business strengtlffedintiate us from our competitors and are kegupsuccess:

We are the recognized online video platform maleader.In 2012, our customers used Video Cloud to delareaverage of approximately 699 million video
streams per month, which we believe is more videsams per month than any other professional swluth December 2012, our customers used VideodCiou
reach over 212 million unique viewers on over 96,@8@&bsites. Frost & Sullivan awarded us the Gldliatket Share Leadership Award in Online Video Rlatfs
in 2011 and again in 2012. In 2012 we topped a &titiye assessment for online video platforms abiNE done by ABI Research, and we were selecteageto t
Deloitte Technology 2012 Fast 500 and the Inc. 306,

We have a demonstrated track record of innovatiwhtechnology leadersh. We pioneered the commercialization of online wigéatforms beginning with ot
first customer deployment in 2006. We have consibteeleased new features and functionality tteatehadded to and improved our core technologyekample
although we initially built Video Cloud with a foswon delivering video to PCs via Adobe Flash tethmg with the emergence of smartphones, we quickly
adapted our platform’s capabilities to handle madétvice delivery using both Adobe Flash and HTMé&&hnologies. Also, in April 2011, we were issudd.§.
patent covering aspects of publishing and distiiigudiigital media online

We have established a global prese. We have established a global presence, begimvithgour first nor-U.S. customer in 2007, and continuing with
expansion of our operations into Europe, JapanAaial Pacific. We built our solutions to be locatizeto almost any language and currently offer 24/5tomer
support worldwide. Today, we have employees intaiglintries. As of December &

3
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2012, organizations throughout the world used Vi@émud to reach viewers in approximately 230 caestand territories. During 2012, more than hamfeo
Cloud streams were delivered outside the UniteteS:

We have high visibility and predictability in ounginessWe sell our subscription and support services thinauonthly, quarterly or annual contracts and race
revenue over the life of the committed term. Theamity of our revenue comes from annual contra@is: existing contracts provide us with visibilitytd revenue
that has not yet been recognized. We have alseasthian overall recurring dollar retention ratabieast 86% in each of the last eight fiscal arartincluding
93%, 97%, 97% and 89% for the three months endedhviédl, 2012, June 30, 2012, September 30, 201Paocember 31, 2012, respectively. Our business h
and customer loyalty provides greater levels ofinéeg revenues and predictability compared toiti@akl, perpetu«license business mode

We have customers of all sizes across multiplesitnigis.\We offer different editions of our products taildr® meet the needs of organizations of variousssiz
from large global enterprises to small and mediizaesbusinesses, across industries. Our offerimgge from self-service, entry-level editions toeeptise-level
editions used by multiple departments in a singimoization

Our management team has experience building arlthgcsoftware companie©ur senior leadership team has built innovativéveare platform businesses.
Members of our senior leadership team have helidisproduct, business and technology roles at caegasuch as Adobe, Allaire, EMC, Lycos, Macromexid
Phase Forwar(

Our Customers

As of December 31, 2012, we had 6,367 customeadl sizes in over 60 countries. We provide our §ohs to many of the world’s leading media, ret&thnology and
financial services companies, as well as governsneaiucational institutions and nprefit organizations. Our target markets are natficed to certain industries or geograpt
as we are focused on providing solutions that earefit any organization with a website or digitahtent.

Our Products and Services
Brightcove Video Cloud
Principal Features and Functionality

Uploading and EncodingUsing Video Cloud, customers may upload videakratated metadata in various formats for adaptiseo encoding that maximizes
quality and minimizes file size. Video Cloud thart@matically enables the content to be delivereehith users via a third-party CDN such as Akamaiimelight
Networks.

Content Managemel. Whether a customer has a few short video cligharsands of fi-length episodes, Video Cloud makes it easy to azgaamedia library
Videos can be grouped together with drag-drap controls or smart playlists that automaticallganize content. Customers can set rules forrgpbi access a
schedules to define where and when their videodeanewed

Video Player:. Video Cloud allows for poiranc-click styling and configuration of video playersttcan reflect the brand or design of the custamiir tools for
customizing colors and graphics. Our video plagdse include a set of standard features such bsdden playback, sharing through social medialacalized
player controls. Developers can also take advardfgeset of tools to create completely customwiglayer experience

Multi-platform video experiencedVe have built Video Cloud to support numerousratieg systems, formats and devices. In additiongb-based experiences,
Video Cloud provides publishing a
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delivery services for cross-platform devices inghgdsmartphones, tablets and Connected TVs. Outisnlincludes automated device detection and nesag
multiple renditions of the same video encoded ffedént forms with optimized delivery protocols fdifferent target formats. Our native player SDiktead the
native video player capabilities of Apple iOS ando@le Android devices with additional functionalépd integrations that can accelerate the developaféigh-
quality consumer experiences. These native plaésSave built-in support for mixed video types audomatic buffering, and have been integrated legding
advertising, analytics, audience measurement agithldiights management provide

. Live Video Streamin. In addition to o-demand video distribution, Video Cloud includesmanp for live video broadcasts. Video Cloud acceptdtiple streams :
different quality levels and delivers the renditibat attempts to best match each vi¢' s available bandwidth, processor utilization arayet size

. Distribution and Syndicatio. Video Cloud supports a blended distribution stggitacross the Internet, allowing customers taitlige videos on their own websi
partner websites or vid-sharing sites such as YouTube. These tools heligebawners to drive site traffic, increase bramameness and expand their audiel

. Social Media Customers can expand their audience by leveraagocial network of their viewers. Through intggd Video Cloud capabilities, users can share
videos through Facebook and other social medianddisins.

¢ Advertising and Monetizatic. Video Cloud can help customers grow and mondhiee audience with video advertising features saglools for ad insertions and
built-in ad server and network integrations. Vid&loud includes tools to support synchronized ingptaadvertising with embedded link functionalitydaoverlays
for persistent branding. Video Cloud also suppestsiblished video ad formats, and accommodatesmie-and post-roll ads with tools to easily definsertion
points.

« Analytics. Video Clou('s integrated video analytics present informatioagtmize and support custom’ online video publishing and distribution strate
Reports include audience metrics such as uniqueevge technology profile details about operatingtasmns and devices, and engagement analytics swidvaesd
minutes and drop-off rates. Online publishers dao ehoose to integrate web analytics solutions siscAdobe Omniture or Google Analytics into thaiteo
experiences

Editions

Video Cloud is offered to customers on a subsaiphbased SaaS model in premium and volume editaandescribed below, that include varying leveliottionality,
usage entitlements and support. Our customers gpaymonthly, quarterly or annual subscription faeaccess to Video Cloud. This model allows out@mers to scale their
level of investment and usage based on the size@nglexity of their needs. We currently offer Vid€loud in the following editions:

«  Video Cloud ExpressExpress is an entry-level volume edition of Vidgloud designed for small and medium-sized buseess larger organizations looking to
manage smaller projects. Customers may initiat@banline and license Express entirely onlinengsa credit card. Most of our Express customersan@onth-
to-month subscriptions. The Express edition inciuid@ctionality for basic professional online vidaablishing but excludes advanced customization and
integration capabilities and is not eligible fovadced add-on services. The Express edition lithé@ssolume of video that can be published and tbeership
capacity for the content, but customers have thiepf purchasing additional capaci

¢ Video Cloud Prc. Pro is a premium edition of Video Cloud desigmétth functionality needed to customize a custc’s online video experience, advant
monetization features and more capacity for corltergries and viewership. Most of our Pro custosrggn up for annual or longer subscriptic

5
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These customers also have access to a broaderabade-on services as well as access to Brightcove Aldanember products and servic

« Video Cloud EnterpriseEnterprise is a premium edition of Video Cloudideed with all of the most advanced features ae¥iCloud, including certain
capabilities necessary for large organizationsingimany web properties, advanced security feamedsadvanced reporting services. Most of our [prite
customers sign up for annual or longer subscripti@mterprise also includes significantly more citydor larger content librarie:

Account Management
A crucial component of our sales strategy is ogoant management organization. This organizatidadssed on ongoing customer success and engageasemell as
renewals of all of our customer contracts.

Professional Services

While Video Cloud is easy for customers to use @eploy without any additional specialized serviaes offer a range of professional services fora@ustrs who seek
customization or assistance with their implemeateti These professional services are priced on prpgct basis and include projects such as contégrations from other
vendors or in-house solutions, video player enhaecgs and the creation of web pages optimizedifteos

Support
All Video Cloud editions receive free basic onlgwgport for technical and operational issues. @araRd Enterprise editions include telephone suphaing normal
business hours. We also offer 24/7 global teleplsopgort to customers paying for premium supparkages.

Training
We offer free basic online training to all regist#users of Video Cloud. We also offer customiperjte training for customers that is priced oreegngagement basis.

Zencoder Media Processing Service
Principal Features and Functionality
. File SupportThe Zencoder Service accepts files in an extemsivge of formats and codecs and supports videabtd@a multitude of device
. Quality and Manipulatior. The Zencoder Service includes tools to suppagtt uality video output and to adjust and edit wic
. Platform and SecurityThe Zencoder Service is scalable, globally distetdand includes advanced security features designgrotect conten
*  Account and Integratio. The Zencoder Service provides a simple API f@ashlined integration, supports most major trangfetocols and accelerated file
transfers and allows users to manage their accamdte€ncoding jobs from an intuitive, online dasirdc

The media processing begins with an API request ficcustomer’s application to the Zencoder Sendgdzegin an encoding job, along with the locatibthe files to be
encoded and any optional encoding settings. Theatir Service responds with an encoding job ideatibn number to allow a customer to track thegpess of the encoding.
The Zencoder Service then downloads the files andearts them into as many applicable

6
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formats as the customer has identified, with edelb&ing processed concurrently. The ZencoderiGenploads the resulting files to the locatiomiifeed by the customer,
such as a designated server, CDN or syndicatidngranf the customer such as YouTube or Hulu. Tbegss ends with the Zencoder Service sendingification to the
customer’s application confirming that the encodmgomplete and the files have been uploaded.

Editions

The Zencoder Service is offered to customers arbacsiptionbased SaaS model in premium and volume editiordesibed below, that include varying levels aige
entitlements. Our customers pay us on a usage dwaéy us a monthly or annual subscription feeafmress to the Zencoder Service. As with Video @lthis model allows ot
customers to scale their level of investment ardjedased on the size and complexity of their needs

We currently offer the Zencoder Service in thedaihg volume editions: Pay-As-You-Go, Launch, Tiaetand Growth. Pay-As-You-Go edition customers fesp
based on the number of minutes of output videonthuTraction and Growth edition customers pay athig subscription fee that includes a fixed numtsfeminutes of output
video per month, with additional fees per minut@uofput video above the number of minutes includetie respective edition. The Zencoder media [msiog service is also
available in a premium Enterprise edition thatues a higher volume of entitlements and typicatuires an annual or longer subscription.

Brightcove App Cloud

App Cloud is designed to help organizations cofgeti’ely develop, deploy and manage content appsmartphones, tablets and other Internet-conneleeides. On
February 27, 2013, we announced that we plan twdigue our App Cloud platform and to instead foon development of new native player SDKs for feothevices. We wi
continue to operate App Cloud for existing custa@rmirough June 2014.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our products primarily through our globakdt sales organization. Our sales team is orgdri the following geographic regions: Americagtdpe and Asia
Pacific. We further organize our sales force ieans focused on selling to specific customer grdogsed on the size of our prospective customees, as small, medium-sized
and enterprise, as well as vertical industry, twjate a higher level of service and understandimauo customers’ specific needs. A small but grap@mount of sales are
generated through referral partners, channel parare resellers. We also sell some of our procurdtee through our website.

We generate customer leads, accelerate sales opjies and build brand awareness through our niackerograms. Our marketing programs target exeesit
technology professionals and senior business Isatife our sales teams, our marketing team angrpros are organized by geography, organizationasidéndustry segment.
Our principal marketing programs include:

¢ public relations and social med

. online event marketing activities, direct emailarsd engine marketing and display advertising dods)

« field marketing events for customers and prosp

. participation in, and sponsorship of, user confegsntrade shows and industry eve

. use of our website to provide product and orgaimmahformation, as well as learning opportunitiespotential customer:

7
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. cooperative marketing efforts with partners, inahgdoint press announcements, joint trade shoivities, channel marketing campaigns and joint sems;
« telemarketing and lead generation representatifsraspond to incoming leads to convert them ietw sales opportunities; a
. customer programs, including user meetings ananlime customer communit

Operations

We operate two data center facilities in the greBteston area, one data center facility in the igre@hicago area and also use third-party cloudpeimg platforms. We
operate our own servers for systems that manage dagd, business rules and archival storage ofaneeiets. We take advantage of geographicallyrdisgpethird-party, cloud
computing capacity to improve the responsivenessipgervice and lower network latency for our onsgrs.

Media delivery to end users, including video, auditages, JavaScript and Adobe Flash componergsrved primarily through our CDN providers, Akamai
Technologies, Inc., or Akamai, and Limelight Netk&rinc., or Limelight. We believe our agreemenithwkamai and Limelight are based on competitiverket terms and
conditions, including service level commitmentsfirthese CDN providers.

We entered into our agreement with Akamai in J@¥@ It enables us to use Akamai CDN services fiorown benefit and to resell Akamai CDN servicesuo
customers in every geographic location in whichoffer our products. The current expiration datéhefagreement is December 31, 2014.

We entered into our agreement with Limelight in Bfa2006. Our agreement with Limelight enables uss®Limelight CDN services for our own benefit andesell
Limelight CDN services to our customers in everggraphic location in which we offer our productseTcurrent expiration date of the agreement is Madg 2014.

Each agreement contains a service continuationgéollowing expiration of the agreement which weiéve is sufficient to enable transition to areaiative provider to
avoid material disruption to our business or to @stomers. Our agreement with Akamai provides tian termination for any reason, Akamai will done to provide CDN
services to our existing customers for up to twehanths. Our agreement with Limelight provides thigbn termination for any reason, Limelight witintinue to provide CDN
services for our benefit for up to six months.

Intellectual Property

We rely principally on a combination of trademaphitent, copyright and trade secret laws in theddn8tates and other jurisdictions, as well as denfiality procedures
and contractual provisions to protect our proprietachnology, confidential information, businetsitegies and brands. We also believe that fastark as the technological ¢
creative skills of our employees and personnel lssliwith the creation of new features, functionyadind products are essential to establishing andtamaing a technology
leadership position. We enter into confidentiadityd invention assignment agreements with our eneplownd consultants and confidentiality agreenweititsother third parties,
and we rigorously control access to our proprietachnology.

We have one issued patent and five patent apgitapending in the United States. Our issued patgites in 2029 and covers aspects of publishirgdistributing
digital media online. We currently have patent aggions pending in Europe, Hong Kong and Japathv&may seek coverage in additional jurisdictitanthe extent we
determine such coverage is appropriate and costtefé.
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Our registered trademarks in the United Statesiie!BRIGHTCOVE”, “BRIGHTCOVE.COM"” and our logo. Hse trademarks are also registered in certain nSn-U
jurisdictions, including the European Union. We nagply for registrations for these and other markadditional jurisdictions to the extent we deterensuch coverage
appropriate and cost-effective.

We also have a registered trademark for “ZENCODERNhe European Union. Our applications to regisZ&NCODER” as a trademark in the U.S. and Canada a
currently pending.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary tigglunauthorized parties may attempt to copy aaintand use our technology to develop products thighsame
functionality as our solutions. Policing unauthedause of our technology is difficult and expens®ar competitors could also independently devétopnologies equivalent to
ours, and our intellectual property rights may lmebroad enough for us to prevent competitors eling products incorporating those technologies.

Competition

We compete with video-sharing sites such as You;Timbeouse solutions, other online video platforansl other media processing services. Some of dualeand
potential competitors may enjoy competitive advgesaover us, such as larger marketing budgetselsasvgreater financial, technical and other resesi For example,
Amazon Web Services recently introduced a prochattiay be competitive with the Zencoder Servite dverall markets for cloud-based solutions fodim@rocessing and
publishing and distributing professional digitaldigeare fragmented, rapidly evolving and highly petitive.

We expect that the competitive landscape will clesaxgour markets consolidate and mature. We betlievprincipal competitive factors in our indusitmglude the

following:

¢ total cost of ownershif

. breadth and depth of product functional

« ability to innovate and respond to customer neagglly;

. level of resources and investment in sales, marfgefiroduct and technolog

« ease of deployment and use of solutic

. level of integration into existing workflows, cogfirability, scalability and reliability

e customer service

. brand awareness and reputati

. ability to integrate with thir-party applications and technologi

. size and scale of provider; a

. size of customer base and level of user adog

The mix of factors relevant in any given situati@ries with regard to each prospective customerb®lieve we compete favorably with respect to fthese factors.

Some of our competitors have made or may make sitigus or enter into partnerships or other stiategjationships to offer a more comprehensiveiserthan we do.
These combinations may make it more difficult ferta compete effectively, including on the basipride, sales and marketing programs, technologenrice functionality.
We expect these trends to continue as organizagid@spt to strengthen or maintain their markettjoos.
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Research and Development

We have focused our research and developmentefforexpanding the functionality and scalabilityoaf products and enhancing their ease of useghssicreating
new product offerings. We expect research and dpwent expenses to increase in absolute dollake &stend to continue to periodically release neatdres and functionalit
expand our product offerings, continue the locgliraof our products in various languages, upgiat®extend our service offerings, and develop eehrtologies. Over the
long term, we believe that research and developegrgnses as a percentage of revenue will decteatsejll vary depending upon the mix of revenuenfrnew and existing
products, features and functionality, as well aanges in the technology that our products mustatipguch as new operating systems or new Intexoretected devices.

Our research and development expenses were $1iahn$15.3 million and $12.3 million in 2012, 2D&nd 2010, respectively, which included stock-Hase
compensation expenses of $687,000, $367,000 ar®jCk&H respectively.

Employees

As of December 31, 2012, we had 335 employeeshafhws6 provided customer support services, 20igealprofessional services, 98 were in research and
development, 137 were in sales and marketing anded in general and administrative positions.l@te employees, 273 were located in the Unite@<Statd 62 were located
outside of the United States. None of our emplogeesepresented by a labor union or covered flective bargaining agreement. We consider owtiaiship with our
employees to be good.

Information about Segment and Geographic Revenue

Information about segment and geographic revensetitrth in Note 12 of the Notes to Consoliddtethncial Statements under Item 8 of this Annugldteon Form
10-K.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks describeldw and the other information in this Annual Repor Form 10-K. Our business, prospects, financtaldition, or
operating results could be harmed by any of thedesyas well as other risks not currently knownigcor that we currently consider immaterial. Ifyaof such risks and
uncertainties actually occurs, our business, finahcondition or operating results could differ reaally from the plans, projections and other fordidooking statements
included in the section titled “Management’s Dissios and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resolt Operations” and elsewhere in this report andur other public
filings. The trading price of our common stock cbdécline due to any of these risks, and, as dttggu may lose all or part of your investme

We have a history of losses, we expect to contitwi@cur losses and we may not achieve or sustaiofipability in the future.

We have incurred significant losses in each figeal since our inception in 2004. We experiencednsolidated net loss of $17.8 million for the yeaded
December 31, 2010, a consolidated net loss of $hillidn for the year ended December 31, 2011 aodresolidated net loss of $12.5 million for the yeaded December 31,
2012. These losses were due to the substantiadtmeats we made to build our products and servigesy and maintain our business and acquire custorkey elements of
our growth strategy include acquiring new custonasd continuing to innovate and build our brandaAssult, we expect our operating expenses teaserin the future due to
expected increased sales and marketing expensastiops costs, research and development costgesmslal and administrative costs and, therefonepperating losses will
continue or even potentially increase at leastutinc?013. In addition, as a public company we irsgnificant
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legal, accounting and other expenses that we dithoor as a private company. Furthermore, to #iere that we are successful in increasing ourotnst base, we will also
incur increased expenses because costs associttiegenerating and supporting customer agreemeatgemerally incurred up front, while revenue iseyally recognized
ratably over the term of the agreement. You shaoltdely upon our recent revenue growth as indieadif our future performance. We cannot assuretlyauwe will reach
profitability in the future or at any specific tinire the future or that, if and when we do beconwitable, we will sustain profitability. If we andtimately unable to generate
sufficient revenue to meet our financial targeex;dme profitable and have sustainable positive ftagls, investors could lose their investment.

Substantially all of our revenue comes from a siegbroduct, Video Clouc

We are currently substantially dependent on revémume a single product, Video Cloud. Our businessid be harmed by a decline in the market for ViGéaud,
increased competition in the market for online wvigéatforms, or our failure or inability to providafficient investment to support Video Cloud aedexl to maintain or grow its
competitive position.

We have a relatively short operating history, whiofakes it difficult to evaluate our business andifive prospects.

Our business has a relatively short operating fhyistehich makes it difficult to evaluate our busiseand future prospects. We have been in exisgnce 2004, and
much of our growth has occurred in recent peridds.have encountered, and will continue to encouns and difficulties frequently experienceddrpwing companies in
rapidly changing industries, including those redatie

«  market acceptance of our current and future predamd services

e customer renewal rate

. our ability to compete with other companies that@irrently in, or may in the future enter, the ke&for our products
. our ability to successfully expand our businespeemlly internationally

. our ability to control costs, including our openatiexpenses

« the amount and timing of operating expenses, pdatily sales and marketing expenses, related tmtiintenance and expansion of our business, opesatind
infrastructure

. network outages or security breaches and any asedaxpense

«  foreign currency exchange rate fluctuatic

«  write-downs, impairment charges or unforeseen liabilitiesonnection with acquisition
. our ability to successfully manage acquisitions]

. general economic and political conditions in oumastic and international marke

If we do not manage these risks successfully, aginess will be harmed.

The actual market for our solutions could be sigi@éntly smaller than our estimates of our total pottial market opportunity, and if customer demanerfour services does
not meet expectations, our ability to generate newe and meet our financial targets could be advdysaffected.

While we expect strong growth in the markets far jpoducts, it is possible that the growth in samall of these markets may not meet our expectatior materialize
all. The methodology on which our estimate of atiak potential market opportunity is based inclusiegeral key assumptions based on our industry letlge and customer
experience. If any of these assumptions proves fadccurate, then the actual market
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for our solutions could be significantly smalleathour estimates of our total potential market opity. If the customer demand for our servicetheradoption rate in our
target markets does not meet our expectationsglulity to generate revenue from customers and meetinancial targets could be adversely affected.

Our business is substantially dependent upon thetawed growth of the market for on-demand softwaselutions.

We derive, and expect to continue to derive, sultistity all of our revenue from the sale of our @@mand solutions. As a result, widespread acceptamd use of the on-
demand business model is critical to our futuremgincand success. Under the perpetual or periockndie model for software procurement, users ofaftevare would typically
install and operate the applications on their har@wBecause many companies are generally predsposnaintaining control of their information tectogy, or IT, systems
and infrastructure, there may be resistance tadheept of accessing software as a service prowgedthird party. In addition, the market for oertand software solutions is
still evolving, and competitive dynamics may capseing levels to change as the market maturesaarekisting and new market participants introduse types of solutions
and different approaches to enable organizatioasidoess their technology needs. As a result, webradorced to reduce the prices we charge fopeatlucts and may be
unable to renew existing customer agreements er @rtb new customer agreements at the same @ckspon the same terms that we have historidéatlye market for on-
demand software solutions fails to grow, grows metogvly than we currently anticipate or evolves #ordes us to reduce the prices we charge for mduzts, our revenue,
gross margin and other operating results could &emnally adversely affected.

Our operating results may fluctuate from quarter tpuarter, which could make them difficult to predic

Our quarterly operating results are tied to ceri@mancial and operational metrics that have flatdd in the past and may fluctuate significantiyhia future. As a result,
you should not rely upon our past quarterly opegatesults as indicators of future performance. @uarating results depend on numerous factors, rofwhich are outside of
our control. In addition to the other risks desedbn this “Risk Factors” section, the followingks could cause our operating results to fluctuate:

. our ability to retain existing customers and attract meistomers

« the mix of annual and monthly customers at anyrgtirae;

« the timing and amount of costs of new and existiragketing and advertising effor

« the timing and amount of operating costs and cagiaenditures relating to expansion of our busineperations and infrastructu
¢ the cost and timing of the development and intréidncof new product and service offerings by usar competitors; an

. system or service failures, security breaches twor& downtime.

Our long-term success depends, in part, on our #pito expand the sales of our products to customkrcated outside of the United States, and thus lousiness is
susceptible to risks associated with internatiosales and operation:

We currently maintain offices and have sales persbim Australia, France, Germany, Japan, Singaf®wath Korea, Spain and the United Kingdom, andntend to
expand our international operations. Any internalexpansion efforts that we may undertake mayadatuccessful. In addition, conducting internatl@perations subjects us
to new risks that we have not generally faced inlihited States. These risks include:

. unexpected costs and errors in the localizatiosuofproducts, including translation into foreigndaages and adaptation for local practices andatyy
requirements
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. lack of familiarity and burdens of complying witbréign laws, legal standards, regulatory requirgmeariffs, and other barrier
. unexpected changes in regulatory requirementss téegle laws, tariffs, export quotas, custom gutieother trade restrictior
. difficulties in managing systems integrators arght®logy partners
. differing technology standard
. longer accounts receivable payment cycles andcdiffes in collecting accounts receivak
. difficulties in managing and staffing internatiorglerations and differing employer/employee retetiops;
« fluctuations in exchange rates that may increasedatility of our foreig-based revenur
. potentially adverse tax consequences, includingdimeplexities of foreign value added tax (or ottae) systems and restrictions on the repatriatfceamings
e uncertain political and economic climates;
. reduced or varied protection for intellectual pndpeights in some countrie
These factors may cause our costs of doing businésese geographies to exceed our comparablestimnoests. Operating in international markets adspires

significant management attention and financial weses. Any negative impact from our internationadihess efforts could negatively impact our businessults of operations
and financial condition as a whole.

We must keep up with rapid technological changeémain competitive in a rapidly evolving industry.

The online video platform market is characterizgddpid technological change, frequent new prodnck service introductions and evolving industrydtads. Our
future success will depend on our ability to adaptkly to rapidly changing technologies, to adaipt services and products to evolving industrydaaas and to improve the
performance and reliability of our services anddmais. To achieve market acceptance for our predua must effectively anticipate and offer produbtiat meet changing
customer demands in a timely manner. Customersretpyre features and functionality that our curgducts do not have. If we fail to develop praduitbat satisfy customer
preferences in a timely and cost-effective manoer ability to renew our contracts with existingstamers and our ability to create or increase derfamour products will be
harmed.

We may experience difficulties with software deyeteent, industry standards, design or marketingdbald delay or prevent our development, introductir
implementation of new products and enhancementsiffttoduction of new products by competitors, éh@ergence of new industry standards or the devedopof entirely nev
technologies to replace existing offerings coulitler our existing or future products obsolete.

If we are unable to successfully develop or acquéw features and functionality, enhance our exggproducts to anticipate and meet customer remeinés or sell our
products into new markets, our revenue and resfittperations will be adversely affected.

If we are unable to retain our existing customeisyr revenue and results of operations will be adsely affected

We sell our products pursuant to agreements teagemerally for monthly, quarterly or annual ter@sr customers have no obligation to renew theédsstiptions after
their subscription period expires, and these sijitgmns may not be renewed on the same or on muoffégble terms. As a result, our ability to retar existing customers and
grow depends in part on subscription renewals. & not be able to accurately predict
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future trends in customer renewals, and our cust@menewal rates may decline or fluctuate becafiseveral factors, including their satisfactiord@satisfaction with our
services, the cost of our services and the castvices offered by our competitors, reductionsuncustomers’ spending levels or the introduchigrcompetitors of attractive
features and functionality. If our customer retentiate decreases, we may need to increase that ratéch we add new customers in order to mairgaihgrow our revenue,
which may require us to incur significantly higlaivertising and marketing expenses than we cuyranticipate, or our revenue may decline. If ostomers do not renew
their subscriptions for our services, renew on faserable terms, or do not purchase additionattionality or subscriptions, our revenue may groarenslowly than expected
or decline, and our profitability and gross margimsy be harmed.

We depend on the experience and expertise of o@cexive officers, senior management team and keshtécal employees, and the loss of any key emplaaéd have an
adverse effect on our business, financial conditiand results of operations.

Our success depends upon the continued serviag executive officers, senior management team agddchnical employees, as well as our abilitydotinue to attrac
and retain additional highly qualified personneick of our executive officers, senior managemerteéey technical personnel and other employeesl ¢erminate his or her
relationship with us at any time. In January 2QIE8emy Allaire, our founder, Chairman and Chiefditive Officer, announced his resignation as Chiefcutive Officer
effective as of March 31, 2013. In addition, we @mmced that David Mendels, our current PresidedtGmef Operating Officer, would replace Mr. Allaias our Chief
Executive Officer effective as of March 31, 2018ll&wing Mr. Allaire’s resignation, we will have perienced our first transition at the Chief ExeeaitDfficer level and cannot
provide assurances that we will effectively mantgetransition. While we will strive to make thignsition as smooth as possible, the loss of aemiper of our senior
management team or key personnel, including Miaifdls resignation as Chief Executive Officer, mighngfigantly delay or prevent the achievement of business objective
and could materially harm our business and ourowst relationships. In addition, because of theneadf our business, the loss of any significamhiber of our existing
engineering, project management and sales persooulel have an adverse effect on our businessydiabcondition and results of operations.

Our recent acquisition of Zencoder, and/or potentfature acquisitions, could be difficult to integte, divert the attention of key personnel, disruptr business, dilute
stockholder value and impair our financial result

As part of our business strategy, we intend to idensacquisitions of companies, technologies anducts that we believe could accelerate our aliityompete in our
core markets or allow us to enter new markets ekample, in the quarter ended September 30, 20kdmeleted our acquisition of Zencoder, a provisferloud-based media
processing services and HTMLS5 video player techgyldcquisitions, including the Zencoder acquisitimvolve numerous risks, any of which could haum business,
including:

. difficulties in integrating the technologies, prati operations, existing contracts and persorfreetarget company and realizing the anticipatetkhits of the
combined businesse

. difficulties in supporting and transitioning custers, if any, of a target compar
. diversion of financial and management resources &gisting operations

« the price we pay or other resources that we davateexceed the value we realize, or the value wéldwave realized if we had allocated the purclpame or
other resources to another opportur

«  risks of entering new markets in which we have témiior no experienc
. potential loss of key employees, customers antegfiaalliances from either our current businesa arget compar’'s business; ar
. inability to generate sufficient revenue to offaeguisition costs

14



Table of Contents

Acquisitions also frequently result in the recorfof goodwill and other intangible assets whichsargject to potential impairments in the futuret tt@uld harm our
financial results. In addition, if we finance acsjtions by issuing equity securities, our existitgckholders may be diluted. As a result, if wétfaproperly evaluate acquisitic
or investments, we may not achieve the anticipheggefits of any such acquisitions, and we may igosts in excess of what we anticipate. The fatorsuccessfully evaluate
and execute acquisitions or investments or otheradequately address these risks could materiatiy lour business and financial results.

Our business and operations have experienced rapigwth and organizational change in recent periodghich has placed, and may continue to place, sfg@int demands
on our management and infrastructure. If we fail tmanage our growth effectively and successfullymgtadditional highly-qualified employees, we mée unable to
execute our business plan, maintain high levelssefvice or address competitive challenges adeqyatel

We increased our number of full-time employees f258 as of December 31, 2010, to 312 as of DeceBhe2011 and to 335 as of December 31, 2012, ancewenue
grew from $43.7 million in 2010 to $63.6 million 2011 and to $88.0 million in 2012. Our headcoumt aperations have grown, both domestically arefiationally, since our
inception. This growth has placed, and will conéiria place, a significant strain on our managenshhinistrative, operational and financial infrasture. We anticipate further
growth will be required to address increases inppaduct and service offerings and continued irggonal expansion. Our success will depend in yaoh the ability of our
senior management team to manage this growth e#éctTo do so, we must continue to recruit, htrajn, manage and integrate a significant numbegualified managers,
technical personnel and employees in specializied mithin our company, including in technologylessand marketing. If our new employees perfornrigoor if we are
unsuccessful in recruiting, hiring, training, maimagand integrating these new employees, or retgitliese or our existing employees, our businegssuider.

In addition, to manage the expected continued dr@f/bur headcount, operations and geographic expanwe will need to continue to improve our imf@tion
technology infrastructure, operational, financiadlananagement systems and procedures. Our exeid@mnal headcount and capital investments wiléase our costs,
which will make it more difficult for us to addreasay future revenue shortfalls by reducing expeirsése short term. If we fail to successfully mgeaaur growth we will be
unable to successfully execute our business plaithveould have a negative impact on our busirfesmcial condition or results of operations.

We may experience delays in product and serviceetissment, including delays beyond our control, whicould prevent us from achieving our growth objeas and hurt
our business.

Many of the problems, delays and expenses we meguater may be beyond our control. Such problemsin@ude, but are not limited to, problems relatedhe
technical development of our products and servigeshlems with the infrastructure for the distributand delivery of online media, the competitiverieonment in which we
operate, marketing problems, consumer and adveateeptance and costs and expenses that may eowreent estimates. Problems, delays or expensayyinf these areas
could have a negative impact on our business, ¢inhnonditions or results of operations.

Delays in the timely design, development, deploynaerd commercial operation of our product and sereiferings, and consequently the achievementiofevenue
targets and positive cash flow, could result fromagety of causes, including many causes thabayend our control. Such delays include, but atdimited to, delays in the
integration of new offers into our existing offegirchanges to our products and services made tect@r enhance their features, performance or etabiity or in response to
regulatory developments or otherwise, delays erteoed in the development, integration or testingwfproducts and services and the infrastructurénk distribution and
delivery of online media and other systems, unssgfaécommercial
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launches of new products and services, delaysriafaility to obtain financing, insufficient or irfettive marketing efforts and slower-than-anticgghtonsumer acceptance of
our products. Delays in any of these matters cbirder or prevent our achievement of our growtteotiyes and hurt our business.

There is no assurance that the current cost of Imet connectivity and network access will not rigéth the increasing popularity of online media seces.

We rely on third-party service providers for ouingipal connections to the Internet and networlkeascand to deliver media to consumers. As den@rmhfine media
increases, there can be no assurance that Ingardetetwork service providers will continue to pribeir network access services on reasonable t@tmedistribution of online
media requires delivery of digital content filesigsroviders of network access and distribution izgnge their business models and increase thegspsignificantly, which
could slow the widespread adoption of such servicesrder for our services to be successful, theust be a reasonable price model in place to dtowhe continuous
distribution of digital media files. We have limit®r no control over the extent to which any ofstheircumstances may occur, and if network acaedswibution prices rise,
our business, financial condition and results afrafions would likely be adversely affected.

Failure of our infrastructure for the distributionand delivery of online media could adversely affectr business.

Our success as a business depends, in large party @bility to provide a consistently high-qualitigital experience to consumers via our relatngps and infrastructure
for the distribution and delivery of online mediangrally. There is no guarantee that our relatigsséind infrastructure will not experience problensther performance issu
which could seriously impair the quality and religyp of our delivery of digital media to end usefor example, we primarily use two content deleetworks, or CDNSs, to
deliver content to end users. If one or both o§¢h€DNs were to experience sustained technicakési it could cause delays in our service andowddose customers. If we
do not accurately predict our infrastructure cayagquirements, our customers could experiencgcgeoutages or service degradation that may stibgeto financial penalties
and liabilities and result in customer losseshimpast we have, on limited occasions, suffereg¢eany interruptions of certain aspects of our isenincluding our customers’
ability to upload new content into our system, customers’ ability to access administrative contfaheir accounts, and our ability to deliver aanttto end users in certain
geographic locations. These service interruptioasevthe results of human error, hardware and softfeglures or failures of third-party networks. @fimited number of
occasions, these service interruptions have redjuiseo provide service credits to customers. WWaabguarantee that service interruptions will matur again or predict the
duration of interruptions of our service or the aopof such interruptions on our customers. Faslamred interruptions of our service may impact ejputation, result in our
payment of compensation or service credits to astamers, result in loss of customers and adveedtdygt our financial results and ability to growrdusiness. In addition, if
our hosting infrastructure capacity fails to keegéewith increased sales or if our delivery cajitaslfail, customers may experience delays asegk ® obtain additional
capacity or enable alternative delivery capabilithich could harm our reputation and adverselycaféerr revenue growth.

We may have difficulty scaling and adapting our sting infrastructure to accommodate increased tiafand storage, technology advances or customeuregments.

In the future, advances in technology, increasesaffic and storage, and new customer requiremmatg require us to change our infrastructure, edpam infrastructur
or replace our infrastructure entirely. Scaling addpting our infrastructure is likely to be compded require additional technical expertise. Ifave required to make any
changes to our infrastructure, we may incur sulbisiacosts and experience delays or interruptionsur service. These delays or interruptions magea&ustomers and partners
to become dissatisfied with our service and moweptapeting providers of online publishing or distition services. Our failure to accommodate in@ddgaffic and storage,
increased costs, inefficiencies or failures to adapew
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technologies or customer requirements and the @$edadjustments to our infrastructure could haumbusiness, financial condition and results arafions.

We face significant competition and may be unsucfesagainst current and future competitors. If wa not compete effectively, our operating resultelguture growth
could be harmed.

We compete with other online video platforms andlim@rocessing services, as well as larger compahé offer multiple services, including thoset timay be used as
substitute services for our products. Competit®alieady intense in these markets and, with tiedaction of new technologies and market entramésexpect competition to
further intensify in the future. In addition, somieour competitors may make acquisitions, be aegiiior enter into strategic relationships to offenore comprehensive service
than we do. These combinations may make it mofeudlif for us to compete effectively. We expectdbdrends to continue as competitors attempt émgthen or maintain their
market positions.

Demand for our services is sensitive to price. Miaayors, including our advertising, customer astjian and technology costs, and our current ahgéucompetitors’
pricing and marketing strategies, can significaaffect our pricing strategies. There can be narasee that we will not be forced to engage ingedatting initiatives, or to
increase our advertising and other expenses tcha#nd retain customers in response to compefitegsures, either of which could have a matede¢ise effect on our
revenue, operating results and resources.

We will likely encounter significant, growing contji®n in our business from many sources, includiogtals and digital media retailers, search ergyisecial
networking and consumer-sharing services compalieagdband media distribution platforms, technoleggpliers, direct broadcast satellite televisiervise companies and
digital and traditional cable systems. Many of present and likely future competitors have subgtiygreater financial, marketing, technologicatiaother resources than we
do. For example, Amazon Web Services recently dtced a product that might be competitive withZeacoder Service. Some of these companies mayavase to offer
services competitive with ours at no cost as degjyato attract or retain customers of their og@wices. If we are unable to compete successiidlytraditional and other
emerging providers of competing services, our lessnfinancial condition and results of operatiomgld be adversely affected.

We rely on software and services licensed from otharties. The loss of software or services fronirthparties could increase our costs and limit tfeatures available in our
products and service:

Components of our service and product offeringkigie various types of software and services liceffisem unaffiliated parties. For example, some wf products
incorporate software licensed from Adobe. If anyhef software or services we license from othefsimetional equivalents thereof were either no Emayailable to us or no
longer offered on commercially reasonable termsyeld be required to either redesign our servémesproducts to function with software or serviaeailable from other
parties or develop these components ourselvedthier €ase, the transition to a new service praviden internally-developed solution could regulincreased costs and could
result in delays in our product launches and thease of new service and product offerings. Funtioee, we might be forced to temporarily limit tleafures available in our
current or future products and services. If wetfainaintain or renegotiate any of these softwargeovice licenses, we could face significant delayd diversion of resources in
attempting to license and integrate functional egjeints.

If our software products contain serious errors defects, then we may lose revenue and market aeceggt and may incur costs to defend or settle clai

Complex software applications such as ours oftenado errors or defects, particularly when firgtaaluced or when new versions or enhancementeksased. Despite
internal testing and testing by our
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customers, our current and future products mayadoiserious defects, which could result in loserawe, lost customers, slower growth or a delayarket acceptance.

Since our customers use our products for criticalriess applications, such as online video, erdefects or other performance problems could résulamage to our
customers. They could seek significant compensditan us for the losses they suffer. Although austomer agreements typically contain provisionsgiesl to limit our
exposure to claims, existing or future laws or unfable judicial decisions could negate these #étiohs. Even if not successful, a claim broughireiais would likely be time-
consuming and costly and could seriously damageeputation in the marketplace, making it harden®to sell our products.

Unauthorized disclosure of data or unauthorized to our service could adversely affect our besis

Any security breaches, unauthorized access, unazgidousage, virus or similar breach or disruptionld result in loss of confidential informatiorerponal data and
customer content, damage to our reputation, earyibation of our contracts, litigation, regulatamyestigations or other liabilities. If our sedyrmeasures, or those of our
partners or service providers, are breached asudt & third-party action, employee error, malf@ase or otherwise and, as a result, someone ohtaimghorized access to
confidential information, personal data or custogmttent, our reputation will be damaged, our bessrmay suffer or we could incur significant liail

Techniques used to obtain unauthorized accesssatimtage systems change frequently and generallyoarecognized until launched against a tafget result, we
may be unable to anticipate these techniquesiangtement adequate preventative measures. If aralaat perceived security breach occurs, the mardeteption of our
security measures could be harmed and we couldsides and customers. Any significant violationslath privacy or unauthorized disclosure of infaioracould result in the
loss of business, litigation and regulatory in\getiions and penalties that could damage our répntahd adversely impact our results of operatandfinancial condition.
Moreover, if a security breach occurs with respectnother software as a service, or SaaS, prowdercustomers and potential customers may lose itn the security of the
Saas business model generally, which could adyeirsglact our ability to retain existing customersatiract new ones.

We use a limited number of data centers and clowinputing services facilities to deliver our servicé\ny disruption of service at these facilitiesubd harm our business.

We manage our services and serve all of our custofram three third-party data center facilitiesdted in the United States and from a limited nunatbeloud
computing services facilities. While we control #hetual computer and storage systems upon whicplatform runs, and deploy them to the data ceatglities, we do not
control the operation of these facilities.

The owners of these facilities have no obligatmnenew their agreements with us on commercialigoaable terms, or at all. If we are unable towethese agreements
on commercially reasonable terms, we may be redjtiréransfer to new facilities, and we may inagngicant costs and possible service interruptiononnection with doing
S0.

Any changes in third-party service levels at thasdities or any errors, defects, disruptions thren performance problems at or related to theséties that affect our
services could harm our reputation and may damageustomers’ businesses. Interruptions in ourisesvmight reduce our revenue, cause us to ise@#sto customers,
subject us to potential liability, and cause cugmso terminate their subscriptions or harm oneveal rates.

These facilities are vulnerable to damage or serviterruption resulting from human error, intentibbad acts, earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fivar, terrorist attack
power losses, hardware failures, systems
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failures, telecommunications failures and similagrgis. The occurrence of a natural disaster ocaafderrorism, or vandalism or other miscondocta decision to close the
facilities without adequate notice or other unaptted problems could result in lengthy interrupsian our services.

Our business may be adversely affected by thirdepataims, including by governmental bodies, regang the content and advertising distributed througtur service.

We rely on our customers to secure the rightsdstébute content over the Internet, and we doscoten the content that is distributed throughseavice. There is no
assurance that our customers have licensed alsnigdtessary for distribution, including Internistribution. Other parties may claim certain rigimshe content of our
customers.

In the event that our customers do not have thegseey distribution rights related to content, wag/rie required to cease distributing such contertie may be subject
to lawsuits and claims of damages for infringentdrguch rights. If these claims arise with frequerhbe likelihood of our business being adverséfigcted would rise
significantly. In some cases, we may have righiademnification or claims against our custometséy do not have appropriate distribution rigleated to specific content
items, however there is no assurance that we wmikliccessful in any such claim.

We operate an “open” publishing platform and doswween the content that is distributed throughseavice. Content may be distributed through oatfpitm that is
illegal or unlawful under international, federahte or local laws or the laws of other countri#® may face lawsuits, claims or even criminal cbarfpr such distribution, and
we may be subject to civil, regulatory or crimisahctions and damages for such distribution. Aich slaims or investigations could adversely afteat business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We could incur substantial costs as a result of asigim of infringement of another party’s intelleatl property rights.

In recent years, there has been significant litbgain the United States involving patents and othiellectual property rights. Companies providinternet-related
products and services are increasingly bringinglstming subject to suits alleging infringemenpiaprietary rights, particularly patent rights.eBle risks have been amplifi
by the increase in third parties whose sole or @rjnusiness is to assert such claims, some of wiara sent letters to and/or filed suit alleginfgimgement against some of
our customers. From time to time, third partiesnelthat we are infringing upon their intellectuabperty rights. In July 2012 a complaint was filgdVideoshare, LLC against
us alleging infringement of U.S. Patent No. 7,982 4ith a listed issue date of July 26, 2011, ExtitSharing A Streaming Video.” In August 2012aplaint was filed by
Blue Spike, LLC naming us in a patent infringemesse, alleging infringement of U.S. Patent No. 8,842 with a listed issue date of March 18, 2008tled “Method and
Device for Monitoring and Analyzing Signals,” UBatent No. 7,660,700 with a listed issue date bfly 9, 2010, entitled “Method and Device for Moring and Analyzing
Signals,” U.S. Patent No. 7,949,494 with a listelie date of May 24, 2011, entitled “Method andi@efor Monitoring and Analyzing Signals” and UFsatent No. 8,214,175
with a listed issue date of July 3, 2012, entitigiéthod and Device for Monitoring and Analyzing 8ais.” For more information regarding these claiseg Part |, Item 3,
“Legal Proceedings.” We could incur substantiate@s prosecuting or defending any intellectualpamy litigation. Additionally, the defense or pegsition of claims could be
time-consuming, and could divert our managemetténtion away from the execution of our businessipl

Moreover, any settlement or adverse judgment riesuitom a claim could require us to pay substatiaounts or obtain a license to continue to usddhhnology that
the subject of the claim, or otherwise restricpahibit our use of the technology. There can bassurance that we would be able to obtain a lecéosn the third party
asserting the claim on commercially reasonablegeifiat all, that we would be able to developralétive technology on a timely basis, if at all tloat we would be able to
obtain a license to use a suitable
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alternative technology to permit us to continueenffg, and our customers to continue using, owcédd product or service. In addition, we may loiired to indemnify our
customers for thirgsarty intellectual property infringement claims,iefhwould increase the cost to us. An adverse aetation could also prevent us from offering ounghrcts
or services to others. Infringement claims asseatginst us may have an adverse effect on ourdrsifinancial condition and results of operations.

Our agreements with customers often include cotuahobligations to indemnify them against claimattour products infringe the intellectual propeights of third
parties. The results of any intellectual propeittgdtion to which we might become a party, ordrich we are required to provide indemnificatiorgynfiorce us to do one or
more of the following:

. cease selling or using products or services tltatrporate the challenged intellectual prope

. make substantial payments for costs or damg

. obtain a license, which may not be available osagrable terms, to sell or use the relevant teclgyolor
. redesign those products or services to avoid igément

If we are required to make substantial paymentsdertake any of the other actions noted aboveresudt of any intellectual property infringemefdims against us or
any obligation to indemnify our customers for setdims, such payments or costs could have a mbaehi@rse effect upon our business and financsllie

Failure to adequately protect our intellectual prepty could substantially harm our business and oggng results.

Because our business depends substantially omtliectual property, the protection of our intetleal property rights is important to the successun business. We re
upon a combination of trademark, patent, tradeet@erd copyright law and contractual restrictianpribtect our intellectual property. These affontlydimited protection.
Despite our efforts to protect our property rightsauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspéaargroducts, service, software and functionaitybtain and use
information that we consider proprietary. Moreoymlicing our proprietary rights is difficult anday not always be effective. In addition, we maychteenforce our rights
under the laws of countries that do not protecppedary rights to as great an extent as do the laiwthe United States.

Litigation or proceedings before the U.S. Patent Brademark Office or other governmental authasitied administrative bodies in the United Statelssdmoad may be
necessary in the future to enforce our intellecpuaperty rights, to protect our patent rightsdé&aecrets, trademarks and domain hames, andetoniie¢ the validity and scope
of the proprietary rights of others. Such litigatior proceedings may be very costly and impacfioancial performance. We may also incur substhntiats defending against
frivolous litigation or be asked to indemnify owrstomers against the same. Our efforts to enfarpeatect our proprietary rights may prove to beffiective and could result in
substantial costs and diversion of resources anldl smbstantially harm our operating results.

Our exposure to risks associated with the usetefiéctual property may increase as a result ofisépns, as we have less opportunity to havebiligi into the
development process with respect to acquired tdabp@r the care taken to safeguard against indtiment risks. Third parties may make infringemernt similar or related
claims after we have acquired technology that l@idaen asserted prior to our acquisition.

Confidentiality agreements with employees and otheray not adequately prevent disclosure of tradersts and other proprietary information.

We have devoted substantial resources to the dawelat of our technology, business operations asthbss plans. In order to protect our trade searetgroprietary
information, we rely in significant part on
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confidentiality agreements with our employees,nsees, independent contractors, advisers and cergoihese agreements may not be effective to preNgclosure of
confidential information, including trade secretsd may not provide an adequate remedy in the efemauthorized disclosure of confidential infotioa. In addition, others
may independently discover trade secrets and @taypyi information, and in such cases we would eatlile to assert trade secret rights against sartieq To the extent that
our employees and others with whom we do busingssntiellectual property owned by others in therkifor us, disputes may arise as to the rightelated or resulting know-
how and inventions. Laws regarding trade secrétsign certain markets in which we operate mayrdffittle or no protection to our trade secretse Tdss of trade secret
protection could make it easier for third partesompete with our products by copying functionalib addition, any changes in, or unexpected prtgations of, the trade sec
and other intellectual property laws in any couttryvhich we operate may compromise our abilitgndorce our trade secret and intellectual propégtyts. Costly and time-
consuming litigation could be necessary to enfarue determine the scope of our proprietary riginsl, failure to obtain or maintain trade secretgmtion could adversely affe
our competitive business position.

Our use of “open source” software could negativeifect our ability to sell our services and subject to possible litigation.

A portion of the technology licensed by us incogies “open source” software, and we may incorpapén source software in the future. Such operceaoftware is
generally licensed by its authors or other thirdipa under open source licenses. If we fail to plyrwith these licenses, we may be subject to Tedanditions, including
requirements that we offer our services that inorafe the open source software for no cost, thaheke available source code for modifications sivdéve works we create
based upon, incorporating or using the open saofterare and that we license such modificationalt@rations under the terms of the particular agmirce license. If an author
or other third party that distributes such operrsesoftware were to allege that we had not compligh the conditions of one or more of these Iga=s) we could be required to
incur significant legal expenses defending againeh allegations and could be subject to signifidamages, enjoined from the sale of our servitatsdontained the open
source software and required to comply with thedoing conditions, which could disrupt the disttibo and sale of some of our services.

Fluctuations in the exchange rate of foreign currefes could result in currency transactions losses.

We currently have foreign sales denominated in valian dollars, British pound sterling, euros, Jegse yen and New Zealand dollars and may, in tesfuhave sales
denominated in the currencies of additional coestim which we establish or have established sdfiegs. In addition, we incur a portion of our oging expenses in euros a
to a lesser extent, other foreign currencies. Amgtfiation in the exchange rate of these foreigneticies may negatively impact our business, firdrondition and operating
results. We have not previously engaged in foreigmency hedging. If we decide to hedge our foreigmency exposure, we may not be able to hedgetefély due to lack of
experience, unreasonable costs or illiquid markets.

We may be required to collect sales and use taxethe services we sell in additional jurisdictiomsthe future, which may decrease sales, and we rhaysubject to liability
for sales and use taxes and related interest andgbies on prior sales

State and local taxing jurisdictions have differmiges and regulations governing sales and use tax@ these rules and regulations are subjectryinganterpretations
that may change over time. In particular, the ajaility of sales and use taxes to our subscripg@mices in various jurisdictions is unclear. Vdarot assure you that we will
not be subject to sales and use taxes or relatetjgs for past sales in states where we presbaligve sales and use taxes are not due. We eesstimated sales and use taxes
in our financial statements but we cannot be aettzt we have made sufficient reserves to coveaeds that might be assessed.
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If one or more taxing authorities determines thaes should have, but have not, been paid witteotdp our services, we may be liable for pastdameaddition to being
required to collect sales or similar taxes in respé our services going forward. Liability for paaxes may also include substantial interest amajty charges. Our client
contracts typically provide that our clients muay @ll applicable sales and similar taxes. Nevéstise clients may be reluctant to pay back taxdsaay refuse responsibility f
interest or penalties associated with those taxeganay determine that it would not be feasiblegek reimbursement. If we are required to coect pay back taxes and the
associated interest and penalties and if our glidatnot reimburse us for all or a portion of thas®unts, we will incur unplanned expenses that beagubstantial. Moreover,
imposition of such taxes on our services going &oiwill effectively increase the cost of such smes to our clients and may adversely affect oilitylo retain existing client
or to gain new clients in the areas in which s@otes$ are imposed.

Government and industry regulation of the Internit evolving and could directly restrict our busiresr indirectly affect our business by limiting thgrowth of our markets.
Unfavorable changes in government regulation or ofailure to comply with regulations could harm ousiness and operating results.

Federal, state and foreign governments and agehaiesadopted and could in the future adopt reiguisttovering issues such as user privacy, cordedttaxation of
products and services. Government regulations douitithe market for our products and servicesnguose burdensome requirements that render oundsssunprofitable. Our
products enable our customers to collect, manadestamne a wide range of data. The United Statewaridus state governments have adopted or propisigtions on the
collection, distribution and use of personal infation. Several foreign jurisdictions, including tBaropean Union and the United Kingdom, have adbiggislation (including
directives or regulations) that increase or chahgeaequirements governing data collection ancagiin these jurisdictions. If our privacy or ds¢gurity measures fail to
comply with current or future laws and regulations, may be subject to litigation, regulatory invgstions or other liabilities, or our customers nbegminate their relationships
with us.

In addition, although many regulations might ngplggo our business directly, we expect that laggutating the solicitation, collection or procesgsof personal and
consumer information could affect our customerdlitgtio use and share data, potentially reduciegnénd for our services. The TelecommunicationsoA&996 and the
European Union Data Protection Directive along wither similar laws and regulations prohibit certyipes of information and content from being traiteed over the Internet.
The scope of this prohibition and the liability asisted with a violation are currently unsettledabdition, although substantial portions of thenBwinications Decency Act
were held to be unconstitutional, we cannot beagethat similar legislation will not be enactediarpheld in the future. Legislation like the Telegounications Act and the
Communications Decency Act could dampen the gramwtkeb usage and decrease its acceptance as ametdaommunications and commerce. Moreover, iffefaws and
regulations limit our customers’ ability to use asfgire consumer data or our ability to store, m®emd share data with our customers over thenkttetemand for our products
could decrease, our costs could increase, ancesults of operations and financial condition cduécharmed.

In addition, taxation of services provided over liernet or other charges imposed by governmesmeigs or by private organizations for accessiedrternet may be
imposed. Any regulation imposing greater fees fternet use or restricting information exchanger thve Internet could result in a decline in the ofthe Internet and the
viability of Internet-based services, which coulitin our business and operating results.

Our stock price has been volatile and is likelylie volatile in the future.

The market price of our common stock has been stikily to be highly volatile and could be subjezsignificant fluctuations in response to, amotfer things, the
risk factors described in this report and othetdiecbeyond our control. Market prices for secesitof early stage companies have historically been
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particularly volatile. Some, but not all, of thefars that may cause the market price of our comshaek to fluctuate include:

« fluctuations in our quarterly or annual financiesults or the quarterly or annual financial resoftsompanies perceived to be similar to us onvaaiéfor our
business

. changes in estimates of our financial results comemendations by securities analy
¢ failure of our products to achieve or maintain nedikcceptance
. changes in market valuations of similar or relevarhpanies
. success of competitive service offerings or teohgiels;
. changes in our capital structure, such as thenssuaf securities or the incurrence of d
. announcements by us or by our competitors of siamf services, contracts, acquisitions or stratatfiances
. regulatory developments in the United States, §oreiountries, or bott
. litigation;
. additions or departures of key person
. investor’ general perceptions; al
. changes in general economic, industry or markeditions.
In addition, if the market for technology stockstite stock market in general, experiences a Ibss/estor confidence, the trading price of our coom stock could

decline for reasons unrelated to our businesspdiaficondition, or results of operations. If arfyttee foregoing occurs, it could cause our stodé&eoto fall and may expose us to
lawsuits that, even if unsuccessful, could be gdstidefend and a distraction to management.

If securities or industry analysts do not publisbr cease publishing, research or reports about asy business or our market, or if they adverselyattge their
recommendations regarding our stock, our stock riand trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will bduehced by research and reports that industryaurig analysts may publish about us, our businessmarket or our
competitors. If any of the analysts who may coweadversely change their recommendations regaadingtock, or provide more favorable relative renmndations about our
competitors, our stock price would likely declitfeany analyst who may cover us were to cease egeeof our company or fail to regularly publishagp on us, we could lose
visibility in the financial markets, which in tugould cause our stock price or trading volume tide.

We are an “emerging growth company” and we cannet tertain if the reduced disclosure requirementgpépable to emerging growth companies will make cecommon
stock less attractive to investol

We are an “emerging growth compangs' defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startap®f2012, or the JOBS Act, and we may take acigandf certain exemptiol
from various reporting requirements that are applie to other public companies that are not “enmgrgrowth companies” including, but not limited teduced disclosure
obligations regarding executive compensation inpmsiodic reports and proxy statements and exempfiom the requirements of holding a nonbindingsaty vote on
executive compensation and shareholder approwatyfjolden parachute payments not previously agokde cannot predict if investors will find oumamon stock less
attractive because we may rely on these exemptibssme investors find our common stock less etiva as a result, there may be a less activertgaatiarket for our common
stock and our stock price may be more volatile.r’éy take advantage of these reporting exemptiotilswmare no longer an “emerging growth company.”
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In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also pdesi that an “emerging growth company” can take reidge of the extended transition period provide8ention 7(a)(2)
(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new vised accounting standards. In other words eametging growth company” can delay the adoptioceofain accounting
standards until those standards would otherwisty appprivate companies. However, we are choogirigpt out” of such extended transition period, asd result, we will
comply with new or revised accounting standardtherrelevant dates on which adoption of such staisda required for non-emerging growth compartestion 107 of the
JOBS Act provides that our decision to opt outhef éxtended transition period for complying withvrar revised accounting standards is irrevocable.

We do not expect to declare any dividends in theéeeable future.

We do not anticipate declaring any dividends talbrs of our common stock in the foreseeable futDomsequently, investors may need to rely on sxHléseir common
stock after price appreciation, which may nevewuocas the only way to realize any future gainshair investment. Investors seeking dividends shook purchase our
common stock.

We may be unable to meet our future capital requirents, which could limit our ability to grow.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivaleititbavsufficient to meet our anticipated workingpital and capital expenditure needs over at tbastext 12 months.
We may, however, need, or could elect to seektiaddi funding at any time. To the extent that Bxgsresources are insufficient to fund our bussngserations, our future
activities for the expansion of our service and paduct offerings, developing and sustaining @letionships and infrastructure for the distribntand delivery of digital medi
online, marketing, and supporting our office fda@h, we may need to raise additional funds threegglity or debt financing. Additional funds may et available on terms
favorable to us or our stockholders. Furthermdregiissue equity securities, our stockholders mgerience additional dilution or the new equitgiséies may have rights,
preferences and privileges senior to those of ristirg classes of stock. If we cannot raise funidscceptable terms, we may not be able to dewelephance our products,
take advantage of future opportunities or respormbmpetitive pressures or unanticipated requirésnen

Failure to achieve and maintain effective internabntrol over financial reporting could result in aufailure to accurately report our financial resudt. Any inability to report
and file our financial results accurately and timglcould harm our business and adversely impact istee confidence in our company and, as a resulte thalue of our
common stock.

We will need to evaluate our internal control ofieancial reporting in connection with Section 48f4he Sarbanes-Oxley Act for 2013, and our indepehregistered
public accounting firm will be required to attestthe effectiveness of our internal control oveaficial reporting starting with our annual report2013. This assessment will
need to include the disclosure of any material weages in our internal control over financial réipgridentified by our management, as well as adependent registered
public accounting firm's attestation report on mternal control over financial reporting. We haegun the costly and challenging process of comptlie system and
processing documentation needed to comply with seghirements. We may not be able to complete waluation, testing and any required remediatioa firmely fashion.
During the evaluation and testing process, if vemiily one or more material weaknesses in ourmerontrol over financial reporting, we will beabie to assert that our
internal control over financial reporting is effieet If we are unable to assert that our interoatiml over financial reporting is effective, orafir independent registered public
accounting firm is unable to express an opinioitheneffectiveness of our internal control over fic@l reporting, we could lose investor confideircéhe accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports, which cddde a material adverse effect on the price otoormon stock.
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Anti-takeover provisions contained in our amended amstated certificate of incorporation and amendeddarestated bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaaviamw, could
impair a takeover attempt.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmaaind bylaws, and Delaware law, contain provistbas could have the effect of rendering more ciifti or
discouraging an acquisition deemed undesirableubyoard of directors. Our corporate governanceng@nts include provisions:

« authorizing blank check preferred stock, which ddug issued with voting, liquidation, dividend, asttier rights superior to our common sto
. limiting the liability of, and providing indemnifation to, our directors and officel
. limiting the ability of our stockholders to calldbring business before special meetings and ®aation by written consent in lieu of a meeti

. requiring advance notice of stockholder proposaidiisiness to be conducted at meetings of oukistdaers and for nominations of candidates forteado our
board of directors

. controlling the procedures for the conduct and datieg of board of directors and stockholder megj
. providing our board of directors with the expreesvpr to postpone previously scheduled annual mgetind to cancel previously scheduled special mgse
. establishing a classified board of directors so tioa all members of our board are selected atiome

. limiting the determination of the number of direst@n our board of directors and the filling of &acies or newly created seats on the board to@andtof
directors then in office; ar

. providing that directors may be removed by stocétrs only for caust
These provisions, alone or together, could delafilectakeovers and changes in control of our commat changes in our management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subjectdwigions of Delaware law, including Section 203t Delaware General Corporation Law, which préveome
stockholders holding more than 15% of our outstagpdommon stock from engaging in certain businesshinations without approval of the holders of sabsally all of our
outstanding common stock. Any provision of our adezhand restated certificate of incorporation dawg or Delaware law that has the effect of delgyindeterring a change
in control could limit the opportunity for our stdwlders to receive a premium for their sharesusfammmon stock, and could also affect the prieg¢ some investors are willi
to pay for our common stock.

We record substantial expenses related to our isseaof stock options that may have a material acdeeimpact on our operating results for the foresbtafuture.

We expect our stock-based compensation expendasowiinue to be significant in future periods, ahiwill have an adverse impact on our operatingltesThe model
used by us requires the input of highly subjecéissumptions, including the price volatility of thgtion’s underlying stock. If facts and circumstasichange and we employ
different assumptions for estimating stock-basedpensation expense in future periods, or if wedieth use a different valuation model, the futlegqa expenses may differ
significantly from what we have recorded in thereat period and could materially affect the failueaestimate of stock-based payments, our operatomne, net income and
net income per share.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.
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Iltem 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters are located in Bostasskthusetts. We lease 82,184 square feet putsuambgase that terminates March 31, 2022. We bales and
marketing offices in New York, New York; Middletowisconsin; London, England; Paris, France; Handg8ermany; Barcelona, Spain; Tokyo, Japan; Sydfastralia;
Seoul, South Korea; and Singapore. Our officesiattie, Washington and San Francisco, Califorreauged for sales and marketing as well as reseatkevelopment. We
believe our facilities are adequate for our currezeds.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On July 19, 2012, a complaint was filed by Videash&LC naming us in a patent infringement caselédshare, LLC v. Brightcove Inc., United StatesiitisCourt for
the District of Massachusetts). The complaint &ethat we have infringed U.S. Patent No. 7,987wifli2a listed issue date of July 26, 2011, erditi8haring A Streaming
Video.” The complaint seeks an injunction enjoininfiingement, damages, and pre- and post-judge®sts and interest. On January 10, 2013, we filed@on to dismiss the
complaint and on January 21, 2013, Videoshare éledmended complaint. We are evaluating the matigras such, have not yet determined whethepitobable that a loss
will be incurred in connection with this complaingr can we reasonably estimate the potential ibasy.

On August 27, 2012, a complaint was filed by Blpéks, LLC naming us in a patent infringement ca&3le€ Spike, LLC v. Audible Magic Corporation, et,dlnited
States District Court for the Eastern District @x@s). The complaint alleges that we have infringesl Patent No. 7,346,472 with a listed issue datdarch 18,
2008, entitled “Method and Device for Monitoringdainalyzing Signals,” U.S. Patent No. 7,660,700vetlisted issue date of February 9, 2010, entitiéethod and Device
for Monitoring and Analyzing Signals,” U.S. Patéd. 7,949,494 with a listed issue date of May 211 entitled “Method and Device for Monitoring aAdalyzing Signals”
and U.S. Patent No. 8,214,175 with a listed isste df July 3, 2012, entitled “Method and DeviceNtonitoring and Analyzing Signals.” The complaggeks an injunction
enjoining infringement, damages and pre- and paligfnent costs and interest. We answered and filedterclaims against Blue Spike on December 3, 2088 complaint is
subject to indemnification by one of our vendors #énnot yet determine whether it is probabledHass will be incurred in connection with this qaeint, nor can we
reasonably estimate the potential loss, if any.

In addition, we are, from time to time, party tigation arising in the ordinary course of our Imesis. Management does not believe that the outobthese claims will
have a material adverse effect on our consolidiitt@dcial position, results of operations or casiw$ based on the status of proceedings at this tim

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

Our common stock has been traded on the NASDAQ4dbMlarket under the symbol “BCOV” since our init@iblic offering on February 17, 2012. Prior tcsttime,
there was no public market for our common stocle fitlowing table shows the high and low sale iper share of our common stock as reported oNA&DAQ Global
Market for the periods indicated:

High Low
First Quarter 2012 (beginning February 17, 2012) $25.5( $14.0C
Second Quarter 201 $24.9( $12.1C
Third Quarter 201: $17.1% $10.81
Fourth Quarter 201 $14.0C $ 8.2¢

On February 28, 2013, the last reported sale foiceur common stock on the NASDAQ Global Marketsv§$.30 per share.

Dividend Policy

We have never paid or declared any cash dividenasiocommon stock. We currently intend to retaiy eash flow to finance the growth and developnoémtur
business, and we do not expect to pay any castiediists on our common stock in the foreseeable fuRagment of future dividends, if any, will be e tdiscretion of our board
of directors and will depend on our financial cdiuefi, results of operations, capital requiremergstrictions contained in current or future finamrinstruments and other fact
our board of directors deems relevant.

Stockholders
As of February 28, 2013, there were approximatéljéders of record of our common stock (not inglgcbeneficial holders of stock held in street name
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Stock Performance Graph

The graph set forth below compares the cumulatited stockholder return on our common stock betweshruary 17, 2012 (the date of our initial pulblifering) and
December 31, 2012, with the cumulative total retfr(a) the NASDAQ Computer & Data Processing Inder (b) the NASDAQ Composite Index, over the saaméod. This
graph assumes the investment of $100 on Februa3012 in our common stock, the NASDAQ Computer &®Processing Index and the NASDAQ Composite Irzahek
assumes the reinvestment of dividends, if any.graph assumes our closing sales price on Febrfai3012 of $14.30 per share as the initial valueusfcommon stock and r
the initial offering price to the public of $11.@@r share.

The comparisons shown in the graph below are based historical data. We caution that the stockepperformance shown in the graph below is notssszdy
indicative of, nor is it intended to forecast, giwgential future performance of our common stonkorimation used in the graph was obtained fromrNASDAQ Stock Market
LLC, a financial data provider and a source belieteebe reliable. The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC is mesponsible for any errors or omissions in siébrimation.
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NASDAQ Composite Inde 100.( 100.t 104.7 99. 105.€ 102.c
NASDAQ Computer & Data Processing Inc 100.( 101.¢ 107.( 99.2 105.2 97.4

Sales of Unregistered Securities
Not applicable.

Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stdc

On February 16, 2012, our registration statemert@m S-1 (File No. 33376444) was declared effective for our initial palffering. On February 23, 2012, we clo:
our initial public offering of 5,750,000 sharesomimmon stock, including 750,000 shares pursuattigt@nderwriters’ overallotment option, at an dffgrprice of $11.00 per
share. The managing underwriters of the offeringeidorgan Stanley & Co. LLC, and Stifel, NicolausGompany, Incorporated. Following the sale of thares in connection
with the closing of our initial public offering, ¢hoffering terminated.
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As a result of the offering, including the undeters’ option to purchase additional shares, weivedenet proceeds of approximately $54.5 milliditeradeducting total
expenses of approximately $8.7 million, consisthgnderwriting discounts and commissions of $4ilian and offering-related expenses reasonablyreged to be
$4.3 million. None of such payments were diredhdirect payments to any of our directors or offgcer their associates, to persons owning 10% @e mbour common stock,
or to any of our affiliates.

We have used $7.0 million of the net proceeds foominitial public offering to repay certain indebiness. None of such payments were direct or ictdi@yments to any
of our directors or officers or their associategpérsons owning 10% or more of our common stockg any of our affiliates. We also used approxiha$27.4 million of the
net proceeds from our initial public offering assmleration for the purchase of Zencoder in Aug0ode.

There has been no material change in the planreedfysoceeds from our initial public offering assdribed in our final prospectus filed with the S&CFebruary 17,
2012 pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securitets A

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer or Affated Purchasers
There were no repurchases of shares of common stadk during the year ended December 31, 2012.
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Dat

The following selected consolidated financial dgttauld be read in conjunction with “Management’sdbission and Analysis of Financial Condition anduRs of
Operations”, the consolidated financial statemantrelated notes, and other financial informaitnmtuded in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We derived the consolidated financial data forytears ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 afdesember 31, 2012 and 2011 from our consolitifitancial
statements, which are included elsewhere in thisudhReport on Form 10-K. We derived the consodiddinancial data for the years ended Decembe2®19 and 2008 and as
of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 from auditeshfiial statements which are not included in thisu#al Report on Form 10-K. Historical results amemecessarily
indicative of the results to be expected in fujpreiods.

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands, except per share date

Consolidated statements of operations date

Revenue
Subscription and support rever $ 84,257 $ 60,16¢ $ 40,52  $32,24( $ 22,43
Professional services and other reve 3,71¢ 3,39/ 3,19t 3,947 2,06¢
Total revenus 87,97: 63,561 43,71¢ 36,187 24,50(
Cost of revenue: (1) (¢
Cost of subscription and support reve 22,55 15,47¢ 11,06( 6,98¢ 6,07(
Cost of professional services and other reve 4,831 4,744 4,06t 3,46: 2,91¢
Total cost of revenu 27,38 20,22. 15,12¢ 10,44¢ 8,98¢
Gross profit 60,58¢ 43,34: 28,59: 25,73¢ 15,51«
Operating expenses: (1) (
Research and developm 18,72¢ 15,26° 12,257 8,927 7,75¢€
Sales and marketir 38,72t 31,56¢ 24,12« 13,21¢ 11,54
General and administratiy 16,73¢ 12,64( 9,617 6,69¢ 5,97(
Mergerrelated 1,852 — — — —
Total operating expens 76,03¢ 59,47 45,99¢ 28,84 25,26¢
Loss from operation (15,44°) (16,130) (17,407 (3,109 (9,759
Other income (expense
Interest incomt 10€ 23 18t 318 91¢
Interest expens (241 (35¢) — — —
Other (expense) income, r (359) (719) (50%) 22 (1,38¢)
Total other (expense) income, | (494) (1,059 (31¢) 33t (470)
Loss before income taxes and -controlling interest in consolidated subsidi (15,94)) (17,18¢) (17,725 (2,76%) (20,229
(Benefit from) provision for income tax (3,489 90 56 55 11
Consolidated net los (12,457) (17,27¢) (17,787) (2,827 (20,23Y)
Net (income) loss attributable to r-controlling interest in consolidated subsidi (734) (361) 28C 47¢ 30t
Net loss attributable to Brightcove Ir (13,18¢) (17,63%) (17,507 (2,345) (9,930)
Accretion of dividends on redeemable convertibkfgnred stocl (739) (5,639 (5,470 (4,919 (4,919
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $(13,919  $(23,279) $(22,97) $(7,269) $(14,849
Net loss per share attributable to common stocldre—basic and dilute $ (057 $ (479 $ (49 $ (L7090 $ (399
Weighte-average number of common shares used in computingss per share attributable to comr
stockholder—basic and dilute: 24,62t 4,90( 4,612 4,27¢ 3,72¢
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(1) Stockbased compensation included in above line ite
Cost of subscription and support reve
Cost of professional services and other reve
Research and developm
Sales and marketir
General and administrati
(2) Amortization of acquired intangible asseisuded in above line item
Cost of subscription and support reve
Research and developmt
Sales and marketir

Consolidated Balance Sheet Date
Cash and cash equivalel
Property and equipment, r
Working capital
Total asset
Current and lon-term debt
Redeemable convertible preferred stock warr
Redeemable convertible preferred st
Total stockholder equity (deficit)
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Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)

$ 12¢ $ 52 $ 2€ $ 21 $ 21
11€ 117 e]¢ 36 22
687 367 36¢ 12¢ 9¢
1,60¢ 1,00¢ 1,45¢ 10z 82
3,30¢ 2,65 1,36z 224 114

$ 37¢ $ — $ — $— $—

15 — — — —

25C — — — —

As of December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)

$21,70¢ $ 17,22% $ 20,34: $ 22,55¢ $ 24,17¢
8,40( 6,07¢ 4,70¢€ 3,35¢ 2,01¢
20,98t 10,20¢ 17,26 21,05« 24,04¢
96,99¢ 47,33¢ 41,98« 40,25¢ 40,42¢

— 7,00( — — —
— 424 28t 99 85
— 120,35: 114,40« 96,72¢ 91,01¢
64,49; (105,08Y) (86,93) (66,855 (60,522)
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Iltem 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should kad in conjunction with the financial statementd aglated notes
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Fof¥K1 The following discussion contains forward-lmakstatements that reflect our plans, estimated, taeliefs. Our actual
results could differ materially from those discussethe forward-looking statements. Factors thald cause or contribute to these differences itelthose discussed below
and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 104dftigularly in “Risk Factors.”

Company Overview

Brightcove is a leading global provider of cloudséd solutions for publishing and distributing pesfienal digital media. Brightcove Video Cloud, dd&b Cloud, our
flagship product released in 2006, is the world&ding online video platform. As of December 31120wve had 6,367 customers in over 60 countriefjding many of the
world’s leading media, retail, technology and fioih services companies, as well as governmentsatidnal institutions and non-profit organizatiolms2012, our customers
used Video Cloud to deliver an average of approtetga@99 million video streams per month, whichlvedieve is more video streams per month than amgr girofessional
solution.

As of December 31, 2011, we had 312 employees &T® ustomers, of which 2,571 used our volumerioffs and 1,301 used our premium offerings. As of
December 31, 2012, we had 335 employees and 618&@naers, of which 4,742 used our volume offerizuigd 1,625 used our premium offerings.

We have generated substantially all of our reveawtate by offering our Video Cloud product to cusers on a subscriptidmased, software as a service, or SaaS, m
Our revenue grew from $43.7 million in the year@h®ecember 31, 2010 to $88.0 million in the yewmteel December 31, 2012. Our consolidated net lass3d7.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2010, compared witts $idllion for the year ended December 31, 2012.

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201hepuevenue derived from customers located outdath America was 36% and 34%, respectively. Weeekthe
percentage of total net revenue derived from oetbidrth America to increase in future periods asam@inue to expand our international operations.

Our philosophy for the next few years will contirteebe to invest for long term growth. We belieliede investments will help us address some oftthieniges facing
our business such as demand for our products ligroess and potential customers, rapid technologicahge in our industry, increased competitionrasdlting price
sensitivity. These investments include supporttierexpansion of our infrastructure within our hagfacilities, the hiring of additional technicahd sales personnel, and the
innovation of new features for Video Cloud, the Zather Service and the development of new produdésbelieve these investments will help us retainexisting Video Clou
customers and lead to the acquisition of new custsifor Video Cloud and the Zencoder Service. Adiditly, on February 27, 2013, we announced thaphae to discontinue
our App Cloud platform and to instead focus on dgwment of new native player software developmaéstfior mobile devices. We will continue to operaigp Cloud for
existing customers through June 2014. In additiewill incur incremental public company expensslated to reporting and compliance. However, weelelthese
investments will result in increased retention erpgansion of our customer base and an increabe iresulting revenue. Additionally, we believe thisstomer growth will
enable us to achieve economies of scale whichredllice our cost of goods sold, research and davelopand general and administrative expenses ascartage of total
revenue.

Acquisitions

On August 14, 2012, we acquired Zencoder, a clmagkd media processing service and HTMLS5 videoeplachnology provider, for total consideratiorapproximatel
$27.4 million. This transaction was accounted foder the purchase method of accounting. Accordjribly results of operations of Zencoder have beended in our
consolidated financial statements since the dageagiisition. All of the assets acquired and
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liabilities assumed in the transaction have beeagrized at their acquisition date fair values,cihiere finalized at December 31, 2012. The adipisdid not result in the
addition of any reportable segments.

On January 8, 2013, we acquired the remaining 3it@test of our majority-owned subsidiary, Brighted<abushiki Kaisha, or Brightcove KK, a Japaneg# jeenture
which was formed on July 18, 2008. The purchaseemf the remaining equity interest was approxifga#é.1 million and was funded by cash on hand.n&'e own 100% of
Brightcove KK. The acquisition will be accounted &s a purchase transaction and, as such, weositintie to consolidate Brightcove KK for financiaporting purposes,
however, commencing on January 8, 2013, we wilbnger record a non-controlling interest in thesaidated statements of operations.

Key Metrics

We regularly review a number of metrics, includihg following key metrics, to evaluate our busin@ssasure our performance, identify trends affgotior business,
formulate financial projections and make stratetgicisions.

Number of CustomerWe define our number of customers at the end africolar quarter as the number of customers géngraubscription revenue during t
period, plus customers who have committed a minirfeyal of revenue to us for use of our products. Wkeve the number of customers is a key indicat@ur
market penetration in the online video platform kegrthe productivity of our sales organization #melvalue that our products bring to both large small
organizations. In previous filings we have disctbsdeo Cloud customers in two editions, premiurd &xpress. With the acquisition of Zencoder, werare
aligning how we disclose customers by includingerrers in either premium or volume offerings. Orgrpium offerings include our premium Video Cloud
customers (Enterprise and Pro editions) and ouc@asr customers who are on annual contracts. Qumeoofferings include our Video Cloud Express oostrs
and our Zencoder customers on month-to-month apéhpa/ou-go contracts. The number of customerscsildisg to our premium offerings is particularly
important to monitor given that we expect revermaenf premium offerings to continue to represengaificant portion of our total revenue, and we iaresting
significantly to support sales in a new and rapalplving market

During 2012, the number of customers increased @4ftbduring 2011, the number of customers increagea As of December 31, 2012, we had 6,367
customers, of which 4,742 used our volume offerianys 1,625 used our premium offerings. For morerin&tion about our customers, see Part |, lten®Odir
Customers.”

Average Monthly StreamWe define average monthly streams as the-to-date average number of monthly stream starts oad/@loud. We believe the avere
number of monthly streams is a key indicator ohltbe adoption of Video Cloud as an online videaifptm and the growth of video content across tierhet.

In the year ended December 31, 2012, the averagbenof monthly streams was approximately 699 arillia decrease of 6% from approximately 743 milifon
the year ended December 31, 2011. During 2011 Aa@nline, or AOL, used more streams than any pbther customers. AOL has since decided to use an
internal video streaming solution for the majonfyits video properties. Excluding the impact of B@ur average monthly video streams were up 14% pear-
over-year basis.

Recurring Dollar Retention RatWe assess our ability to retain customers usingtsicrwe refer to as our recurring dollar retentiate. We calculate tt
recurring dollar retention rate by dividing theaieed recurring value of subscription revenue fpeaod by the previous recurring value of subsmiprevenue
for the same period. We define retained recurrielger of subscription revenue as the committed sigtiem fees for all contracts that renew in a giyeeriod. We
define previous recurring value of subscriptionemave as the recurring value from committed subserigees for all contracts that expire in that sgweriod. We
typically calculate our recurring dollar retenticte on a monthly basi

In the year ended December 31, 2012, the recudotigr retention rate was 89% compared with 93%Heryear ended December 31, 2011. This recuridfigrd
retention rate provides visibility into our
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ongoing revenue. The decrease was primarily dtddarge customers that were scheduled to renéddeaember 2012 that renewed in January 2013. We
anticipate that our recurring dollar retention natk return to levels above 90%.

The following table includes our key metrics foe theriods presented:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011
Key Metrics
Customers (at period en
Volume 4,74 2,571
Premium 1,62¢ 1,301
Total customers (at period er 6,361 3,87
Average monthly ye-to-date streams (in thousant 698,68! 742,96!
Recurring dollar retention ra 8%% 93%

Components of Consolidated Statements of Operations
Revenue
Subscription and Support Revenu&¢e generate subscription and support revenue fnensale of Video Cloud and the Zencoder Service.

Video Cloud is offered in two product lines. Thesfiproduct line is comprised of our premium prddeditions, Enterprise and Pro. The Enterprisd@ditrovides
additional features and functionality such as atirmaicount environment with consolidated billinB, address filtering, the ability to produce liveerts with DVR functionality
and advanced upload acceleration of content. Ciestamangements are typically one year contradighiinclude a subscription to our platform, basipport and a pre-
determined amount of bandwidth. We also offer gaigport to our premium customers for an additiéea] which includes extended phone support. Thengrifor our premiur
editions is based on the number of users, accamatsisage, which is comprised of video streamgvigith and managed content. Should a customerigeuskthis service
exceed the allowable levels, the contract will evfor the rate at which the customer must payttoal usage above the allowable levels. The sepmuuct line is comprised
of our volume product edition, Express. Our Expradition targets small and medium-sized businesseS)MBs. The Express edition provides custometis the same basic
functionality that is offered in our premium prodediitions but has been designed for customershakie lower usage requirements and do not typisakk advanced features
and functionality. Customers who purchase the Esgeelition generally enter into month-to-month egrents. Express customers are generally billedrmarghly basis and
pay via a credit card, or they are billed annuilgdvance.

The Zencoder Service includes all of the featuresfanctionality necessary to encode digital féesl convert them into a wide range of formats ligh-quality manner.
The service is offered to customers on a subseriftasis, with either committed contracts or pay@sgo contracts. The pricing is based on usag&hns comprised of
minutes of output video. The committed contractdtide a fixed number of minutes of output videco@t a customer’s usage of this service exceedltbeable level, the
contract will provide for the rate at which the tmmer must pay for actual usage above the allowabtd. Customers of the Zencoder Service on ancwraracts are considered
premium customers. Customers on month-to-monthractst pay-as-you-go contracts, or contracts fugréod of less than one year, are considered voluratmers.

Professional Services and Other Reventrofessional services and other revenue condiseraices such as implementation, software custatioins and project
management for customers who subscribe to our praraditions. These arrangements are typically gricea fixed fee basis with a portion due upon ratsigning and the
remainder due when the related services have lmrepleted.
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Our backlog consists of the total future value @f committed customer contracts, whether billedrdrilled. As of December 31, 2012, we had backlogpproximately
$53 million compared to backlog of approximatelB$dillion as of December 31, 2011. Of the approxétya$53 million in backlog as of December 31, 20i&ween $46
million and $48 million is expected to be recoguizs revenue during the year ended December 33, B@tause revenue for any period is a functioeeénue recognized
from backlog at the beginning of the period as welfrom contract renewals and new customer cdstexecuted during the period, backlog at the méginof any period is not
necessarily indicative of future performance. Oaspntation of backlog may differ from that of athempanies in our industry.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of subscription, support and professionaliseswevenue primarily consists of costs relatestigporting and hosting our product offerings aelivering our
professional services. These costs include saldréeefits, incentive compensation and stock-basetpensation expense related to the management dita centers, our
customer support team and our professional serstedfs In addition to these expenses, we incudtparty service provider costs such as data camigicontent delivery
network expenses, allocated overhead, deprecietipaense and amortization of capitalized internalaaftware development costs and acquired intamgifdets. We allocate
overhead costs such as rent, utilities and supfie# departments based on relative headcounsu8k, general overhead expenses are reflectestirotrevenue in addition to
each operating expense category.

The costs associated with providing professionalises are significantly higher as a percentagelated revenue than the costs associated withediglg our
subscription and support services due to the labsts of providing professional services. As stité,implementation and professional services getdsing to an arrangement
with a new customer are more significant than ti&<to renew a customer’s subscription and sugpmahgement.

Cost of revenue increased in absolute dollars 2641l to 2012. In future periods we expect our obseévenue will increase in absolute dollars asreuenue increases.
We also expect that cost of revenue as a percenfaggenue will decrease over time as we are tabdehieve economies of scale in our business. Meryeost of revenue as a
percentage of revenue could fluctuate from peroperiod depending on the growth of our profesdisaevices business and any associated costsetatthe delivery of
subscription services and the timing of significarpenditures. To the extent that our customer bemes, we intend to continue to invest additiareslources in expanding the
delivery capability of our products and other seesi The timing of these additional expenses caffiétt our cost of revenue, both in terms of atisotiollars and as a
percentage of revenue, in any particular quartarignnual period.

Operating Expenses
We classify our operating expenses as follows:

Research and DevelopmenResearch and development expenses consist gyirnbpersonnel and related expenses for our rebemrd development staff, including
salaries, benefits, incentive compensation anckstased compensation, in addition to the costscétgal with contractors and allocated overheadhtle focused our research
and development efforts on expanding the functignahd scalability of our products and enhancimgjrtease of use, as well as creating new prodterimgs. We expect
research and development expenses to increassatutdhdollars as we intend to continue to perialtlicelease new features and functionality, expaundproduct offerings,
continue the localization of our products in vasdanguages, upgrade and extend our service afferand develop new technologies. Over the long,tese believe that
research and development expenses as a percehtagere will decrease, but will vary dependingmiphe mix of revenue from new and existing prosiufetatures and
functionality, as well as changes in the technolthgy our products must support, such as new apgrsystems or new Internet-connected devices.
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Sales and Marketing Sales and marketing expenses consist primarihecfonnel and related expenses for our sales aricting staff, including salaries, benefits,
incentive compensation, commissions, stock-basetpeasation and travel costs, amortization of aeglimtangible assets, in addition to costs asstiatth marketing and
promotional events, corporate communications, dibueg, other brand building and product markegxgenses and allocated overhead. Our sales an@tingrkxpenses have
increased in absolute dollars in each of the lastyears. The increase in sales and marketirgnsgp as a percentage of revenue is primarilyaloertsubstantial investments
in obtaining and retaining customers. We intendatotinue to invest in sales and marketing and aszehe number of sales representatives to add@usamers and expand the
sale of our product offerings within our existingstomer base, build brand awareness and sponsitipadtmarketing events. Accordingly, in futurerjpels we expect sales a
marketing expense to increase in absolute dolladscantinue to be our most significant operatingemse. Over the long term, we believe that saldsvarketing expense as a
percentage of revenue will decrease, but will \degending upon the mix of revenue from new andiegi€ustomers and from small, mediwized and enterprise customers
well as changes in the productivity of our saled amarketing programs.

General and Administrative General and administrative expenses consist phntd personnel and related expenses for exeeutegal, finance, information technolc
and human resources functions, including saldnesefits, incentive compensation and stock-basetpeasation, in addition to the costs associateld pritfessional fees,
insurance premiums, other corporate expenses lwat@d overhead. In future periods we expect géaed administrative expenses to increase in atesdbllars as we
continue to incur additional personnel and profasai services costs in order to meet the complia@geirements of operating as a public companyudtieg those costs
incurred in connection with Section 404 of the Sads-Oxley Act. We will comply with Section 404tbé Sarbanes-Oxley Act for the year ending Decer@bep013. Over the
long term, we believe that general and administeatixpenses as a percentage of revenue will decreas

Merger-related. Merger-related costs primarily consist of tratisscexpenses and related charges incurred in ctionewith the acquisition of Zencoder.

Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) consists primarily of irdenrecome earned on our cash, cash equivalentiaestments, foreign exchange gains and lossesesttexpense
payable on our debt, changes in the fair valubeftarrants issued in connection with a line oflitrend the income (loss) recorded upon the salengf-term investments.

Non-Controlling Interest

Our results include a non-controlling interest it majority-owned subsidiary, Brightcove KK. We oeeh63% of the entity at December 31, 2012. Theaamirolling
interest in Brightcove KK is reported as a sepatataponent of stockholders’ equity (deficit) in aansolidated balance sheet. The portion of netnmecattributable to non-
controlling interest is presented as net inconréatible to non-controlling interest in consolieldtsubsidiary in our consolidated statements ofatjpes. Two of the minority
interest holders in Brightcove KK, J-Stream and Senalso acted as product distributors for the @amyg in Japan. We record revenue from sales toedw@tand Dentsu as
revenue from a related party. On January 8, 20&3equired the remaining 37% interest in Brightcki#efor a purchase price of approximately $1.1 ioiill As a result of the
transaction we now own 100% of Brightcove KK.

Income Taxes

As part of the process of preparing our consoliiéiteancial statements we are required to estirnateéaxes in each of the jurisdictions in which egerate. We account
for income taxes in accordance with the assetiabdity method. Under this method, deferred tazets and liabilities are recognized based on teanpdiifferences between t
financial reporting and income tax bases of assaddiabilities using statutory rates. In additithis method requires a valuation allowance agaiestieferred tax assets if,
based upon the available
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evidence, it is more likely than not that somelbofithe deferred tax assets will not be realiz& have provided a valuation allowance againseaisting net deferred tax
assets at December 31, 2012 with the exceptiomeodi¢ferred tax assets related to Brightcove KK.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Our cost of revenue, research and developmeng aatemarketing, and general and administrativeresgs include stock-based compensation expensé-isieed
compensation expense represents the fair valuetsfamding stock options and restricted stock asvamtiich are recognized over the respective stptbmand restricted stock
award service periods. For the years ended Dece®ih@012, 2011 and 2010, we recorded $5.8 milldn2 million and $3.3 million, respectively, obsk-based compensatit
expense. We expect stock-based compensation exfeingeease in absolute dollars in future periods.

Foreign Currency Translation

With regard to our international operations, weérently enter into transactions in currencies othen the U.S. dollar. As a result, our revenuegeerses and cash flows
are subject to fluctuations due to changes in §oreurrency exchange rates, particularly changéseireuro, British pound, Australian dollar, angdalzese yen. In 2012, 2011
and 2010, approximately 41%, 34% and 32%, respalgtiof our revenue was generated in locationsideithe United States. During the same periods,, 28% and 30%,
respectively, of our revenue was in currenciesrathen the U.S. dollar, as are some of the assat@atpenses. In periods when the U.S. dollar deslimvalue as compared to
the foreign currencies in which we conduct business foreign currency-based revenues and expeesesally increase in value when translated inf. dollars.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with accounting principles generatlgepted in the United States. The preparatiohese financial
statements requires us to make estimates and assosihat affect the reported amounts of assetdiabilities and the disclosure of contingent éssmd liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported ansonintevenues and expenses during the reportirigdseiWe base our estimates on historical expegiand on various other
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable threleircumstances, the results of which formithsis for making judgments about the carrying \v@ahfeassets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources.a@tual results may differ from these estimateteu different assumptions or conditions.

We believe that the following significant accougtipolicies, which are more fully described in tléas to our consolidated financial statements aeduelsewhere in th
Annual Report on Form 10-K, involve a greater degrEjudgment and complexity. Accordingly, these e policies we believe are the most criticalitbin fully
understanding and evaluating our financial condiiad results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

We primarily derive revenue from the sale of oulirenvideo platform, an on-demand, hosted softveamglication service which provides customers wéthtdires and
functionality for uploading, managing, distributirgnd monetizing their video assets. Revenue igetefrom three primary sources: (1) the subsaiptd our technology and
related support; (2) hosting, bandwidth and enapdervices; and (3) professional services, whicluite initiation, set-up and customization services

We recognize revenue when all of the following dtiads are satisfied: (1) there is persuasive ewigeof an arrangement; (2) the service has beefideato the
customer; (3) the collection of fees is probabiel &) the amount of fees to be paid by the custasnfixed or determinable.
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Our subscription arrangements provide customersdghéto access our hosted software applicati@ustomers do not have the right to take possess$ioar software
during the hosting arrangement. Accordingly, weoggtze revenue in accordance with Accounting Statel@odification (ASC) 609Revenue RecognitiorContracts for
premium customers generally have a term of one gieduare non-cancellable. These contracts gengralyde the customer with an annual level of usage provide the rate
at which the customer must pay for actual usageeti®e annual allowable usage. For these serviesecognize the annual fee ratably as revenueraaath. Should a
customer’s usage of our services exceed the aafioalable level, revenue is recognized for suchesgadn the period of the usage. Contracts for velaustomers are generally
month-to-month arrangements, have a maximum moiekBl of usage and provide the rate at which tigtamer must pay for actual usage above the moalloywable usage.
The monthly volume subscription and support andjiedaes are recognized as revenue during the piarigblich the related cash is collected.

Revenue recognition commences upon the later ohwleeapplication is placed in a production envinent, or when all revenue recognition criteria hbgen met.
Professional services and other revenue sold tend-&lone basis are recognized as the servicggedmrmed, subject to any refund or other oblmyati

Deferred revenue includes amounts billed to custerfee which revenue has not been recognized, a@nthgly consists of the unearned portion of anrsaitware
subscription and support fees, and deferred iratisind professional service fees.

Revenue is presented net of any taxes collected éistomers.

Multiple-Element Arrangements

We periodically enter into multiple-element servazeangements that include platform subscripti@s fsupport fees, initiation fees, and, in certages, other
professional services. Prior to January 1, 201nwhie entered into such arrangements, each elemasraccounted for separately over its respectinécseperiod, provided
that each element had value to the customer cemad-stione basis, and there was objective and telelidence of fair value for the separate eleméhtisese criteria could not
be objectively met or determined, the total valtithe arrangement was generally recognized ratably single unit of accounting over the entireiserperiod to the extent that
all services had begun to be provided at the oofstie period. For multiple-element service arengnts entered into through December 31, 2010, eve unable to separately
account for the different elements because we diidhave objective and reliable evidence of faiuedior certain of our deliverables. Thereforerellenue under these
arrangements has been recognized ratably oveptiteact term.

Initiation fees and other professional services@ba when services are first activated were recbadedeferred revenue, and recognized as revetal@yraver a term
beginning upon go-live of the software applicatéoml extending through the contract term.

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Updat@&UjANo. 2009-13Revenue Recognition (Topic 605), Multiple-
Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme—a Consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Fatdeh amended the previous multiple-element greaments accounting guidance.
Pursuant to the new guidance, objective and reliabidence of fair value of the undelivered elemménno longer required in order to account foivéeables in a multiple-
element arrangement separately. Instead, arrange@omsideration is allocated to deliverables basetheir relative selling price. The new guidants® @liminates the use of
the residual method.

Effective January 1, 2011, we adopted this new auiiog guidance on a prospective basis. We apfiiethew accounting guidance to those multiple-efgme
arrangements entered into, or materially modifeedor after January 1, 2011, which was the beg@mofrour 2011 fiscal year. The adoption of this remgounting guidance did
not have a material impact on our financial cownditiresults of operations or cash flows.
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Under the new accounting guidance, in order td tteliverables in a multiple-element arrangemersegiarate units of accounting, the deliverables fmge stand-alone
value upon delivery. If the deliverables have stalmhe value upon delivery, we account for eacivemble separately. Subscription services havelsétone value as such
services are often sold separately. In determiningther professional services have stalmhe value, we consider the following factorsdach professional services agreem
availability of the services from other vendors tlature of the professional services, the timingten the professional services contract was sigmeomparison to the
subscription service start date, and the contradeendence of the subscription service on theomes’s satisfaction with the professional servisesk. To date, we have
concluded that all of the professional servicetuihed in multiple-element arrangements execute@ Btand-alone value, with the exception of initiatand activation fees.

Under the new accounting guidance, when multipleel@bles included in an arrangement are sepanatedifferent units of accounting, the arrangetreamsideration
is allocated to the identified separate units based relative selling price hierarchy. We detesrtime relative selling price for a deliverable libsg its vendospecific objectivi
evidence of fair value (VSOE), if available, orlitsst estimate of selling price (BESP), if VSORads available. We have determined that third-pavtglence of selling price is
not a practical alternative due to differencesunservice offerings compared to other partiesthedavailability of relevant third party pricingfarmation. The amount of
revenue allocated to delivered items is limiteccbgtingent revenue, if any.

We have not established VSOE for our offerings tuhe lack of pricing consistency, the introductaf new services and other factors. Accordinglg,use our BESP
determine the relative selling price. We deternBESP by considering our overall pricing objectiaesl market conditions. Significant pricing pracsiteken into consideration
include our discounting practices, the size andmwa of our transactions, the geographic area wdexréces are sold, price lists, our go-to-markettegy, historical
contractually stated prices and prior relationslaipd future subscription service sales with certéasses of customers.

The determination of BESP is made through consaoitatith and approval by our management, taking agnsideration the go-to-market strategy. As adtggmarket
strategies evolve, we may modify our pricing piesiin the future, which could result in changeseiing prices, including both VSOE and BESP. W o analyze the
selling prices used in our allocation of arrangentemnsideration, at a minimum, on an annual b&a#ing prices will be analyzed on a more frequsatis if a significant
change in our business necessitates a more timelysis or if we experience significant varianaesur selling prices.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We offset gross trade accounts receivable withllawance for doubtful accounts. The allowance fouldtful accounts is our best estimate of the amofiptobable
credit losses in our existing accounts receivabtkis based upon historical loss patterns, the eambdays that billings are past due and an etialuaf the potential risk of
loss associated with specific accounts. Provisionallowances for doubtful accounts are recoraegeneral and administrative expense. If, uponisiga customer
arrangement, the related account receivable isortidered collectable, we will defer the assodiagyenue until we collect the cash. To date, wes mt incurred any
significant write-offs of accounts receivable aravé not been required to revise any of our assemptr estimates used in determining our allowdmcdoubtful accounts. As
of December 31, 2012, our allowance for doubtfaloants was $338,000.

Software Development Costs

Costs incurred to develop software applicationslis®ur on-demand application services consigap€ertain external direct costs of materials sentices incurred in
developing or obtaining internal-use computer safenand (b) payroll and payroll-related costs fopkyees who are directly associated with, and déwmte time to, the
project. These costs generally consist of intelat@dr during configuration, coding and testingdties. Research and development costs incurredgitite preliminary project
stage or costs incurred
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for data conversion activities, training, mainteceand general and administrative or overhead eostexpensed as incurred. Capitalization begirenwie preliminary project
stage is complete, management with the relevahbatyt authorizes and commits to the funding of sbéware project, it is probable the project Wil completed, and the
software will be used to perform the functions mted and certain functional and quality standaed& been met. Qualified costs incurred during fherating stage of our
software applications relating to upgrades and ecgraents are capitalized to the extent it is prigbtiiat they will result in added functionality, ikhcosts that cannot be
separated between maintenance of, and minor upgyeeteenhancements to, internal-use software @enegd as incurred. These capitalized costs ardiaetbon a straight
line basis over the expected useful life of thevgafe, which is three years. We capitalized $24j6@D12, $354,000 in 2011 and $829,000 in 20100/Aization of software
development costs was $542,000 in 2012, $886,02011 and $845,000 in 2010.

In addition to the software development costs dieedrabove, we incur costs to develop computewsoé to be licensed or otherwise marketed to custenCosts
incurred in the research, design and developmesnfbtiare for sale to others are charged to expentietechnological feasibility is established. \&&pitalize direct computer
software development costs upon achievement ohtdabical feasibility subject to net realizablew@lconsiderations. Thereafter, software developests are capitalized
until the product is released and amortized to pebdost of sales on a straight-line basis ovetdabser of three years or the estimated econow@s bf the respective products.
We have determined that technological feasibitgstablished at the time a working model of saftws completed. Because we believe our currertgsofor developing
software will be essentially completed concurremtith the establishment of technological feasipilito costs have been capitalized to date.

Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in both the UnitateS and international jurisdictions, and we stgnates in determining our provision for incomeets We account fi
income taxes under the asset and liability metlooédécounting and reporting for income taxes. Defétax assets and liabilities are recognized basgdmporary differences
between the financial reporting and income taxsasassets and liabilities using statutory raféss process requires us to project our currentizdsdity and estimate our
deferred tax assets and liabilities, includingoprating losses and tax credit carryforwardssbeasing the need for a valuation allowance, wsidered our recent operating
results, future taxable income projections andifdasax planning strategies. We have providedlaat®n allowance against our net deferred taxtasgeDecember 31, 2012
with the exception of the deferred tax assetsedltd Brightcove KK. Due to the evolving nature aodhplexity of tax regulations combined with themher of jurisdictions in
which we operate, it is possible that our estimafesur tax liability could change in the futurehiech may result in additional tax liabilities andvarsely affect our results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had no mhteriacognized tax benefits.

Business Combinations

We record tangible and intangible assets acquineldiabilities assumed in business combinationseutite purchase method of accounting. Amounts foaidach
acquisition are allocated to the assets acquirddialilities assumed based on their fair valuahatdate of acquisition. We then allocate the [pase price in excess of net
tangible assets acquired to identifiable intang#sisets based on detailed valuations that useriafam and assumptions provided by management.|Mt=ate any excess
purchase price over the fair value of the net talegand intangible assets acquired and liabilaesumed to goodwill. If the fair value of the assetquired exceeds our purchase
price, the excess is recognized as a gain.
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Significant management judgments and assumptieneeguired in determining the fair value of acadiassets and liabilities, particularly acquire@ngible assets. The
valuation of purchased intangible assets is baped astimates of the future performance and cas¥sffrom the acquired business. Each asset is mezhatfair value from the
perspective of a market participant.

If different assumptions are used, it could matigrienpact the purchase price allocation and adslgraffect our results of operations, financial dibion and cash flows.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill

We amortize our intangible assets that have fihigs using either the straight-line method orgifably determinable, based on the pattern in ivtie economic benefit
of the asset is expected to be consumed utilizepg&ed undiscounted future cash flows. Amortizatforecorded over the estimated useful lives rapgiom two to fourteen
years.

We review our intangible assets subject to amditindo determine if any adverse conditions exist ghange in circumstances has occurred that wodidate
impairment or a change in the remaining useful Ifféhe carrying value of an asset exceeds itssmodinted cash flows, we will write down the camgyivalue of the intangible
asset to its fair value in the period identifienl aksessing recoverability, we must make assunsptégarding estimated future cash flows and disc@ies. If these estimates or
related assumptions change in the future, we magdpgred to record impairment charges. We genecallculate fair value as the present value ofrestgd future cash flows to
be generated by the asset using a risk adjustedufisrate. If the estimate of an intangible assetmaining useful life is changed, we will amatihe remaining carrying value
of the intangible asset prospectively over thesediremaining useful life.

We review the carrying value of goodwill for impaient whenever events or changes in circumstandesabe that the carrying value of goodwill may eectéts fair
value, and otherwise at least annually. Conditibas could trigger a more frequent impairment agsesit include, but are not limited to, a significadverse change in certain
agreements, significant underperformance relativedtorical or projected future operating restdts economic downturn in customers’ industriesigased competition, a
significant reduction in our stock price for a suiséd period or a reduction of our market capitian relative to net book value. We evaluate impait by comparing the
estimated fair value of each reporting unit tacasrying value. We estimate fair value primarililiing the market approach, which calculates failue based on the market
values of comparable companies or comparable ttéiosa. Actual results may differ materially frolrese estimates. The estimates we make in detegrtimérfair value of our
reporting unit involve the application of judgmewtich could affect the timing and size of any fetimpairment charges. Impairment of our goodvallid significantly affect
our operating results and financial position.

We continually evaluate whether events or circunta have occurred that indicate that the estinratedining useful life of our long-lived assets mgfrant revision
or that the carrying value of these assets maynpaired. Any write-downs are treated as permareghtations in the carrying amount of the assetsnst use judgment in
evaluating whether events or circumstances inditetieuseful lives should change or that the cagyialue of assets has been impaired. Any resuiéinigion in the useful life
or the amount of an impairment also requires judgmfény of these judgments could affect the timimgsize of any future impairment charges. Revisibaseful lives or
impairment charges could significantly affect opemting results and financial position.

We adopted ASU No. 2011-OBitangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) Tegt®Boodwill for Impairment Under ASU 2011-08, we have the option to assess
qualitative factors to determine whether the eristeof events or circumstances leads to a detetionrthat it is more likely than not that the faalue of a reporting unit is less
than its carrying amount to determine whether frimpairment testing is necessary. Based on #esament of these qualitative factors, we detewhtime no impairment
indicators were noted, allowing us to forego thargitative analysis.
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Stock-based Compensation

Accounting guidance requires employee stock-baagthpnts to be accounted for under the fair valuteaae Under this method, we are required to recordpensation
cost based on the estimated fair value for stodetb@wards granted over the requisite servicegefar the individual awards, which generally egquhk vesting periods. We
use the straight-line amortization method for redpiag stock-based compensation expense.

We estimate the fair value of employee stock ogtiom the date of grant using the Black-Schole®ogtricing model, which requires the use of highiypjective
estimates and assumptions. For restricted stockdavissued we estimate the fair value of each drased on the stock price of our common stock emigtte of grant. As there
was no public market for our common stock prioFébruary 17, 2012, the effective date of our ihjiigblic offering, or IPO, and as the trading higtof our common stock we
limited through December 31, 2012, we determinedvthiatility for options granted based on an arialg§reported data for a peer group of compartiasissued options with
substantially similar terms. The expected volatiiif options granted has been determined usingyarage of the historical volatility measures oftheer group of companies.
The expected life assumption is based on the “siimgpimethod” for estimating expected term as wendbhave sufficient stock option exercise expexeto support a
reasonable estimate of the expected term. Themeskinterest rate is based on a treasury instrtmleose term is consistent with the expected lifdhe stock options. We use
an expected dividend rate of zero as we curremtiemo history or expectation of paying dividendar common stock. In addition, we have estimatqzected forfeitures of
stock options based on our historical forfeiturte @nd used these rates in developing a futureiforé rate. If our actual forfeiture rate variesnh our historical rates and
estimates, additional adjustments to compensatiparese may be required in future periods.

Given the absence of an active market for our comstock prior to the completion of our IPO on Fetsyul7, 2012, the fair value of our common stoclartying our
stock-based awards was determined by our boariesftdrs, which intended all stock-based awardatgrhto be at a price per share not less thanehshare fair value of our
common stock underlying those awards on the dageaoft. The valuations of our common stock werermeined in accordance with the guidelines outlimethe American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practiiel, Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Secestissued as Compensatiofhe assumptions we use in the valuation
model were based on future expectations combingdmanagement’s judgment. In the absence of agtraliling market, our board, with input from marragat, exercised
significant judgment and considered numerous objeend subjective factors to determine the falu@af our common stock as of the date of each digeant, including the
following factors:

« therights, preferences and privileges of our redse convertible preferred stock relative to cammon stock
« the prices of our preferred stock sold to outsiestors in arn-length transaction:

. secondary transactions in our common st

. our stage of development, operating and finan@giopmance and revenue grow

. current business conditions and projectic

¢ the hiring of key personne

« the history of our company and the introductiomedv products and service

« theilliquid nature of our common stoc

. contemporaneous or other valuations of our comrmekerformed by an independent valuation spestji

«  the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event fdret shares of common stock underlying these awsuds, as an IPO or sale of our company, given pirge
market conditions; an

« the U.S. and global capital market conditic
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of opieras for the periods presented
results.

Consolidated statements of operations date
Revenue
Subscription and support rever
Professional services and other reve
Total revenue

Cost of revenue
Cost of subscription and support reve
Cost of professional services and other reve
Total cost of revenu
Gross profil

Operating expense
Research and developm
Sales and marketir
General and administrati
Merger-related

Total operating expens

Loss from operation

Other income (expense
Interest incomu
Interest expens
Other expense, n
Total other expense, n
Loss before income taxes and -controlling interest in consolidated subsidi.

(Benefit from) provision for income tax:

Consolidated net los

Net (income) loss attributable to r-controlling interest in consolidated subsidi
Net loss attributable to Brightcove Ir

Accretion of dividends on redeemable convertiblefgnred stocl

Net loss attributable to common stockholc

. The period-togaecomparison of financial results is not necebsardicative of future

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

$ 84,25] $ 60,16¢ $ 40,52:
3,71¢ 3,39¢ 3,19¢
87,97: 63,56: 43,71¢
22,55¢ 15,47¢ 11,086(
4,831 4,744 4,06t
27,38¢ 20,22 15,12¢
60,58¢ 43,34: 28,59
18,72t 15,26 12,25]
38,72¢ 31,56¢ 24,12«
16,73 12,64( 9,617

1,852 — —
76,03¢ 59,47 45,99¢
(15,447) (16,130 (17,407
10€ 23 18t

(241) (35¢) —
(359) (719) (509)
(494) (1,059 (316)
(15,947 (17,182 (17,72
(3,489 90 56
(12,452 (17,279 (17,78)
(734 (362) 28C
(13,186 (17,639 (17,507
(739) (5,639 (5,470)
$(13,919  $(23,279) $(22,97)

Overview of Results of Operations for the Years Eneld December 31, 2012 and 2011

Total revenue increased by 38%, or $24.4 milliar2012 compared to 2011 due to both an increasehiscription and support revenue of 40%, or $24lliom and an
increase in professional services revenue of 9%382,000. The increase in subscription and suppweenue resulted primarily from an increase inrteber of our premium

customers, which was 1,625 as of December 31, 201\crease of 25% from 1,301
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customers as of December 31, 2011. In additionrexenues from volume offerings grew by $2.7 millior 48%, from the prior year as our volume custobase increased by
approximately 84% from the prior yea®ur ability to continue to provide the product ftionality and performance that our customers requitl be a major factor in our abili
to continue to increase revenue.

Our gross profit increased by $17.2 million, or 40862012 compared to 2011, primarily due to amease in revenue. With the continued growth intotal revenue, ot
ability to continue to maintain our overall grossfit will depend on our ability to continue cortiing our costs of delivery.

Loss from operations was $15.4 million in 2012 canegl to $16.1 million in 2011. Loss from operatian2012 and 2011 included $5.8 million and $4.Riom,
respectively, of stock-based compensation expétseexpect operating income to increase from ineeasales to both new and existing customers amnd ifrgproved
efficiencies throughout our organization as we it to grow and scale our operations.

Our results of operations in 2012 compared to 204rke impacted by foreign exchange rate fluctuatioesulting in a decrease in revenue of approxin&e67,000, or
2%, of revenue, and a decrease in expense of dapmatety $373,000.

As of December 31, 2012, we had $21.7 million afestricted cash and cash equivalents, an incrég&e®million from $17.2 million at December 3011, due to the
net proceeds of $56.8 million received from theidee of common stock in connection with our IP@isTncrease was offset by the $27.2 million of ceth paid as part of the
Zencoder acquisition, investments of $14.1 millzon $1.2 million of cash used in operating acesitiin addition, as of December 31, 2011, we ha@ $ilion of outstanding
debt which was repaid during 2012.

Revenue
Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 Change
Percentag¢ Percentag¢
Revenue by Product Line Amount of Revenut Amount of Revenut Amount %
(in thousands)

Premium $79,79¢ 91% $58,04: 91% $21,75¢ 37%
Volume 8,17 9 5,521 9 2,65¢ 48

Total $87,97: 10(% $63,56: 10(% $24,41( 38%

During 2012, revenue increased by $24.4 million parad to 2011, primarily due to an increase inmaegfrom our premium offerings, which consist dbseription and
support revenue, as well as professional servideotrer revenue. The increase in premium reven$2b®B million, or 37%, is the result of a 25% e®&se in the number of
premium customers from 1,301 at December 31, 2011625 at December 31, 2012, as well as incre@seshue from our existing customers. Revenue franvolume
offerings grew by $2.7 million, or 48%. The increas volume revenue was driven by an increase @ Bdcustomers from 2,571 at December 31, 2011 #42at
December 31, 2012, which includes customers aadjasepart of the Zencoder acquisition.

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 Change
Percentage Percentage
of of
Revenue by Type Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands)

Subscription and suppc $84,257 96% $60,16¢ 95% $24,08¢ 40%
Professional services and otl 3,71¢ 4 3,39« 5 32z 9

Total $87,97: 10C% $63,56: 10C% $24,41( 38%
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During 2012, subscription and support revenue ased by $24.1 million, or 40%, compared to 201k iflerease was primarily related to the continueavth of our
customer base for our premium offerings. In addjtigrofessional services and other revenue incdeag&322,000, or 9%. Professional services anerativenue will vary
from period to period depending on the timing aathpletion of related implementation and other mtgje

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 Change
Percentage Percentage
Revenue by Geograph Amount of Revenut Amount of Revenut Amount %
(in thousands)
North America $55,83¢ 63% $41,95! 6€% $13,88¢ 32%
Europe 20,31« 23 14,48¢ 23 5,82t 4C
Japar 5,94¢ 7 4,76¢ 8 1,18t 25
Asia Pacific 5,17« 6 2,21¢ 3 2,95¢ 13¢
Other 70C 1 13€ — 562 407
International subtotz 32,13; 37 21,61( 34 10,52; 4¢
Total $87,97¢ 10C% $63,56¢ 10C% $24,41( 38%

For purposes of this section, we designate revbpugographic regions based upon the locationsio€astomers. North America is comprised of reveinoia the
United States, Canada and Mexico. Internationebisprised of revenue from locations outside of Ndnnerica. Depending on the timing of new custonwrtracts, revenue
mix from a geographic region can vary from perioghériod.

During 2012, total revenue for North America inged $13.9 million, or 33%, compared to 2011. Thesgase in revenue for North America resulted prifjénom an

increase in subscription and support revenue frampeemium offerings. During 2012, total revenuésale of North America increased $10.5 million48f6, compared to
2011. The increase in revenue internationally aagésult of our increasing focus on marketingsauiwices internationally.

Cost of Revenue

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 Change
Percentagt Percentagt
of Related of Related
Cost of Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands)
Subscription and suppc $22,55:¢ 27% $15,47¢ 26% $7,07¢ 46%
Professional services and otl 4,831 13C 4,744 14C 87 2
Total $27,38¢ 31% $20,22: 32% $7,162 35%

During 2012, cost of subscription and support rereeincreased $7.1 million, or 46%, compared to 20he increase resulted primarily from an incréagée cost of
content delivery network expenses, network hostengices, employee-related expenses and depreceatpense of $2.0 million, $1.6 million, $1.0 noti and $606,000,
respectively. There were also increases in expeetaed to third-party software as a service irgtgl with our service offering, amortization ofaingible assets acquired in the
acquisition of Zencoder, sales tax expense anddelmunications of $419,000, $379,000, $332,000%&21,000, respectively. These increases were [hadiéset by a
decrease in amortization of capitalized softwaneetiment costs of $344,000, as some of our preliaapitalized software development costs werlg arhortized.
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During 2012, cost of professional services andrattreenue remained relatively unchanged when cosapiarthe corresponding period of the prior year.

Gross profit

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 Change
Percentage Percentagt
of Related of Related
Gross profit Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands)
Subscription and suppc $61,70¢ 3% $44,69: 7% $17,01: 38%
Professional services and otl (1,119 (30) (1,350 (4C) 23t 17
Total $60,58¢ 69% $43,34: 6&% $17,24¢ 40%

During 2012, the overall gross profit percentage 6@% compared to 68% during 2011. The increasgenall gross profit percentage was related to awpment in the
professional services and other gross profit peacgnas we were able to better leverage our firstsdo deliver professional services and increals¢ed revenue. Subscription
and support gross profit percentage decreasedlglighen compared to the corresponding period effttior year. We continue to generate a negatiessgprofit for
professional services and other due to the devedapof our professional services management teahinfrastructure. We expect to continue to gaimecaies of scale over
time. It is likely that gross profit, as a perceygaf revenue, will fluctuate quarter by quartee ¢ the timing and mix of subscription and suppevenue and professional

services and other revenue, and the type, timidgdanation of service required in delivering certpiojects.

Operating Expenses

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 Change
Percentag¢ Percentag¢
Operating Expenses Amount of Revenut Amount of Revenut Amount %
(in thousands)

Research and developmt $18,72¢ 21% $15,26° 24% $ 3,45¢ 23%
Sales and marketir 38,72t 44 31,56« 5C 7,161 23
General and administratiy 16,73¢ 19 12,64( 2C 4,09¢ 32
Mergerrelated 1,852 2 — — 1,852 10C

Total $76,03¢ 86% $59,47: 94% $16,56¢ 2&8%

Research and Developmeruring 2012, research and development expenseaisedeby $3.5 million, or 23%, compared to 2011 arity due to increases in employee-
related, rent and stock-based compensation expeh$esl million and $550,000 and $320,000, respelst A portion of the increase in employee-rethéxpenses can be
attributed to higher capitalized software developtw®sts during the year ended December 31, 20&&rapared to the year ended December 31, 2018turefperiods, we
expect that our research and development expetiseowiinue to increase in absolute dollars as erioue to add employees, develop new featureduaradionality for our

products, introduce additional software solutiond expand our product and service offerings.

Sales and Marketing During 2012, sales and marketing expense incde®a2 million, or 23%, compared to 2011 primadlye to increases in employee-related
expenses, marketing programs, commission expensetsavel expenses of $2.6 million, $847,000, $80Q,and $625,000, respectively. There were alseases in expenses

related to rent, stock-based compensation, ambdizaf intangible assets acquired in the acquisiti

46



Table of Contents

of Zencoder and computer-related maintenance goypbsuof $777,000, $598,000, $250,000 and $245 @pectively. We expect that our sales and mangxetkpense will
continue to increase in absolute dollars along withrevenues, as we continue to expand salesageand build brand awareness through what wevieediee cost-effective
channels. We expect that such increases may flecttaan period to period, however, due to the tgnii marketing programs.

General and AdministrativeDuring 2012, general and administrative expenseeased by $4.1 million, or 32%, compared to 20Ithanily due to increases in
employee-related expenses and stock-based comipensg$1.4 million and $656,000, respectively. ftherere also increases in expenses related tosimser depreciation and
rent of $378,000, $372,000 and $233,000, respeytilrefuture periods, we expect general and adstiaiive expenses will increase in absolute doiarere add personnel and
incur additional costs related to the growth of business and operations.

Merger-related.During 2012, we incurred $1.9 million of mergerateld expenses associated with our acquisition nf@der. Merger-related expenses include $1.1
million of costs incurred in connection with clogithe acquisition of Zencoder in addition to $826,0f costs associated with the retention of certaiployees of Zencoder.
We did not incur any merger-related expenses d@did.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 Change
Percentagt Percentags
of of
Other Income (Expense; Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands)

Interest incoms $ 10€ — $ 23 — $ 83 361%
Interest expens (24)) — (35¢) (0] 117 33
Other expense, n (359) (1) (719) (1) 36( 5C

Total $ (499 (1)% $(1,059) 2% $ 56C 53%

During 2012, interest income increased by $83,00@ fthe corresponding period of the prior yearedest income is generated from the investment o€ash balances,
less related bank fees.

The decrease in interest expense is related towimgs under our term loan, which were repaid dythre first quarter of 2012.
The decrease in other expense, net was primarédytalthe expense of $139,000 recorded during 28ated to the revaluation of a warrant compareai ¢orresponding

gain of $28,000 recorded during 2012. There was aldecrease in expense attributable to the redtiss of $146,000, recognized during 2011, whersoleé our remaining
auction rate security, or ARS.

Provision for Income Taxes

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 Change
Percentagt Percentage
of of
Provision for income taxes Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands)
Provision for income taxe $(3,489) (4)% $ 90 — $(3,579) nm

nm—not meaningful

a7



Table of Contents

During 2012, we recorded a benefit from income $eofeapproximately $3.4 million related to the retiion of our valuation allowance against our erigthet deferred
tax assets to offset certain deferred tax liabgitbn amortizable intangibles recognized upon theiaition of Zencoder. Upon the closing of thewsition of Zencoder, we
assumed $3.4 million of net deferred tax liabifitighich created a future source of taxable incasnevhich our net deferred tax assets can be rebéind as a result we reduced
the valuation allowance by approximately $3.4 millduring the year ended December 31, 2012. Weretsmded a $193,000 benefit for the release oféhgation allowance
related to the remaining deferred tax assets aftiitove KK. Based upon the level of historical imeoof Brightcove KK and future projections, we detimed in the fourth
quarter of 2012 that it was probable we will realize benefits of future deductible differencedapan. These benefits were partially offset by Fl@®of expense relating to
income tax in foreign jurisdictions and state taxiéu of income taxes.

Non-Controlling Interest in Consolidated Subsidiary

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 Change
Percentagt Percentagt
of of
Non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiary Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands)
Net income attributable to n-controlling interest in consolidated subsidi. $(739 ()% $ (367) ()% $ (379 (109)%

Non-controlling interest represents the minorityckholders’ proportionate share (37%) of our méjeriowned subsidiary, Brightcove KK. During 2012 &2l 1,
Brightcove KK generated net income as a resulbatinued market penetration in Japan.

Overview of Results of Operations for the Years Eneld December 31, 2011 and 2010

Total revenue increased by 45%, or $19.9 milliar2011 compared to 2010 due to both an increasehiscription and support revenue of 48%, or $19lm and an
increase in professional services revenue of 6%188,000. The increase in subscription and suppuenue resulted primarily from an increase inrthber of our premium
customers, which was 1,301 as of December 31, Z01lihcrease of 44% from 905 customers as of DeeeBih 2010. In addition, our revenues from volwfferings grew by
$3.5 million, or 175%, from the prior year as oofume customer base increased by approximatelyféd¥bthe prior year.

Our gross profit increased by $14.8 million, or 52822011 compared to 2010, primarily due to amease in revenue.

Loss from operations was $16.1 million in 2011 canegl to $17.4 million in 2010. Loss from operatian2011 and 2010 included $4.2 million and $3.8iom,
respectively, of stock-based compensation expense.

Our results of operations in 2011 compared to 204@ impacted by foreign exchange rate fluctuaticesulting in an increase in revenue of approxetye$960,000, or
2%, of revenue, and an increase in expense of appately $877,000, or 1%, of expenses.

As of December 31, 2011, we had $17.2 million afestricted cash and cash equivalents, a decreg&Iofmillion from $20.3 million at December 31,120 In addition,
as of December 31, 2011, we had $7.0 million o$taunding debt.
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Revenue
Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 Change
Percentage Percentagt
of of
Revenue by Product Line Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands)

Premium $58,04: 91% $41,71( 95% $16,33: 3%
Express 5,521 9 2,00¢ 5 3,51t 17t

Total $63,56! 10C% $43,71¢ 10C% $19,84° 45%

During 2011, revenue increased by $19.9 milliord%#, compared to 2010, primarily due to an inaeasevenue from our premium offerings, which dsinef
subscription and support revenue, as well as psifeal services and other revenue. The increageemium revenue of $16.3 million, or 39%, is theuleof a 44% increase in
the number of premium customers from 905 at Dece®be2010 to 1,301 at December 31, 2011, as weil@eased revenue from our existing customerkirv® revenue
grew by $3.5 million, or 175%, which was also drivey an increase of 64% in customers from 1,5@%eaember 31, 2010 to 2,571 at December 31, 2011.

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 Change
Percentage Percentage
Revenue by Type Amount of Revenut Amount of Revenut Amount %
(in thousands)
Subscription and suppc $60,16¢ 95% $40,52: 93% $19,64¢ 48%
Professional services and otl 3,394 5 3,19¢ 7 19¢ 6
Total $63,56° 10C% $43,71¢ 10C% $19,84" 45%

During 2011, subscription and support revenue aszd by $19.6 million, or 48%, compared to 201@ iRlerease was primarily related to the continueavth of our
customer base for our premium offerings. In addjtigrofessional services and other revenue incdeag&199,000, or 6%. Professional services anerativenue will vary
from period to period depending on the timing aadhpletion of related implementation and other potse

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 Change
Percentage Percentagt
of of
Revenue by Geograph Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands)

North America $41,95¢ 66% $29,58: 68% $12,37: 42%
Europe 14,48¢ 23 11,07° 28 3,41 31
Japar 4,76¢ 8 2,54¢ 6 2,21¢ 87
Asia Pacific 2,21¢ 3 482 1 1,73i 36C
Other 13¢ — 28 — 10¢ 37€

International subtot: 21,61( 34 14,13« 32 7,47¢ 53

Total $63,56¢ 10C% $43,71¢ 10C% $19,84° 45%

For purposes of this section, we designate revbpugographic regions based upon the locationsio€astomers. North America is comprised of reveinoi the
United States, Canada and Mexico. Internationebisprised of revenue from locations outside of Ndnnerica. Depending on the timing of new custoowertracts, revenue
mix from a geographic region can vary from perioghériod.
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During 2011, total revenue for North America inged $12.4 million, or 42%, compared to 2010. Thesgase in revenue for North America resulted prifjénom an
increase in subscription and support revenue frampeemium offerings. During 2011, total revenuésale of North America increased $7.5 million, 826 compared to 2010.
The increase in revenue internationally was thelte$ our increasing focus on marketing our seggimternationally.

Cost of Revenue

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 Change
Percentage Percentagt
of Related of Related
Cost of Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands)
Subscription and suppc $15,47¢ 26% $11,06( 27% $4,41¢ 40%
Professional services and otl 4,744 14C 4,06¢ 127 67¢ 17
Total $20,22: 32% $15,12¢ 35% $5,097 34%

During 2011, cost of subscription and support rereeincreased $4.4 million, or 40%, compared to 20h@ increase resulted primarily from an incréagée cost of
content delivery network expenses, network hostenyices, depreciation expense and emplogkded expenses of $3.3 million, $762,000, $69B&td $340,000, respective
There were also increases in expenses relatedriputer maintenance and support and contractors34,800 and $123,000, respectively. These increasesoffset in part by
a $1.2 million sales tax expense, recorded dur@i@2without a corresponding amount recorded du2bil as we determined we were subject to salea @ertain states.

During 2011, cost of professional services andratieenue increased $679,000, or 17%, from theesponding period of the prior year. The increasebeaattributed
primarily to increased employee-related expens&y68,000, as we hired an additional five employees

Gross profit

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 Change
Percentagt Percentagr
of Related of Related
Gross profit Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount %
(in thousands)
Subscription and suppc $44,69: 74% $29,46. 73% $15,23( 52%
Professional services and otl (1,350) (4C) (870) (27 (480) (5%)
Total $43,34: 68% $28,59: 65% $14,75( 52%

During 2011, the overall gross profit percentage 68% compared to 65% during 2010. The subscrigtimhsupport gross profit percentage increasedspitintelated ti
a decrease in sales tax expense. The profess@males and other gross profit percentage decrgasmdrily due to increases in employee-relateceesps of $763,000.
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Operating Expenses

Operating Expenses

Research and developmt

Sales and marketir

General and administrati\
Total

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 Change
Percentage Percentage
Amount of Revenut Amount of Revenut Amount %
(in thousands)
$15,26° 24% $12,25' 28% $ 3,01C 25%
31,56¢ 50 24,12« 55 7,44( 31
12,64( 20 9,615 22 3,028 31
$59,47: 94% $45,99¢ 105% $13,47¢ 2%

Research and Developmeruring 2011, research and development expenseaiseteby $3.0 million, or 25%, compared to 2010 grity due to increases in employee-
related expenses and recruiting of $2.4 million $829,000, respectively, as we hired an additi@badmployees. There was also an increase in comlé¢ed maintenance

and support expenses of $254,000. These increasespartially offset by a decrease in contractpeases of $109,000.

Sales and Marketing During 2011, sales and marketing expense incdediad million, or 31%, compared to 2010 primadlye to increases in employee-related
expenses, marketing programs, commission expensesavel expenses of $4.0 million, $2.1 milliod, Zmillion and $419,000, respectively. These iases were partially
offset by decreases in stock-based compensationanrtthctor expenses of $451,000 and $240,000ecégply.

General and AdministrativeDuring 2011, general and administrative expenseased by $3.0 million, or 31%, compared to 201®arily due to an increase in
employee-related expenses and stock-based comipensapenses of $1.6 million and $1.3 million, resipvely, as well as an increase in computer-rdlataintenance and
support of $219,000. These increases were parbéfgt by a decrease in travel expenses of $261,00

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other Income (Expense;

Interest income, ne

Interest expens

Other expense, n
Total

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 Change
Percentag¢ Percentag¢
Amount of Revenut Amount of Revenut Amount %
(in thousands)

$ 23 — $ 18t — $ (162) (89)%

(356) @ — — (359) (100)

(719 Q) (50%) (2) (21¢) (43)
$(1,052) 2% $ (31¢) 1)% $ (736) (231)%

During 2011, interest income, net decreased by $062 or 88%, from the corresponding period ofgifier year. Interest income is generated from tivestment of our
cash balances, less related bank fees. The dedndaserest income is due to decreased interéss$ @ssociated with our ARS holdings.

The increase in interest expense related to bongswviinder our line of credit and term loan. Thedase in other expense, net was primarily dueréalized loss of
$146,000, recognized during 2011, when we sold@maining ARS holdings. There was also an increaaeign currency transaction losses of $83,d0&se increases were
partially offset by a decrease of $48,000 relateith¢ change in the valuation of the warrants telpase 60,728 shares of series B preferred staokgd2011, compared to the

change in 2010.
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Provision for Income Taxes

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 Change
Percentage Percentage
Provision for income taxes Amount of Revenut Amount of Revenut Amount %
(in thousands)
Provision for income taxe $ 90 — $ 56 — $ 3 61%

The increase in the provision for income taxesrdu#011 compared to 2010, resulted primarily franmingrease in income tax expenses related to fojeigsdictions.

Non-Controlling Interest in Consolidated Subsidiary

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 Change
Percentagt Percentage

Non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiary Amount of Revenut Amount of Revenut Amount %
(in thousands)

Net (income) loss attributable to r-controlling interest in consolidate
subsidiary $ (367) ()% $ 28C 1% $ (647) (229%

Non-controlling interests represent the minorigcgholders’ proportionate share (37%) of our méyeowned subsidiary, Brightcove KK. During 2011 jd@itcove KK
generated net income as a result of increased baeketration in Japan.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

In connection with our IPO in February 2012, weereed aggregate proceeds of approximately $58 l&omilincluding the proceeds from the underwritersércise of
their overallotment option, net of underwriterssabunts and commissions, but before deductinginffexpenses of approximately $4.3 million. Prmotr IPO, we funded our
operations primarily through private placementprefferred and common stock, as well as througtolaongs of $7.0 million under our bank credit fatiés. In February 2012,
we repaid the $7.0 million balance under our baeklit facilities. All of the preferred stock wasmerted into shares of our common stock in conogatiith our IPO.

On August 14, 2012 we completed the acquisitiodesfcoder for $27.2 million net of cash acquirede Bequisition was financed using existing cashamdhIn addition
we incurred $1.9 million of merger-related expensésvhich approximately $886,000 remained unpaidfaDecember 31, 2012.

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow Dal

Purchases of property and equipm $ (6,299 $(4,064) $ (2,720)
Depreciation and amortizatic 4,66¢€ 2,997 2,19¢
Cash flows used in operating activit (1,209 (7,199 (10,767
Cash flows used in investing activiti (45,000 (1,36%) (3,437)
Cash flows from financing activitie 51,10¢ 5,18¢ 11,93
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Cash, cash equivalents and investments.

Our cash and cash equivalents at December 31,\282held for working capital purposes and werested primarily in money market funds, certificatésleposit,
commercial paper and corporate debentures. We enter into investments for trading or speculagiueposes. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, restraash was $303,000
and 233,000, respectively, and was held in ceatifis of deposit as collateral for letters of cregliited to the contractual provisions of our coap® credit cards and a portion of
the restricted cash balance was associated witleélse agreement for our office in Seattle, WagbimgAt December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had $5.fomind $3.6 million,
respectively, of cash and cash equivalents heklUbgidiaries in international locations, includsupsidiaries located in Japan and the United Kingdbis our current intention
to reinvest unremitted earnings in such subsidiarie

Accounts receivable, net.

Our accounts receivable balance fluctuates fronogé¢o period, which affects our cash flow from oateng activities. The fluctuations vary dependargthe timing of
our billing activity, cash collections, and changesur allowance for doubtful accounts. In marstamces we receive cash payment from a custonwartprihe time we are able
to recognize revenue on a transaction. We recasktpayments as deferred revenue, which has &/paaffiect on our accounts receivable balancesu¥éedays’ sales
outstanding, or DSO, calculated on a quarterlysh@s a measurement of the quality and statusrofoaivables. We define DSO as (a) accounts rabkiynet of allowance for
doubtful accounts, divided by total revenue fortest recent quarter, multiplied by (b) the numdfedtays in that quarter. DSO was 72 days at DeceBhe2012, 73 days at
December 31, 2011 and 69 days at December 31, 2010.

Operating activities.

Cash used in operating activities consists primafilnet loss adjusted for certain non-cash itemhkiding depreciation and amortization, stock-basedpensation
expense, the provision for bad debts and the effechhanges in working capital and other activit@ash used in operating activities during 2012 $4a8 million and consisted
of $12.5 million of net loss offset by non-cash emges of $5.8 million for stock-based compensaigrense and $4.7 million for depreciation and aixetibn expense.
Included in the net loss is a benefit from incomredf $3.6 million, inclusive of $3.4 million relag to the release of valuation allowance againsteaisting deferred tax assets
in connection with net deferred tax liabilities @sged as part of the acquisition of Zencoder. Usessh included an increase in accounts receivaftid.4 million and a
decrease in accounts payable of $1.3 million. Tleesows were offset by an increase in deferregnee and accrued expenses of $5.5 million andr$iBlién, respectively.
Increases in deferred revenue and accounts reteipeammarily related to an increase in sales ofsubiscription and support services to both neweaigting customers.

Investing activities.

Cash used in investing activities during 2012 w&s illion, consisting primarily of $27.2 milliorof the acquisition of Zencoder, $14.1 million farghases of
investments and $6.3 million in capital expendisui@support the business, partially offset by $gilion of proceeds from the maturities of investms. We moved our
corporate headquarters in 2012 and as a resultr@ttoapital expenditures of $2.0 million relatioghe move, which is included in the $6.3 millioihcapital expenditures for
2012.

Financing activities.

Cash provided by financing activities in 2012 wa4.$ million, consisting of $56.8 million of netqmeeds from our IPO and $1.3 million from the eiszrof stock
options, offset by payments of $7.0 million on teeaining balance of our outstanding credit facitiorrowings with Silicon Valley Bank (SVB).
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Credit facility borrowings.

On March 30, 2011, we entered into a loan and ggagreement with SVB providing for an asset-bdgeelof credit. Under this loan and security agneat, we can
borrow up to the lesser of (i) $8.0 million or @D% of our eligible accounts receivable. We ha$2.4 million letter of credit outstanding undee &tredit agreement to secure
the lease for our new corporate headquarters, wkitinces the borrowing availability under the dradreement. The amounts owed under the loan audityeagreement are
secured by substantially all of our assets, exaydur intellectual property. Outstanding amoumtdear the credit agreement accrue interest at acatal to the prime rate plus
1.5%. Amounts owed under the loan and securityesmgeait are due on March 31, 2013, and interestelatéd finance charges are payable monthly. At Deee 31, 2012 and
2011, we had no outstanding borrowings under thésdf credit.

On June 24, 2011, we amended our loan and seagrigement with SVB to provide us with the abiliyborrow up to an additional $7.0 million in therfoof a term
loan. Outstanding amounts under the term loan adoterest at a rate equal to the prime rate flos\We are required to pay only interest on the team for the first 12 montt
and then principal and interest thereafter ovent 36 months. There is a final payment due uttdeterm loan of 2% of the original principal ambof such term loan. In
2011, we borrowed $7.0 million under this creddility. In February 2012, we repaid the $7.0 miflibalance and made a final payment of $140,000esepting 2% of the
outstanding balance, pursuant to the terms ofgheemnent. As such, we had no outstanding borrowingsr this agreement at December 31, 2012.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivaleifitbevsufficient to meet our anticipated workingpital and capital expenditures for at least theé b2 months. Our
future working capital requirements will dependroany factors, including the rate of our revenuenging our introduction of new products and enhanggmend our expansic
of sales and marketing and product developmentitiesi. To the extent that our cash and cash etgritg short and long-term investments and cash djgerating activities are
insufficient to fund our future activities, we maged to raise additional funds through bank cieg#ngements or public or private equity or defaricings. We also may need
to raise additional funds in the event we deterniniée future to acquire businesses, technolagielsproducts that will complement our existing agiens. In the event
additional funding is required, we may not be d@blebtain bank credit arrangements or equity ot ieancing on terms acceptable to us or at all.

Net operating loss carryforwards.

As of December 31, 2012, we had federal and s&tteperating losses of approximately $84.5 milbord $39.6 million, respectively, which are avaiatd offset future
taxable income, if any, through 2032. We had reteand development tax credits of $2.2 million &&dlL million, respectively, which expire in varicasounts through 2032.
Our net operating loss and tax credit amounts@gest to annual limitations under Section 382 ¢feaof ownership rules of the U.S. Internal Reve@ade of 1986, as
amended. We completed an assessment to determétkexitthere may have been a Section 382 ownerkhime and determined that it is more likely thantihat our net
operating and tax credit amounts as disclosed@trsubject to any material Section 382 limitations.

In assessing our ability to utilize our net defdri@x assets, we considered whether it is moréyltk@n not that some portion or all of our netetefd tax assets will not
be realized. Based upon the level of our histotit8. losses and future projections over the periadhich the net deferred tax assets are dedectiblthis time, we believe it is
more likely than not that we will not realize thenefits of these deductible differences. Accordingle have provided a valuation allowance againstet deferred tax assets
of December 31, 2012 and 2011.

We have historically provided a valuation allowaagainst its net deferred tax assets in JapandBgsm the level of historical income in Japan fntdre projections,
we determined in the fourth quarter of 2012 thatas probable it will realize the benefits of igure deductible differences. As such, we reledisedaluation
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allowance related to the remaining deferred tagtasa Japan and recorded a $193 income tax béméffié consolidated statement of operations feryémar ended December
2012.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments.

Our principal commitments consist primarily of @ations under our leases for our office space anttactual commitments for hosting and other suippenvices. The
following table summarizes these contractual ohilige at December 31, 2012:

Payment Due by Perioc

Less than : More than 5
1-3 35
Total Year Years Years years
(in thousands)
Operating lease obligatiol $32,13¢ $ 3,88¢ $ 6,57 $6,657 $ 15,01¢
Outstanding purchase obligatic 9,72( 5,131 4,58¢ — —
Total $41,85¢ $ 9,011 $11,16: $6,651 $ 15,01¢

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2012, we did not have any sitanit off-balance sheet arrangements, as definkdrim303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-B4ir Value Measurement (Topic 820) Amendments toe&ke Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure
Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IF(ASU No. 2011-04). The amendments in this updapdyap all reporting entities that are requirecpermitted to measure or disclose the
fair value of an asset, a liability, or an instrurhelassified in a reporting entity’s shareholdemuity in the financial statements. ASU No. 2@#ldoes not extend the use of -
value accounting, but provides guidance on howautd be applied where its use is already requirgeermitted by other standards within U.S. GAARRRS. ASU No. 2011-
04 changes the wording used to describe many emeints in U.S. GAAP for measuring fair value anddisclosing information about fair value measurataeAdditionally,
ASU No. 2011-04 clarifies the FASB'’s intent abcue fapplication of existing fair value measuremente amendments in this update are to be applesppctively. This
guidance was effective for us on January 1, 20h2.adoption of ASU No. 2011-04 did not have a niateffect on our financial position, results ofesgtions or cash flows.

In June 2011, the FASB issued new accounting gailan the presentation of comprehensive incomeowige companies with two options for presenting
comprehensive income. Companies can present tileofatomprehensive income, the components ofnoetme, and the components of other comprehensieenie either in a
single continuous statement of comprehensive incomire two separate but consecutive statements. Jlidance eliminates the option to present thepooents of other
comprehensive income as part of the statementasfgas in stockholders’ equity. This guidance wéectfe for us on January 1, 2012, which is alsodhate we adopted the
guidance. As the new guidance relates only to hmwprehensive income is disclosed and does not etthegtems that must be reported as compreheimgioene, the adoptio
of this standard did not have a material impaabanfinancial position or results of operations.

In July 2012, the FASB amended ASC 3Bflangibles — Goodwill and OtheiThis amendment is intended to simplify how aritgmésts indefinite-lived assets other
than goodwill for impairment by providing entitieséth an option to perform a qualitative assessnedetermine whether further impairment testingesessary. The amended
provisions will be effective for us beginning iretfirst quarter of 2014, and early adoption is ped. This amendment impacts impairment testiegsbnly, and therefore
adoption will not have an impact on our consoliddteancial position, results of operations or cistvs.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

We have operations both within the United Statekiaternationally, and we are exposed to marké&sriis the ordinary course of our business. Theses include
primarily foreign exchange risks, interest rate anilhtion.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments meeting fair value disclosecuirements consist of cash equivalents, accoantsvable and accounts payable. The fair valubedfe financial
instruments approximates their carrying amount.

Foreign currency exchange risk

Our results of operations and cash flows are stbjeftuctuations due to changes in foreign curyeexchange rates, particularly changes in the &nitsh pound,
Australian dollar and Japanese yen. Except formeséransactions in Japan, we enter into transectiectly with substantially all of our foreignstomers.

Percentage of revenues and expenses in foreigenayris as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,

201z 2011
Revenues generated in locations outside the UBitats 41% 34%
Revenues in currencies other than the United Stiatéar (1) 29% 28%
Expenses in currencies other than the United Statiésr (1) 16% 19%

(1) Percentage of revenues and expenses denomindtadign currency for the years ended December @12 2nd 2011
Year Ended
December 31, 2012

Revenue Expense
euro 12% 4%

British pound 9 5

Japanese ye 7 4

Other 1 3
Total 29% 1€%

Year Ended
December 31, 2011

Revenue Expense
euro 10% 5%

British pound 9 6

Japanese ye 8 5

Other 1 3
Total 28% 1%

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, we had $6.6anidind $5.0 million, respectively, of receivablesdminated in currencies other than the U.S. ddl&r also
maintain cash accounts denominated in currenches than the local currency, which exposes usrida exchange rate movements.
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In addition, although our foreign subsidiaries haatercompany accounts that are eliminated uposadaitation, these accounts expose us to foreigreoay exchange
rate fluctuations. Exchange rate fluctuations aortsterm intercompany accounts are recorded irconsolidated statements of operations under “otloeme (expense), net”,
while exchange rate fluctuations on long-term icwenpany accounts are recorded in our consolidagtthbe sheets under “accumulated other compreteeimgiome” in
stockholders’ equity, as they are considered dastionet investment and hence do not give riggafos or losses.

Currently, our largest foreign currency exposurestiae euro and British pound, primarily becauseEwropean operations have a higher proportioruotfacal currency
denominated expenses. Relative to foreign curremppsures existing at December 31, 2012, a 10%varg#hle movement in foreign currency exchange natadd expose us
to significant losses in earnings or cash flowsignificantly diminish the fair value of our forgigurrency financial instruments. For the year endecember 31, 2012, we
estimated that a 10% unfavorable movement in fareigrency exchange rates would have decreasedues®y $2.6 million, decreased expenses by $1liémand decrease
operating income by $922,000. The estimates usadhasthat all currencies move in the same direettdhe same time and the ratio of non-U.S. ddié&rominated revenue
and expenses to U.S. dollar denominated revenuexgehses does not change from current levelse @importion of our revenue is deferred revenueish@tcorded at different
foreign currency exchange rates, the impact tomes®f a change in foreign currency exchange ratesognized over time, and the impact to expeissemre immediate, as
expenses are recognized at the current foreigemecyrexchange rate in effect at the time the expensicurred. All of the potential changes notbdwe are based on sensitivity
analyses performed on our financial results asesfdinber 31, 2012 and 2011.

Interest rate risk

We had unrestricted cash and cash equivalentsagdtments totaling $33.0 million at December 1,2 Cash and cash equivalents were invested plynmamoney
market funds and are held for working capital psgs while the investments were primarily heldertificates of deposit, commercial paper and cafedebentures, and we
intend to hold such investments until their mayudate. We do not use derivative financial instrotaén our investment portfolio. Due to the shatume of our short-term
investments and low current market yields of omglterm investments, we believe that we do not fzayematerial exposure to changes in the fair vafumir investment
portfolio as a result of changes in interest raddelines in interest rates, however, would redutére interest income.

Inflation risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a matefi@ct on our business, financial condition outtsof operations. If our costs were to becomgestio significant
inflationary pressures, we may not be able to faffget such higher costs through price increaSes inability or failure to do so could harm oursiness, financial condition a
results of operations.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Brightcove Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgimeets of Brightcove Inc. (the Company) as aielwer 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related consedidtatements of
operations, comprehensive loss, redeemable cobheptieferred stock and stockholders’ (deficit) iggand cash flows for each of the three yeartiengeriod ended
December 31, 2012. These financial statementharesponsibility of the Company’s management. @sponsibility is to express an opinion on thesaritial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBqUnited States). Those standards require thgilan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance abouhetitte financial statements are free of materiastatement. We were not engaged to perform an afitfie Company’s
internal control over financial reporting. Our asdncluded consideration of internal control ofirancial reporting as a basis for designing apmbcedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose pfessing an opinion on the effectiveness of the @my's internal control over financial reportingc@rdingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes examiningadest basis, evidence supporting the amountsiantbsures in the financial statements, asseshmgdcounting principles
used and significant estimates made by managemmahevaluating the overall financial statementgmestion. We believe that our audits provide aopable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refereabove present fairly, in all material respedts, donsolidated financial position of Brightcove.lat December 31, 2012 and
2011, and the consolidated results of its operatéom its cash flows for each of the three yeatisdrperiod ended December 31, 2012, in conformitly U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 5, 2013
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Brightcove Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Assets
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment
Restricted cas
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $338 a2@b6%at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectivetju@ies related party
amounts of $451 and $587 at December 31, 2012 @ht|, 2espectively
Prepaid expens¢
Deferred tax asst
Other current asse
Total current asse
Long-term investment
Property and equipment, r
Intangible assets, n
Goodwill
Deferred initial public offering cos
Restricted cash, net of current port
Other asset
Total asset

Liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stockand stockholder¢ equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Current portion of lon-term debr
Deferred revenu
Total current liabilities
Deferred revenue, net of current port
Long-term deb
Other liabilities
Redeemable convertible preferred stock warr
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencieNote 6)
Redeemable convertible preferred stoNote 7)
Stockholder’ equity (deficit):
Undesignated preferred stock, $0.001 par valu€060D0 shares authorized at December 31, 2013r@skssued and outstand
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 ar@63)00 shares authorized at December 31, 2012GiH respectively
27,954,926 and 5,224,532 shares issued and outsgeatdDecember 31, 2012 and 2011, respecti
Additional-paic-in-capital
Accumulated other comprehensive incc
Accumulated defici
Total stockholder equity (deficit) attributable to Brightcove Ir
Non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidi.
Total stockholder equity (deficit)
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferstdck and stockholde equity (deficit)

See accompanying notes.
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December 31

2012 2011
$ 21,70¢ $ 17,227
8,26¢ —
10z —
18,95¢ 14,69:¢
1,491 1,56(
187 —
1,49( 1,774
52,20 35,254
3,06¢ —
8,40( 6,07¢
10,38 —
22,01¢ 2,37
— 2,54¢
201 23:
714 85¢€
$ 96,99 $ 47,33t
$ 61¢ $ 2,02¢
11,63¢ 8,77:
— 83:<
18,96: 13,41¢
31,21¢ 25,05(
25t 354
— 6,16
1,027 77
= 4
32,50: 32,07:
— 120,35:
28 5
167,91. —
572 1,05¢
(105,86, (107,259
62,65( (106,197
1,84: 1,10¢
64,49: (105,08
$ 96,99 $ 47,33¢
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Brightcove Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue: (1
Subscription and support rever
Professional services and other reve
Total revenue
Cost of revenue: (2) (¢
Cost of subscription and support reve
Cost of professional services and other reve
Total cost of revenu
Gross profil
Operating expenses: (2) (
Research and developm
Sales and marketir
General and administrati\
Mergerrelated
Total operating expens
Loss from operation
Other income (expense
Interest incomi
Interest expens
Other expense, n
Total other expense, n
Loss before income taxes and -controlling interest in consolidated subsidi.
(Benefit from) provision for income tax
Consolidated net los
Net (income) loss attributable to r-controlling interest in consolidated subsidi
Net loss attributable to Brightcove Ir
Accretion of dividends on redeemable convertiblefgnred stocl
Net loss attributable to common stockholc

Net loss per share attributable to common stocldre—basic and dilute

Weighted-average number of common shares usedvipwting net loss per share attributable to comnteckbolders—basic
and dilutec

(1) Includes related party revenuNote 1C)

(2) Stocl-based compensation included in above line ite
Cost of subscription and support reve
Cost of professional services and other reve
Research and developm
Sales and marketir
General and administratiy
(3) Amortization of acquired intangible assetsudgd in above line item
Cost of subscription and support reve
Research and developm
Sales and marketir

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
$ 84,25 $ 60,16¢ $ 40,52:
3,71¢ 3,39 3,19¢
87,97: 63,56 43,71¢
22,55 15,47 11,06(
4,831 4,741 4,06¢
27,38 20,22: 15,12
60,58 43,34: 28,59
18,72 15,26 12,25
38,72! 31,56: 24,12
16,73 12,64( 9,611
1,85: — —
76,03 59,47: 45,99¢
(15,44 (16,13() (17,40)
10€ 23 18¢
(247 (359 =
(359 (719 (502)
(499 (1,059 (319
(15,94) (17,189 (17,72}
(3,489 9C 5€
(12,45 (17,279 (17,78)
(739 (362) 28C
(13,18¢) (17,63} (17,50)
(739 (5,639 (5,470
$(13,919  $(23,279  $(22,97)
$ 057 $ (479 $ (4.99
24,62 4,90 4,61
$ 3,51¢ $ 3,47¢ $ 3,65
$ 12t $ 52 $ 26
11€ 117 ¢
687 367 36¢
1,60¢ 1,00¢ 1,45¢
3,30¢ 2,65¢ 1,36:
$ 3¢ $ — $ —
18 — —

25C = =
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Consolidated net loss
Other comprehensive (loss) incor
Change in market value of investme
Foreign currency translation adjustme
Other comprehensive (loss) incol
Comprehensive los

Brightcove Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands)

Less: net income (loss) attributable to -controlling interest in consolidated subsidi

Comprehensive loss attributable to Brightcove

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31

2012

2011

$(12,45)  $(17,279)  $(17,78)
= = (62)
(484) 242 192
(484) 242 13C
(12,93¢) (17,03) (17,65)
734 361 (280)
$(13,670  $(17,39)  $(17,37)
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Series C
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series B
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series A
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Brightcove Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertibledferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(in thousands, except share data)

Series D
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Total
Stockholders’

Accumulated -
Common Stock Other Deficit

Shares Amount _Shares Amount _Shares Amount

Shares  Amount

Additional

Comprehensive Accumulated Attnbtuotable

Paid-In
Capital

Bright

Shares  Par Value Income Deficit cove Inc.

Non-

Controlling

Interest

Total

Stockholders’

(Deficit)
Equity

Balance at
December 31,
2009

Issuance of Series D
redeemable
convertible
preferred stock,
net of issuance
costs of $22: — — — — — —

Issuance of commor
stock upon
exercise of stock
options — — — — — —

Issuance of restricted
common stocl — — — — — —

Repurchase of
common stocl — — — — — —

Accretion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred stock t
redemption valur — 6 — 17 —

Accretion of
cumulative
dividends on
redeemable
convertible
preferred stocl —

Stock-based
compensation
expens¢ — — — — — —

Change in market
value of
investments — — — — — —

Foreign currency
translation
adjustmen — — — — — —

Net loss — — — — — —

5,375,000 $ 6,877 6,921,85 $21,21. 7,392,16: $68,631

374

322 = 1,02¢ = 3,57C

2,315,84, 11,77¢

= 552

4539531 $ 58 — $ 684 $ (6857)$  (67,88)

183,11( — 154 — — 154

156,29: — — — — —

(2,909 — = — _ _

(430) (430)

(3,469 — (2,009) (5.470)

3,31f — — 3,31t

(62) — (62)

192

(17,50) (17,50)

1,027 $

280

(66,85

154

(430)

(5,470)

3,31f

(62

192
(17,782)
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Brightcove Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertibledferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit}—Continued)
(in thousands, except share data)

Series D
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series B
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series A
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Shares  Amount _Shares Amount Shares Amount _Shares Amount

Shares  Par Value

Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Total
Stockholders’

Accumulated Deficit
Other Att 'k? ItCIbI Non-
Comprehensive Accumulated i tli')a e Controlling

Bright

Income Deficit cove Inc. Interest

Total
Stockholders’

(Deficit)
Equity

Balance at
December 31,
2010

Issuance of common
stock upon
exercise of stock
options — — — — — — — —

Vesting of restricted
stock — — — — — — — —

Accretion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred stock to
redemption valu — 4 — 11 — 24¢ — 44

Accretion of
cumulative
dividends on
redeemable
convertible
preferred stocl — 828 —

Stock-based
compensation
expens¢ — — — — — — — —

Foreign currency
translation
adjustmen — — — — — — — —

Net (loss) incomt — — — — — — — —

5,375,00! 7,20¢ 6,921,85. 22,25: 7,392,16] 72,58. 2,315,84. 12,36!

3,57C — 72C

4,876,02

348,50

(4,83)

4,191

814 (88,509 (87,689 747

— (308) (308) —

(5,639 =

= (80%)

4,197 —

242 =
(17,63 361

24z =
— (17,631

(86,93)

478

(308)

(5,639

4,197

242
(17,279
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Brightcove Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertibledferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit}—Continued)
(in thousands, except share data)

Series A Series B Series C Series D Total
Redeemable Redeemable Redeemable Redeemable Stockholders’
Convertible Convertible Convertible Convertible Accumulated . Total
Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Common Stock " Other Deficit on- Stockholders’
Additional Comprehensive Accumulated Attrlbtuotable Controlling
Paid-In Bright (Deficit)
Shares  Amount Shares Amount _Shares Amount _Shares Amount Shares Par Value _Capital Income Deficit cove Inc. Interest Equity
Balance at
December 31,
2011 5,375,00! 7,53: 6,921,85. 23,29: 7,392,16. 76,40( 2,315,84. 13,127 | 5,224,53 5 — 1,05€ (107,259 (106,197 1,10¢ (105,08
Issuance of common
stock upon
exercise of stock
options — — — — — — — — 801,09¢ 1 1,34¢ — — 1,34¢ — 1,34¢
Vesting of restricted
stock — — — — — — — — — — 101 — — 101 — 101

Issuance of common
stock pursuant to
restricted stock
units — — — — — — — — 13,00¢ — — — — — — —

Issuance of common
stock upon net
exercise of stock
warrants — — — — — — — — 15,78: — — — — — — —

Accretion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred stock to
redemption valu — 1 — 1 — 32 — 5 — — — — (39) (39) — (39)

Accretion of
cumulative
dividends on
redeemable
convertible
preferred stocl — 42 — il — 464 — 94 — — (677) — (56) (733) — (739)

Stock-based
compensation
expense — — — — — — — — — — 5,84% — — 5,84:% — 5,84:%
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Series A
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Brightcove Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertibledferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit}—Continued)

Series B
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

Series C
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

(in thousands, except share data)

Series D
Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Shares

Amount

Shares

Amount

Shares

Amount

Additional

Paid-In

Shares  Amount Shares  Par Value _Capital

Total
Stockholders’
Accumulated .
Other Attpl?ﬂtm:)l Non-
Comprehensive Accumulated i tl:_)a € Controlling

Bright
cove Inc.

Total
Stockholders’

(Deficit)

Income Deficit Interest Equity

Issuance of
common
stock in
connection
with initial
public
offering,
net of
issuance
costs of
$4,347

Conversion of
redeemabl
and
convertible
preferred
stock into
common
stock

Reclassificatio
of warrants
to purchast
shares of
redeemabl
convertible
preferred
stock into
warrants tc
purchase
common
stock

Foreign
currency
translation
adjustmen

Net (loss)
income

(5,375,00)

(7,576) (6,921,85)

(23,425 (7,392,16)

(76,89¢)

5,750,001 6 54,47(

(2,315,84) (13,226 | 16,150,50 1€ 106,43t

39t

54,47¢

54,47¢

14,67¢ 121,12« 121,12

39¢ 39t

(484

(484

(484

(13,180 (13,180 734 (12,459

Balance at
December 3:
2012

27,954,992 $ 26 $

167,91 $

57z $ (105,862 $ 62,65( $ 1,84: $ 64,49:

See accompanying notes.
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Brightcove Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Operating activities
Net loss $(12,457) $(17,274) $(17,78)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 4,66¢ 2,992 2,19¢
Stocl-based compensatic 5,84: 4,197 3,31t
Deferred income taxe (3,600 — —
Change in fair value of warrar (29) 13¢ 18€
Provision for reserves on accounts receiv: 137 52 13:
Amortization of premium on investmer 132 — —
Amortization of deferred financing cos 44 12 —
Unrealized gain on investmer — — (2€)
Loss on disposal of equipme 83 4€ —
Loss on sale of investmer — 14€ —
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acqaisi
Accounts receivabl (4,437) (5,43¢) (2,03)
Prepaid expense 77 (31) (3349
Other current asse 347 (1,58¢) (30)
Other asset 9C (452) (29¢
Accounts payabl (1,32) 80C 2
Accrued expense 3,73 1,46¢ 2,361
Deferred revenu 5,477 8,01« 1,53¢
Net cash used in operating activit (1,209 (7,199 (10,767)
Investing activities
Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash acqu (27,21() — —
Purchases of investmer (14,06%) — —
Maturities of investment 2,59¢ — —
Sales of investmen — 2,73 5C
Purchases of property and equiprmr (6,299 (4,069 (2,720
Capitalization of intern-use software cos (29) (3549) (829)
Increase in restricted ca — 321 67
Net cash used in investing activiti (45,000) (1,36%) (3,437)
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in conneutith initial public offering, net of offering cts 56,76: — —
Deferred initial public offering cos — (2,287 —
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 1,34¢ 47E 154
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertibfenped stock, net of issuance cc — — 11,77¢
Borrowings under term log — 7,00( —
Payments under term loi (7,000 — —
Net cash provided by financing activiti 51,10¢ 5,18¢ 11,93:
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ (419) 262 4¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 4,481 (3,119 (2,219
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 17,22° 20,34 22,55¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 21,70¢ $ 17,22° $ 20,34:
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows—(Continued)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatior
Cash paid for income tax

Cash paid for intere:

Supplemental disclosure of no-cash financing activities
Conversion of preferred stock to common st

Brightcove Inc.

(in thousands)

Conversion of warrants to purchase preferred stmekarrants to purchase common st
Accretion of Series A, B, C and D redeemable caiterpreferred stock issuance costs and divid:

Vesting of restricted stoc
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow related to acdgition

In connection with the acquisition of Zencoder lor.August 14, 2012, the following transactionsurced:

Fair value of assets acquir

Liabilities assumed related to acquisit

Total purchase pric

Add working capital adjustment receival

Less cash and cash equivalents acqt
Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash acqu

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
$ 61 $ 18 $ 1¢
$ 302 $ 29t $ —
$121,12¢ $ — $ —
$ 39 $ — $ —
$ 772 $5,947 $5,90(
$ 101 $ 15¢ $ —
$ 31,18 $ — $ —

(3,809 — —

27,37¢ — —

79 — —
(248 = =
$ 27,21 $ — $ —
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Brightcove Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
(in thousands, except share and per share datssuntherwise noted)

1. Business Description

Brightcove Inc. (the Company) is a provider of adaased solutions for publishing and distributimgfessional digital media which enable its custasnerpublish and
distribute video and content applications, or appénternet-connected devices quickly, easily ena cost-effective manner.

The Company is headquartered in Boston, Massadhzs®t was incorporated in the state of Delawar@ugust 24, 2004. At December 31, 2012, the Comheaaly
seven wholly-owned subsidiaries: Brightcove UK LBdightcove Singapore Pte. Ltd., Brightcove Kofgaghtcove Australia Pty Ltd, Brightcove Holdindag¢., Bright Bay Co.
Ltd. and Zencoder Inc. (Zencoder). In addition, @enpany had one majority-owned subsidiary, BrighécKabushiki Kaisha (Brightcove KK).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying consolidated financial statemefiisct the application of certain significant agoting policies as described below and elsewhetieeise notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company believes that a significant accourgimigcy is one that is both important to the portdagf the Company'’s financial condition and resudisd requires
management’s most difficult, subjective, or comgledgments, often as the result of the need to reakimates about the effect of matters that arereritly uncertain.

Use of Estimates and Uncertainties

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith generally accepted accounting principleth& United States requires management to makeatst and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts etsissid liabilities, and the disclosure of contirtgessets and liabilities at the date of the firrstatements, and the reported
amounts expensed during the reporting period. Acasalts could differ from those estimates.

Significant estimates relied upon in preparing ¢hesnsolidated financial statements include reveacegnition and revenue reserves, allowancesdobtful accounts,
contingent liabilities, expensing and capitalizatad research and development costs for internalsoftware, intangible asset valuations, amortingperiods, expected future
cash flows used to evaluate the recoverabilitpogtlived assets, the determination of the faiugalf stock awards issued, stock-based compensatmanse, and the
recoverability of the Company’s net deferred tasets and related valuation allowance.

Although the Company regularly assesses theseastiractual results could differ materially frdmede estimates. Changes in estimates are recortieel period in
which they become known. The Company bases itsiatts on historical experience and various otheraptions that it believes to be reasonable urindecitcumstances.
Actual results may differ from management’s estesat these results differ from historical expedenor other assumptions do not turn out to betanbally accurate, even if
such assumptions are reasonable when made.

The Company is subject to a number of risks an@tamties common to companies in similar industaed stages of development including, but notéichto, rapid
technological changes, competition from substifutelucts and services from larger companies, custapncentration, management of international aietsy protection of
proprietary rights, patent litigation, and depermean key individuals.
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Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to@ants of the Company and its wholly owned subsiels and non-controlling interest. All significantercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminatezhsotidation.

Non-controlling interest represents the minoritycgholders’ proportionate share (37%) of the Comisamajority-owned subsidiary, Brightcove KK, a dapse joint
venture, which was formed on July 18, 2008. The-cmmtrolling interest in Brightcove KK is reported a separate component of stockholders’ equific{gjen the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.pbingon of net income attributable to non-confrwlinterest is presented as net income attribatbhon-controlling
interest in consolidated subsidiary in the constéd statements of operations, and the portiothefraomprehensive loss of this subsidiary is preeskin the consolidated
statements of redeemable convertible preferredk stnd stockholders’ equity (deficit) and statemafitsomprehensive loss. Net (income) loss attribletéo non-controlling
interest for the years ended December 31, 2012, a6d 2010 was $(734), $(361) and $280, respeyti®ele Note 8 for further discussion.

Subsequent Events Considerations

The Company considers events or transactions tuair @fter the balance sheet date but prior tastheance of the financial statements to providétiadél evidence for
certain estimates or to identify matters that remjadditional disclosure. Subsequent events hase &ealuated as required. There were no matedafrézed or unrecognized
subsequent events recorded in the consolidateddimastatements for the year ended December 32.20

On January 8, 2013, the Company acquired the rémgaB7% interest in Brightcove KK. The purchaseemf the remaining interest of Brightcove KK was
approximately $1.1 million and was funded by casthand. The Company has owned a 63% interest iBrilgatcove KK joint venture since its formation2008. Brightcove
KK is how 100% owned by the Company. The acquisitidll be accounted for as a purchase transactidn @s such, the Company will continue to constéidightcove KK
for financial reporting purposes; however, commegan January 8, 2013, the Company will no longeord non-controlling interest in its consolidastatements of
operations.

Foreign Currency Translation

The reporting currency of the Company is the Udilad The functional currency of the Company’seiign subsidiaries is the local currency of eactsilidry. All assets
and liabilities in the balance sheets of entitié®se functional currency is a currency other tiend.S. dollar are translated into U.S. dollar eglaints at exchange rates as
follows: (1) asset and liability accounts at pered rates, (2) income statement accounts at wesleggterage exchange rates for the period, andg@tmlders’ equity accounts
at historical exchange rates. The resulting traiosiadjustments are excluded from income (losd)raflected as a separate component of stockholdiefisit. Foreign currency
transaction gains and losses are included in sstftwr the period. The Company may periodicallyehesrtain intercompany foreign currency transastib@at are deemed to be
of a long-term investment nature; exchange adjustsnmelated to those transactions are made dirgctyseparate component of stockholders’ deficit.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

The Company considers all highly liquid investmeniith an original maturity of three months or lesshe date of purchase to be cash equivalentssiments not
classified as cash equivalents with maturities flean one year from the balance sheet date, asifidal as shorterm investments, while investments with maturitreexcess ¢
one year from the balance sheet date are classsiémhg-term investments. Management determireeagpropriate classification of investments attitne of purchase, and re-
evaluates such determination at each balance daget
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Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of eastieposit with banks and amounts held in intdsearing money market accounts. Cash equivalentsaaried at cos
which approximates their fair market value. Investiis primarily consist of certificates of depos@mmercial paper and corporate debentures. At DeeeB1, 2012, the
Company classified its investments as held-to-nitsitas it is the Company’s intention to hold suetiestments until they mature. As such, investmeete recorded at
amortized cost at December 31, 2012. The Compahgatihold any investments at December 31, 2011.

Cash, cash equivalents and investments as of Deze3tth2012 consist of the following:

December 31, 201

Balance Per
Contracted Amortized Fair Market Balance
Description Maturity Cost Value Sheet
Cash Demanc $ 15,27¢ $ 15,27¢ $ 15,27¢
Money market fund Demanc 6,43: 6,43: 6,43
Total cash and cash equivale $ 21,70¢ $ 21,70¢ $ 21,70¢
Certificates of depos 111- 290 days $ 1,20( $  1,20C $  1,20(
Commercial pape 52-100 days 1,391 1,39¢ 1,391
Corporate debentur 21- 342 days 5,66 5,67 5,66%
Total shor-term investment $ 8,26¢ $ 827 $ 8,26¢
Certificates of depos 475- 528 days $ 96C $ 962 $ 96(
Corporate debentur 388- 461 days 2,10¢ 2,11¢ 2,10¢
Total lon¢-term investment $ 3,06¢ $  3,08C $ 3,06¢
Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 20Elst of the following:
December 31, 201
Balance Pel
Contracted Amortized Fair Market
Balance
Description Maturity Cost Value Sheet
Cash Demanc $14,49. $ 14,49. $ 14,49
Money market fund Demanc 2,73t 2,73t 2,73t
Total cash and cash equivale $ 17,22 $ 17,22 $ 17,22

Restricted Cash

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, restricted cash®®83,000 and $233,000, respectively, and was hetétiificates of deposit as collateral for lettefsredit. of which
as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, $271,000 and 32D respectively, related to the contractual jgioms of our corporate credit cards and the redwiof which was
associated with the lease agreement for our offi@eattle, Washington.

Disclosure of Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financialrimeents, which include cash, cash equivalentgyats receivable, accounts payable, accrued expeanse
borrowings under the Company’s long-term debt, axiprated their fair values at December 31, 2012201, due to the short-term nature of these instnis, and for the
long-term debt in 2011, the interest rate the Compielieves it could obtain for borrowings with dmterms. See Note 5 for discussion on the detetion of the fair value of
the Company’s long-term investments.
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The Company has evaluated the estimated fair \@lfirancial instruments using available markebmfiation and management'’s estimates. The usefefelitt market
assumptions and/or estimation methodologies coaNe fa significant effect on the estimated fair eamounts. See Note 5 for further discussion.

Revenue Recognition

The Company primarily derives revenue from the séiés online video platform, an on-demand, hosteftware application service, which provides costts with
features and functionality for uploading, managitigtributing, and monetizing their video asse®véhue is derived from three primary sources:H&)subscription to its
technology and related support; (2) hosting, badtiwand encoding services; and (3) professionalcss, which include initiation, set-up and custpation services.

The Company recognizes revenues when all of thewolg conditions are satisfied: (1) there is pamsue evidence of an arrangement; (2) the sendsebken provided
to the customer; (3) the collection of fees is jfab; and (4) the amount of fees to be paid bytistomer is fixed or determinable.

The Company’s subscription arrangements provideomeass the right to access its hosted softwareagijgns. Customers do not have the right to talssession of the
Company'’s software during the hosting arrangemfettordingly, the Company recognizes revenue in atamce with Accounting Standards Codification (A%0%,Revenue
Recognitior. Contracts for premium customers generally hategra of one year and are non-cancellable. Theskams generally provide the customer with a maxmannual
level of usage, and provide the rate at which tigtamer must pay for actual usage above the aafioalable usage. For these services, the Compaognézes the annual fee
ratably as revenue each month. Should a customsaige of the Company'’s services exceed the antonabale level, revenue is recognized for such egde the period of the
usage. Contracts for volume customers are generalith-to-month arrangements, have a maximum mpfetiel of usage and provide the rate at whichcti®omer must pay
for actual usage above the monthly allowable usaige.monthly volume subscription and support aradjasees are recognized as revenue during thedgarishich the related
cash is collected.

Revenue recognition commences upon the later ohwlieapplication is placed in a production envinent, or when all revenue recognition criteria hbgen met.
Professional services and other revenue sold tend-glone basis are recognized as the servicggedmrmed, subject to any refund or other oblmyati

Deferred revenue includes amounts billed to custerfee which revenue has not been recognized, a@nthgly consists of the unearned portion of anrsaitware
subscription and support fees, and deferred iratisind professional service fees.

Revenue is presented net of any taxes collected éistomers.

Multiple-Element Arrangements

The Company periodically enters into multigllement service arrangements that include platirbscription fees, support fees, initiation fe@sl, én certain cases, ott
professional services. Prior to January 1, 201 ntthe Company entered into such arrangements géacient was accounted for separately over itemsge service period,
provided that each element had value to the customa stand-alone basis, and there was objeatideadiable evidence of fair value for the sepaeddeents. If these criteria
could not be objectively met or determined, thaltealue of the arrangement was generally recogmiatably as a single unit of accounting over thire service period to the
extent that all services had begun to be providéidesoutset of the period. For multiple-elememvise arrangements entered into through Decembe2@ID, the
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Company was unable to separately account for fifereint elements because the Company did not hajeetive and reliable evidence of fair value fortam of its deliverables.
Therefore, all revenue under these arrangementsdeasrecognized ratably over the contract term.

Initiation fees and other professional services@ba when services are first activated were recbadedeferred revenue, and recognized as revetalmyraver a term
beginning upon go-live of the software applicatéord extending through the contract term.

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Upda@&UANo. 2009-13Revenue Recognition (Topic 605), Multiple-
Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme—a Consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Fatdeh amended the previous multiple-element geaments accounting guidance.
Pursuant to the new guidance, objective and reliabidence of fair value of the undelivered elemménno longer required in order to account foivéeables in a multiple-
element arrangement separately. Instead, arrangeomsideration is allocated to deliverables basetheir relative selling price. The new guidanis® @liminates the use of
the residual method.

Effective January 1, 2011, the Company adoptedniiig accounting guidance on a prospective basies Cdmpany applied the new accounting guidanceatseth
multiple-element arrangements entered into, or nigdie modified, on or after January 1, 2011, whigas the beginning of the Company’s 2011 fiscaty€he adoption of this
new accounting guidance did not have a materiahohpn the Company’s financial condition, resuftsperations or cash flows.

Under the new accounting guidance, in order td tteliverables in a multiple-element arrangemersegmrate units of accounting, the deliverables fmage stand-alone
value upon delivery. If the deliverables have staluhe value upon delivery, the Company accountgdch deliverable separately. Subscription sesviesre stand-alone value
as such services are often sold separately. Imrdigtieg whether professional services have standeavalue, the Company considers the followingoiactor each professional
services agreement: availability of the servicesfiother vendors, the nature of the professionmalcsss, the timing of when the professional sersicentract was signed in
comparison to the subscription service start datd,the contractual dependence of the subscriporice on the customer’s satisfaction with thdgssional services work. To
date, the Company has concluded that all of théegs@mnal services included in multiple-elemenaagements executed have stand-alone value, witixtteption of initiation
and activation fees.

Under the new accounting guidance, when multipleeiables included in an arrangement are sepamatediifferent units of accounting, the arrangetrmmsideration
is allocated to the identified separate units based relative selling price hierarchy. The Compéetermines the relative selling price for a detirde based on its vendor-
specific objective evidence of fair value (VSOE)gvailable, or its best estimate of selling pBESP), if VSOE is not available. The Company hetednined that third-party
evidence of selling price (TPE) is not a practaigrnative due to differences in its service dffgs compared to other parties and the availabifityelevant third party pricing
information. The amount of revenue allocated tiveetd items is limited by contingent revenue rnja

The Company has not established VSOE for its offeridue to the lack of pricing consistency, theothtiction of new services and other factors. Acicwylg, the
Company uses its BESP to determine the relatiViaggirice. The Company determines BESP by considéts overall pricing objectives and market cdiwdis. Significant
pricing practices taken into consideration incltitle Company'’s discounting practices, the size adme of the Company’s transactions, the geogragi@ia where services are
sold, price lists, its go-to-market strategy, histal contractually stated prices and prior relasioips and future subscription service sales véttam classes of customers.

The determination of BESP is made through consoitatith and approval by the Company’s managentehing into consideration the go-to-market stratefgy/the
Company's go-to-market strategies evolve, the Compaay modify its pricing practices in the futuwghich could result in changes in selling
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prices, including both VSOE and BESP. The Compdagsto analyze the selling prices used in itscalion of arrangement consideration, at a minimaman annual basis.
Selling prices will be analyzed on a more frequsatis if a significant change in the Company'’s heiss necessitates a more timely analysis or i€tdrapany experiences

significant variances in its selling prices.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of costs relateslupporting and hosting the Company’s produigrisfgs and delivering professional services. Thesss include
salaries, benefits, incentive compensation anckstased compensation expense related to the maeagefithe Company’s data centers, customer supgam and the
Company'’s professional services staff, in additmthird-party service provider costs such as data centenatworking expenses, allocated overhead, amtidizaf capitalize:

internal-use software development costs and intdegissets and depreciation expense.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company offsets gross trade accounts receivétiiean allowance for doubtful accounts. The aliowe for doubtful accounts is the Company’s besnhage of the
amount of probable credit losses in the Companistiag accounts receivable and is based uponriiatdoss patterns, the number of days that ly#liare past due, and an
evaluation of the potential risk of loss associatith specific accounts. Account balances are @thegainst the allowance after all means of catiadiave been exhausted and
the potential for recovery is considered remotevidions for allowances for doubtful accounts aeorded in general and administrative expense.

Below is a summary of the changes in the Compaatiésvance for doubtful accounts for the years erldedember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010:

Balance at
Beginning of

Period
Year ended December 31, 2012 $ 26€
Year ended December 31, 2( 29¢
Year ended December 31, 2( 40(

Off-Balance Sheet Risk and Concentration of CrediRisk

Balance a

End of

Provision Write -offs Period
$ 137 $ (69 $ 33¢
52 (84) 26€
132 (23¢) 29¢

The Company has no significant off-balance shekt such as foreign exchange contracts, optiorractst or other foreign hedging arrangements. Eiahmstruments
that potentially expose the Company to concenataf credit risk consist primarily of cash, caghigalents, investments and trade accounts redeivahe Company maintai
its cash and cash equivalents principally with edited financial institutions of high credit stamgli Although the Company deposits its cash withtiplel financial institutions,
its deposits, at times, may exceed federally irslingits. The Company routinely assesses the avedihiness of its customers. The Company genehal$ynot experienced any
material losses related to receivables from indiglccustomers, or groups of customers. The Comgaag not require collateral. Due to these factwysadditional credit risk
beyond amounts provided for collection losses iebed by management to be probable in the Comgaagcounts receivable.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar@ 86individual customer accounted for more th@¥ bf total revenue.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, no individuatamsr accounted for more than 10% of net accoeugsivable.
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Concentration of Other Risks

The Company is dependent on certain content dglivetwork providers who provide digital media dely functionality enabling the Company’s on-demapglication
service to function as intended for the Companyst@mers and ultimate end-users. The disruptidhesfe services could have a material adverse effettte Company’s
business, financial position, and results of openat

Software Development Costs

Costs incurred to develop software applicationsliisehe Company’s on-demand application servioesist of (a) certain external direct costs of malke and services
incurred in developing or obtaining internal-usenpoiter software, and (b) payroll and payroll-rafatests for employees who are directly associaiét and who devote time
to, the project. These costs generally consisttefinal labor during configuration, coding, anditesactivities. Research and development costsriad during the preliminary
project stage or costs incurred for data converadiivities, training, maintenance and generalaministrative or overhead costs are expenseccas@u. Capitalization begil
when the preliminary project stage is complete, agament, with the relevant authority, authorizeds @mmits to the funding of the software projecis pprobable the project
will be completed, the software will be used tofpen the functions intended and certain functicarad quality standards have been met. Qualifiedsdnstirred during the
operating stage of the Company'’s software appbioatrelating to upgrades and enhancements aralézgiitto the extent it is probable that they waBult in added
functionality, while costs that cannot be separaketveen maintenance of, and minor upgrades araheements to, internal-use software are expensedursed. These
capitalized costs are amortized on a straightbizss over the expected useful life of the softwatdch is estimated to be three years. Capitalizextnal-use software
development costs are classified as “Software”iwitRroperty and Equipment, net” in the accompagyionsolidated balance sheets.

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012@1@, the Company capitalized $24, $354 and $&&perctively, of internal-use software developmests The
Company recorded amortization expense associatbdte/icapitalized internal-use software developnoests of $542, $886 and $845 for the years ebdmeémber 31, 2012,
2011 and 2010, respectively.

In addition to the software development costs dieedrabove, the Company incurs costs to develogpaten software to be licensed or otherwise marketedistomers.
Costs incurred in the research, design and devanpaof software for sale to others are chargedpese until technological feasibility is estabdidhThe Company capitalizes
eligible computer software development costs umbriewement of technological feasibility subjech&t realizable value considerations. Thereaftdtwsoe development costs
are capitalized until the product is released andrtized to product cost of sales on a straighg-basis over the lesser of three years or the a&sttheconomic lives of the
respective products. The Company has determinedetitanological feasibility is established at timet a working model of software is completed. Beeathe Company
believes its current process for developing softvweitl be essentially completed concurrently whie establishment of technological feasibility, wsts have been capitalized to
date.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost aneciafed over their estimated useful lives usirgatnaight-line method. Leasehold improvementsavertized over
the shorter of the lease term or the estimateduliief of the related asset. Upon retirement de sde cost of assets disposed of, and the retatedimulated depreciation, are
removed from the accounts, and any resulting gaioss is included in the determination of net imeoor loss in the period of retirement.
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Property and equipment consists of the following:

Estimated Useful

Life (in Years) December 31

2012 2011
Computer equipment 3 $ 11,80 $ 7,99
Software 3 6,61¢ 5,92(
Furniture and fixture 5 1,60¢€ 34€

Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or

the estimated useful lit 672 551
20,70( 14,81
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize 12,30( 8,73:
$  8,40C $ 6,07¢

Depreciation and amortization expense, which inefuaimortization expense associated with capitalitedhal-use software development costs, for ey ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $4,022, $2)993%2,199, respectively.

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are ctidmexpense as incurred, whereas major improvesagatcapitalized as additions to property andpenent. The
Company reviews its property and equipment whenevents or changes in circumstances indicate lleatdrrying value of certain assets might not beverable. In these
instances, the Company recognizes an impairmesitben it is probable that the estimated cash flaedess than the carrying value of the asset.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets and certntifiable intangible assets for impairment whemeavents or changes in circumstances indicatahbatarrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Duhisgéview, the Company re-evaluates the signifieasumptions used in determining the original eost estimated lives of
long-lived assets. Although the assumptions may fram asset to asset, they generally include djperaesults, changes in the use of the asset,ftagh, and other indicators
of value. Management then determines whether thairéng useful life continues to be appropriatewbether there has been an impairment of long-lagskts based primarily
upon whether expected future undiscounted castsfloe sufficient to support the assets’ recovéiypairment exists, the Company adjusts the cagyialue of the asset to
fair value, generally determined by a discounteshdtow analysis.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 arj #.Company has not identified any impairmertslong-lived assets.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Intangible assets that have finite lives are amedtiover their useful lives and are reviewed fggamment whenever events or changes in circumssandéate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recover8ligng this review, the Company reevaluates tgaiicant assumptions used in determining the nabcost and estimated
lives of long-lived assets. Although the assumgtioray vary from asset to asset, they generallydecbperating results, changes in the use of g&t,asash flows and other
indicators of value. Management then determinegivenehe remaining useful life continues to be appate or whether there has been an impairmelongflived assets based
primarily upon whether expected future undiscourtash flows are sufficient to support the assetsovery. If impairment exists, the Company woulflisithe carrying value
of the asset to fair value, generally determinea lyscounted cash flow analysis.
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Goodwill is not amortized, but is evaluated for eimment annually, or whenever events or changesdnmstances indicate that the carrying value matybe
recoverable.

In assessing the recoverability of goodwill, thex®any must make assumptions regarding the estinistie@ cash flows, and other factors, to deterntieefair value of
these assets. If these estimates or their relagdmptions change in the future, the Company magdpgred to record impairment charges againsethssets in the reporting
period in which the impairment is determined. Tiwrpany has determined, based on its organizatsnadture, that it had one reporting unit as ofémeber 31, 2012 and
2011.

For goodwill, the impairment evaluation includesoanparison of the carrying value of the reporting to the fair value of the reporting unit. If theporting unit's
estimated fair value exceeds the reporting unéisying value, no impairment of goodwill existsthg fair value of the reporting unit does not extés carrying value, then
further analysis would be required to determineam®unt of the impairment, if any.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Compmopted ASU No. 2011-08ptangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) Testiagodwill for Impairment Under
ASU 2011-08, the Company has the option to asaesgative factors to determine whether the existeof events or circumstances leads to a determimgtat it is more likely
than not that the fair value of a reporting unieiss than its carrying amount to determine whefilmeer impairment testing is necessary. Basethemesults of the qualitative
review of goodwill performed as of December 31,2@hd 2011, the Company did not identify any intticsof impairment. As such, the typhrase process described above
not necessary.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the ehamgquity of a business enterprise during a geriom transactions, other events, and circumstafroen non-owner
sources. Comprehensive income (loss) consiststahoeme (loss) and other comprehensive incomes)leghich includes certain changes in equity thatexcluded from net
income (loss). Specifically, cumulative foreign reurcy translation and unrealized gains and (losse#)vestments are included in accumulated otbempeehensive income
(loss). Comprehensive loss has been disclose@iadbompanying consolidated statements of compseleeloss. Accumulated other comprehensive incanpegsented
separately on the consolidated balance sheetsjaisa@ and consists entirely of cumulative foreigmslation adjustments as of December 31, 20128

Net Loss per Share

The Company calculates basic and diluted net lessgmmon share by dividing the net loss attribletédocommon stockholders by the weighted-averageber of
common shares outstanding during the period. Threpgaay has excluded (a) all unvested restrictecestthat are subject to repurchase and (b) the Qoyigpather potentially
dilutive shares, which include redeemable convertibeferred stock, warrants for redeemable coiblenpreferred stock, and outstanding common stgtions, from the
weighted-average number of common shares outstgaditheir inclusion in the computation for allipds would be anti-dilutive due to net losses. Tlmenpany’s redeemable
convertible preferred stock are participating siiesras defined by ASC 260-1Barnings Per Sharebut are excluded from the earnings per sharelledion as they do not
have an obligation to share in the Company’s regds.
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A reconciliation of the number of shares used endalculation of basic and diluted net loss peresigas follows:

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010
(in thousands, except per shar
data)

Computation of basic and diluted net loss per share

Net loss applicable to common stockholc $(13,919 $(23,279) $(22,97))
Weighte-average shares of common stock outstan 24,66: 4,997 4,781
Less: weighte-average number of unvested restricted common shatstnding 36 97 16¢
Weighte-average number of common shares used in calculaghipss per common she 24,62t 4,90( 4,612
Net loss per share applicable to common stockhe $ (0.57) $ (475 $ (4.99

The following potentially dilutive common shares/bdeen excluded from the computation of weightegtage shares outstanding as of December 31, 2012,and
2010, as their effect would have been antidilutive:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
Redeemable convertible preferred st 2,16z 16,15 15,92:
Options outstandin 3,89/ 4,092 3,59¢
Restricted stock units outstandi 384 — —
Unvested restricted shar 36 97 16¢
Warrants 34 47 47

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordaitbethe asset and liability method. Under thigmoel, deferred tax assets and liabilities are reizegl based on
temporary differences between the financial repgréind income tax bases of assets and liabilisegstatutory rates. In addition, this method nexgua valuation allowance
against net deferred tax assets if, based upoamvtiiable evidence, it is more likely than not thame or all of the deferred tax assets will notdagized.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positionegeized in the consolidated financial statementsrbscribing a more-likely-than-not threshold fioancial
statement recognition and measurement of a tax
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position taken or expected to be taken in a taxmeinterest and penalties, if applicable, relatedncertain tax positions would be recognizedasponent of income tax
expense. The Company has no recorded liabilitiearioertain tax positions as of December 31, 2¢120¢1.

Stock-Based Compensation

At December 31, 2012, the Company had three staskdcompensation plans, the Amended and RestiddS2ock Option and Incentive Plan, the 2012 Stock
Incentive Plan and the Brightcove Inc. 2012 RSWbsient Plan. Additionally, during March 2009, Biticove KK adopted the Brightcove KK Stock OptioafRIThese plans
are more fully described in Note 7.

For stock options issued under the Company’s staged compensation plans, the fair value of eatibrogrant is estimated on the date of grant, andsiimated
forfeiture rate is used when calculating stock-Hasmmpensation expense for the period. For restristock awards issued under the Company’s dieskd compensation pla
the fair value of each grant is calculated basetherCompany’s stock price on the date of grant.seovice-based options, the Company recognizepepsation expense on a
straight-line basis over the requisite servicequedf the award.

Given the absence of an active market for the Coyip&ommon stock prior to the completion of ther@pany’s initial public offering (IPO) on February,12012, the
Board of Directors (the Board), the members of Whiee Company believes have extensive business)d&) and venture capital experience, were reqtoredtimate the fair
value of the Company’s common stock at the timeaafh option grant. The Board considered numerojesibke and subjective factors in determining th&e of the
Company’s common stock at each option grant datdyding the following factors: (1) prices for t@®mpany’s preferred stock, which the Company hédlteooutside
investors in arm’s-length transactions, and thetsigpreferences, and privileges of the Compapyéferred stock and common stock; (2) valuatp@rformed by an independe
valuation specialist; (3) the Company’s stage oktlepment and revenue growth; (4) the fact thaofitén grants involved illiquid securities in ayate company; and (5) the
likelihood of achieving a liquidity event for theares of common stock underlying the options, sischn initial public offering or sale of the Compagiven prevailing market
conditions. The Company believes this to have lzeeasonable methodology based upon the Compangisal peer company analyses, and based on saveratlength
transactions involving the Company'’s preferred lstsapportive of the results produced by this visdeemethodology. Prior to the Company’s commorelstioeing actively
traded, the determination of fair value involvedwsptions, judgments and estimates. If differestiagptions were made, stock-based compensation sxpeet loss and
consolidated net loss per share could have beeifisantly different.

The fair value of each option grant issued undeiGbmpany’s stock-based compensation plans wasastl using the Black-Scholes option-pricing mdhat used the
assumptions noted in the following table. As theas no public market for its common stock prioF&bruary 17, 2012, the effective date of the ComigdiO, and as the
trading history of the Company’s common stock viitéd through December 31, 2012, the Company deted the volatility for options granted based araaalysis of
reported data for a peer group of companiesisisaed options with substantially similar termse Bxpected volatility of options granted has besterhined using an average
the historical volatility measures of this peergy@f companies. The expected life of options hfeenldetermined utilizing the “simplified method’h& simplified method is
based on the average of the vesting tranches armbtitractual life of each grant. The risk-fre@iastt rate is based on a treasury instrument whaseis consistent with the
expected life of the stock options. The Companyrfegaid, and does not anticipate paying, casidelis on its common stock; therefore, the expetitedend yield is
assumed to be zero. In addition, based on an asalfythe historical actual forfeitures, the Compapplied an estimated forfeiture rate of approxetyal4%, 13% and 13% for
the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 28ddkatively, in determining the expense recordebléraccompanying consolidated statements of apesat
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The weighted-average fair value of options granliethg the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012@Ha, was $7.74, $5.28 and $6.34 per share, résglgciThe
weighted-average assumptions utilized to detersiod values are presented in the following table:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Risk-free interest rate 1.25% 2.62% 2.8%
Expected volatility 57% 57% 61%
Expected life (in years 6.2 6.2 6.2

Expected dividend yiel — _ _

As of December 31, 2012, there was $14,326 of toteécognized stock-based compensation expenseddétaunvested employee stock options, restristeck awards
and restricted stock units issued under the Conipatyck-based compensation plans that is expeécted recognized over a weighted-average peri@i4¥ years. The total
unrecognized stock-based compensation expensbendtjusted for future changes in estimated fonfest

The Company accounts for transactions in whichisesvare received from non-employees in exchangedfity instruments based on the fair value ohservices
received, or of the equity instruments issued, twer is more reliably measured. The Company détesrhe total stock-based compensation expersedeio non-employee
awards using the Black-Scholes option-pricing moAdHitionally, in accordance with ASC 505quity-Based Payments to Non-Employ#es Company accounts for award:
nonemployees prospectively, such that the fair vafub®awards is remeasured at each reporting deilehe earlier of (a) the performance commitmeate or (b) the date tl
services required under the arrangement have lmeepleted.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 arjj #@.Company recorded stock-based compensatfmensg for stock options granted to non-employeésein
accompanying consolidated statements of operatib$i85, $234 and $903, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar@] 294l stock-based compensation expense, indugiipense related to stock-based awards grantest thred
Brightcove KK Plan, was $5,843, $4,197 and $3,3&8pectively.

See Note 7 for a summary of the stock option agtiunder the Company’s stock-based compensatiorsita the year ended December 31, 2012.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are charged to operations agstieduThe Company incurred advertising costs d8&B, $3,630 and $1,082 for the years ended Decedih@012,
2011 and 2010, respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-Bdir Value Measurement (Topic 820) Amendments tie&ke Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure
Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IF(ASU No. 2011-04). The amendments in this updapdyap all reporting entities that are requirecpermitted to measure or disclose the
fair value of an asset, a liability, or an instrurhelassified in a reporting entity’s shareholdemuity in the financial statements. ASU No. 2@#4ldoes not extend the use of -
value accounting, but provides guidance on howoutd be applied where its use is already requirgeermitted by other standards within U.S. GAARRRS. ASU No. 2011-
04 changes the wording used to describe many esgeints in U.S. GAAP for measuring fair value anddisclosing information about fair value measurataeAdditionally,
ASU No. 2011-04 clarifies the FASB'’s intent abdue tapplication of existing fair
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value measurements. The amendments in this update be applied prospectively. This guidance wietve for the Company on January 1, 2012. Thepédn of ASU
No. 201-04 did not have a material effect on the Compafigancial position, results of operations or cfetvs.

In June 2011, the FASB issued new accounting gailan the presentation of comprehensive incomeowige companies with two options for presenting
comprehensive income. Companies can present tileofatomprehensive income, the components ofnoetme, and the components of other comprehensieenie either in a
single continuous statement of comprehensive incomire two separate but consecutive statements. Jlidance eliminates the option to present thepooents of other
comprehensive income as part of the statementasfgds in stockholders’ equity. This guidance wéecgfe for the Company on January 1, 2012. Aqithe guidance relates
only to how comprehensive income is disclosed ares chot change the items that must be reportedragrehensive income, the adoption of this standatdot have a
material impact on the Company'’s financial positimrresults of operations.

In July 2012, the FASB amended ASC 3Bfiangibles—Goodwill and OthefThis amendment is intended to simplify how antemésts indefinitdived assets other the
goodwill for impairment by providing entities witin option to perform a qualitative assessment teragne whether further impairment testing is neaegs The amended
provisions will be effective for the Company begdimmin the first quarter of 2014, and early adopi® permitted. This amendment impacts impairmestirig steps only, and
therefore adoption will not have an impact on aumsolidated financial position, results of openasior cash flows.

3. Business Combination

On August 14, 2012, the Company acquired all oftlstanding capital stock of Zencoder, a privatedid company based in San Francisco, Califorrti@. gurchase
price of Zencoder was approximately $27,379 andfwaded by cash on hand. The Company acquired dent¢o enhance and extend the Company’s existiiegings with
Zencoder's media encoding services. The Comparigvaal that the unification of Zencoder’s audio &ito encoding service with the CompangXisting offerings will enab
new and improved scalable services that will helgt@mers reduce the cost and complexity of videm@ing and delivery.

The acquisition was accounted for using the puehasthod of accounting in accordance with ASC 8siness Combinationsiccordingly, the results of operations
Zencoder have been included in the accompanyingotidiated financial statements since the date iiiaition. The results of operations of Zencodetuded within the
consolidated financial statements for the year éiizkcember 31, 2012 were not material. The purcpase has been allocated to the tangible and gittdéeassets acquired and
liabilities assumed based upon the respective atsof fair value as of the date of the mergerusig assumptions that the Company’s manageméevés are reasonable
given the information currently available. Trangattcosts and restructuring costs associated Wwétransaction have been expensed as incurred.

The process for estimating the fair values of ifiaiile intangible assets and certain tangible taggguires the use of significant estimates asdraptions, including
estimating future cash flows and developing appat@discount rates.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coynipanrred merger-related costs of $1,852 relatetiis acquisition. Included in merger-related enges are costs
incurred in connection with closing the acquisitioraddition to costs associated with the retentibkey employees. In addition to the $27,379 pasehprice, per the merger
agreement, approximately $2,667 is to be paidtimeertain key employees over a two year perfoseavices are performed. Given that the reterstinaunt is related to a
future service requirement, the related expenbeiigy recorded as compensation expense in the Megiged line item in the consolidated statemémperations over the
expected service period, and was $826 during thegrded December 31, 2012.

The Company recorded revenue and net loss for Zemad approximately $960,000 and $858,000, regpsyf in the consolidated statements of operatfons the
acquisition date through December 31, 2012.
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All of the assets acquired and the liabilities assd in the transaction have been recognized atdhquisition date fair values, which was finaliz#dDecember 31, 2012.
The total purchase price for Zencoder has beenaiid as follows:

Cash and cash equivalel $  24¢
Other tangible asse 25¢
Identifiable intangible asse 11,03:
Goodwill 19,64¢
Deferred tax liabilities, ne (3,40¢)
Other liabilities assume (39¢)
Total purchase pric $27,37¢

The following are the identifiable intangible assatquired and their respective useful lives:

Useful Life
Amount (years)
Developed technology $ 6,074 14
Customer relationshig 3,99: 6
Non-compete agreemer 59€ 2
Trade nami 36¢ 3
Total $11,03:

In performing the purchase price allocation, thenpany considered, among other factors, its intarfto future use of the acquired assets, analySestorical financial
performance, and estimates of future cash flows Z@ncoder’s products and services. The alloca#sulted in acquired intangible assets of $11,08&.acquired intangible
assets consisted of developed technology, custmtaionships, non-compete agreements and tradesiand were valued using the income approach ichathe aftetax caslt
flows are discounted to present value. The castsflare based on estimates used to price the ttaorssend the discount rates applied were benchedankth reference to the
implied rate of return from the transaction modeieell as the weighted average cost of capital.ithafally, the Company assumed certain liabiliieshe acquisition, includin
deferred revenue to which a fair value of $46 wsxsibed using a cost-plus profit approach.

The deferred tax liabilities primarily relate teettax impact of future amortization or impairmeassociated with the identified intangible assetgized, which are not
deductible for tax purposes. The deferred tax asséite to the net operating losses and othdveagfits acquired from Zencoder as part of thesaation. The Company
assumed $3.4 million of the net deferred tax liie# which created a future source of taxable mmedor which our net deferred tax assets can Hizegaand as a result the
Company reduced the valuation allowance by appratein $3.4 million.

The excess of the purchase price over the estinaaedints of net assets as of the effective dateecdcquisition was allocated to goodwill. The dastcontributing to th
recognition of the amount of goodwill are basedseweral strategic and synergistic benefits thaeapected to be realized from the Zencoder aciprisiThese benefits include
the expectation that the combined company’s comgteany products will significantly broaden the Camp's offerings in media encoding and delivery. Thenbined
company will benefit from a broader global presetacel with the Company’s direct sales force angdiachannel coverage, the combined company antgssagnificant cross-
selling opportunities. None of the goodwill is egfesl to be currently deductible for tax purposes.

Pro Forma Financial Informatiol

The unaudited financial information in the tabléosesummarizes the combined results of operatidtiseoCompany and Zencoder, on a pro forma basithaugh the
Company had acquired Zencoder on January 1,
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2011. The pro forma information for all periodsg®eted also includes the effects of business catibmaccounting resulting from the acquisitiorglinling amortization
charges from acquired intangibles assets, thedagfti recorded in connection with the acquisitoml the compensation expense recorded to retdaairc&ey employees.

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011
Total revenue $ 89,20( $ 64,27:
Net loss $(18,40%) $(26,75%)
Earnings per sha— basic and dilute: $ (0.79) $ (5.4¢)
4. Intangible Assets and Goodwill
Finite-lived intangible assets consist of the faflog as of December 31, 2012:
Estimated Gross
Useful Life Carrying Accumulated
Description (in years) Value Amortization Net Carrying Value
Developed technolog 14 $ 6,074 $ 37¢ $ 5,69t
Customer relationshig 6 3,99: 107 3,88¢
Non-Compete agreemer 2 59¢ 112 484
Tradenam 3 36¢ 4€ 32z
Total $11,03: $ 644 $ 10,38:

Amortization expense related to intangible assat#ife year ended December 31, 2012 was $644. Ter@o related amortization expense for the yerdsd
December 31, 2011 and 2010.

The estimated remaining amortization expense foh efthe five succeeding years and thereaftes feliows:

Year Ending December 31 Amount

2013 $ 1,71¢
2014 1,60¢
2015 1,374
2016 1,29¢
2017 1,29¢
2018 and thereaftt 3,09t
Total $10,38°

In connection with the acquisition of Zencoder, tbasideration transferred to acquire the busiegsseded the fair value of the assets acquiredheniihbilities
assumed. As a result, the Company recorded therelifte as goodwill during the year ended Decemhe2®1L2, none of which is expected to be deductd¢ax purposes.

There were no changes in the carrying amount oflgdbduring the year ended December 31, 2011. Ikaevard of goodwill activity for the year endedeBember 31,
2012 is as follows:

Balance at December 31, 2C $ 2,372
Zencoder acquisitio 19,64¢
Total $22,01¢
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5. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is an exit price, representing the ptiize would be received to sell an asset or patcatwsfer a liability in an orderly transactionween market participants
based on the highest and best use of the assabitity. As such, fair value is a market-based sueament that should be determined based on assastiiat market
participants would use in pricing an asset or ligbiThe Company uses valuation techniques to omesfir value that maximize the use of observaipets and minimize the
use of unobservable inputs. These inputs are firiedi as follows:

. Level 1:Observable inputs, such as quoted prices for idalraissets or liabilities in active marke

. Level 2:Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active etarkhat are observable either directly or indiyesuch as quoted prices for similar assetsatnilities, ol
marke-corroborated inputs; ar

. Level 3:Unobservable inputs for which there is little ormarket data which require the reporting entitgéwelop its own assumptions about how ma
participants would price the assets or liabilit

The valuation techniques that may be used to medainrvalue are as follows:
A. Market approach—Uses prices and other relevant information geedrby market transactions involving identical omparable assets or liabilities.

B. Income approach—Uses valuation techniques to convert future anmtma single present amount based on current texgectations about those future
amounts, including present value techniques, ogiiiging models, and excess earnings method.

C. Cost approach—Based on the amount that currently would be reglio replace the service capacity of an assdbrement cost).
The following tables set forth the Company'’s fin@hstruments carried at fair value using thedsievel of input as of December 31, 2012 and 2011

December 31, 201.

Quoted Prices
Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets Observable Unobservable
for Identical
Items Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) Level 3) Total
Assets:
Money market fund $ 6,43 $ — $ — $6,43:
Restricted cas — 303 — 302
Certificates of depos — 2,16( — 2,16(
Total asset $ 6,43 $ 2,468 $ — $8,89¢
December 31, 201
Quoted Prices
Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets Observable Unobservable
for Identical
Iltems Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) Level 3) Total
Assets:
Money market fund $ 2,73 — $ — $2,73¢
Restricted cas — 23¢ — 23¢
Total asset $ 2,73t $  23¢ $ — $2,96¢
Liabilities:
Redeemable convertible preferred stock warr $ — $ — $ 424 $ 424
Total liabilities $ — $ — $ 424 $ 424
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The following table sets forth a summary of charigebe fair value of the Company’s Level 3 final@ssets and liabilities for the year ended Deeer8lb, 2012:

Level 3

Financial

Liabilities

Balance at December 31, 2011 42
Transfers in (out) of Level 42

Balance at December 31, 2C

©*
~

©*
N

The redeemable convertible preferred stock warnaats converted to common stock warrants uponlteng of the Company’s IPO on February 23, 201 @e no
longer presented at fair value.

Realized gains and losses from sales of the Congpamnestments are included in “Other expense,.net”

The Company measures eligible assets and liabiktidair value, with changes in value recognizreddarnings. Fair value treatment may be electéereitpon initial
recognition of an eligible asset or liability oorfan existing asset or liability, if an event g&gs a new basis of accounting. The Company diglect to remeasure any of its
existing financial assets or liabilities, and dat Blect the fair value option for any financiasets and liabilities transacted in the years erfiEmbmber 31, 2012 or 2011.

6. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Lease Commitments

The Company leases its facilities under non-cabtelaperating leases. These operating leases etpraious dates through March 2022. Future minimental
commitments under operating leases at Decemb&03?, are as follows:

Operating Leas¢

Year Ending December 31 Commitments

2013 $ 3,88¢
2014 3,29¢
2015 3,27¢
2016 3,20¢
2017 3,45z
2018 and thereaftt 15,01¢

Certain amounts included in the table above rejatinco-location leases for the Company’s sernveriided usage based charges in addition to base ren

The Company’s primary office lease has the optiorehew the lease for two successive periods efyfaars each. In connection with the office lettse Company
entered into a letter of credit in the amount g#$2. The letter of credit reduces the borrowingilability under the Company’s line of credit (Ndt2).

Certain of the Company’s operating leases inclisdalating payment amounts and lease incentivesCohepany is recognizing the related rent expense siraight-line
basis over the term of the lease. The lease inenéire considered an inseparable part of the &asement, and are recognized as a reductiombéxeense on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease. As of Decembg2@12 and 2011, the Company had deferred renteamdncentives of $759 and $150, respectivelwloth $735 and $77,
respectively, is classified as a long-term liapilit the accompanying consolidated balance shRetst expense for the years ended December 31, 2012,and 2010 was
$4,197, $2,396 and $2,079, respectively. Income fsablease rental activity amounted to $88, $15B%¥1%8 for the years ended December 31, 2012, 20d 2010.
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In addition to the operating lease commitmentsudised above, as of December 31, 2012, the Compathgdn-cancelable commitments of $5.1 million péyain2013,
$4.6 million payable in 2014, and $30 payable il @rimarily for content delivery network and stge services.

Legal Matters

The Company, from time to time, is party to litigat arising in the ordinary course of its businddanagement does not believe that the outcomeeskthlaims will hav
a material adverse effect on the consolidated &igduposition, results of operations or cash flmizthe Company based on the status of proceedirthssaime.

On July 19, 2012, a complaint was filed by Videash&LC naming the Company in a patent infringenuse (Videoshare, LLC v. Brightcove Inc., Unitadt&s
District Court for the District of MassachusetfBiie complaint alleges that the Company has infdrndes. Patent No. 7,987,492 with a listed issue datluly 26, 2011, entitled
“Sharing A Streaming Video.” The complaint seeksrganction enjoining infringement, damages, anet @nd post-judgment costs and interest. On Jari@ar3013, the
Company filed a motion to dismiss the complaint andlanuary 21, 2013 Videoshare filed an amendenpleint. The Company is evaluating the matter asdsuch, has not yet
determined whether it is probable that a loss beélincurred in connection with this complaint, san the Company reasonably estimate the poteass) if any.

On August 27, 2012, a complaint was filed by Blpék8, LLC naming the Company in a patent infringatmease (Blue Spike, LLC v. Audible Magic Corpooati et al.,
United States District Court for the Eastern Dégtaf Texas). The complaint alleges that the Comipreas infringed U.S. Patent No. 7,346,472 witrstel issue date of
March 18, 2008, entitled “Method and Device for Moring and Analyzing Signals,” U.S. Patent No.6Q& 00 with a listed issue date of February 9, 2@h@tled ‘Method ant
Device for Monitoring and Analyzing Signals,” UBatent No. 7,949,494 with a listed issue date of R¥ 2011, entitled “Method and Device for Monitay and Analyzing
Signals” and U.S. Patent No. 8,214,175 with adisésue date of July 3, 2012, entitled “Method Bxedice for Monitoring and Analyzing Signals.” Themaplaint seeks an
injunction enjoining infringement, damages and ane-post-judgment costs and interest. The Compaswered and filed counterclaims against Blue Spik®ecember 3,
2012. This complaint is subject to indemnificatimnone of the Company’s vendors. The Company cayetadetermine whether it is probable that a lo#isbe incurred in
connection with this complaint, nor can the Compaggsonably estimate the potential loss, if any.

Guarantees and Indemnification Obligations

The Company typically enters into indemnificatigreements in the ordinary course of business. Batsa these agreements, the Company indemnifetagirees to
reimburse the indemnified party for losses andscwsturred by the indemnified party, generally @@mpany’s customers, in connection with patentydghpt, trade secret, or
other intellectual property or personal right inffement claim by third parties with respect to@mnpany’s technology. The term of these indemrtificeagreements is
generally perpetual after execution of the agreéniBased on when customers first subscribe foCiimpany’s service, the maximum potential amouritinfre payments the
Company could be required to make under certathexfe indemnification agreements is unlimited, hawzemore recently the Company has typically limhitte maximum
potential value of such potential future paymenteeiation to the value of the contract. Basedistotical experience and information known as oé&maber 31, 2012, the
Company has not incurred any costs for the aboaeagitees and indemnities. The Company has receiedequest for indemnification from a customerdnnection with a
patent infringement suit brought against that austoby a third party. To date, the Company hasagoted that the requested indemnification is requiry the Company’s
contract with the customer.

In certain circumstances, the Company warrantsithatoducts and services will perform in all migterespects in accordance with its standard phbll specification
documentation in effect at the time of delivery of
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the licensed products and services to the custéonéine warranty period of the product or servite.date, the Company has not incurred significapease under its warranties
and, as a result, the Company believes the estihfiaitevalue of these agreements is immaterial.

7. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stobbklders’ Equity (Deficit)

As of December 31, 2011, the authorized capitalkstd the Company was 68,000,000 shares of commeai,s$0.001 par value per share, and 22,083,08%slof
preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share, ofhwj375,000 shares were designated as SeriesesAmethle convertible preferred stock (the Seriesefered Stock),
7,000,000 shares were designated as Series B rabkeoonvertible preferred stock (the Series Bdtredl Stock), 7,392,163 shares were designatedraes £ redeemable
convertible preferred stock (the Series C PrefeBtedk), and 2,315,842 shares were designatedries Seredeemable convertible preferred stock fwes D Preferred Stock)
(collectively, the Preferred Stock).

In February 2012, the Board approved an amendnmehtestatement of the CompasCertificate of Incorporation to increase the atited number of shares of comn
stock from 68,000,000 to 100,000,000, to authdsi®®0,000 shares of undesignated preferred stackjgiue $0.001 per share, and to eliminate adrezfce to the designated
Preferred Stock.

On February 23, 2012, the Company closed its IP@hich the Company sold and issued 5,750,000 slofigsmmon stock, including 750,000 shares of comstock
sold pursuant to the exercise of the underwritgpsion to purchase additional shares, which wele teathe public at a price of $11.00 per sharee Tompany received
aggregate proceeds of approximately $58.8 milliomfthe IPO, including the exercise of the undetexsi overallotment option, net of underwritedéscounts and commissiol
but before deducting offering expenses of approteigab4.3 million. Upon the closing of the IPO, siflares of the Company’s outstanding redeemableeciilie preferred
stock automatically converted into 16,150,505 shafecommon stock and all outstanding warrantautahmse redeemable convertible preferred stockatically converted
into warrants to purchase 46,713 shares of comitoak st $3.21 per share.

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

Prior to the Company’s IPO, at which time all slsaséPreferred Stock were converted into shareswimon stock, the Company’s Preferred Stock cartbist the
following (in thousands, except share and per shareunts):

December 31

2011
Series A redeemable convertible preferred stocld@0par value; 5,375,000 shares authori

issued and outstanding (minimum liquidation preieseof $7,545 at December 31, 20 $ 7,53
Series B redeemable convertible preferred stocki@0par value; 7,000,000 shares authorized;

6,921,854 shares issued and outstanding (minimyurdition preference of $23,328 at

December 31, 201: 23,29:
Series C redeemable convertible preferred stockiOfi0par value; 7,392,163 shares authori

issued and outstanding (minimum liquidation prefeeeof $77,210 at December 31, 20 76,40(
Series D redeemable convertible preferred stocki®80par value; 2,315,842 shares authorized,

issued and outstanding (minimum liquidation prefeesof $13,272 at December 31, 20 13,120
Total redeemable convertible preferred st $ 120,35:
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The holders of the Company’s Preferred Stock hataicevoting, dividend, and redemption rights, adlas liquidation preferences and conversion fages. All rights,
preferences, and privileges associated with thiepesl stock were terminated at the time of the @amy’s IPO in conjunction with the conversion dfaltstanding shares of
preferred stock into shares of common stock.

Common Stock
Common stockholders are entitled to one vote parestiHolders of common stock are entitled to rexdividends, when and if declared by the Board.

Equity Incentive Plans

At December 31, 2012, the Company had three staskdcompensation plans, the Amended and RestiddS2ock Option and Incentive Plan (the 2004 P liue)
2012 Stock Incentive Plan (the 2012 Plan) and tfighB-ove Inc. 2012 RSU Inducement Plan (the RSihPIAdditionally, during March 2009, Brightcove Kdtlopted the
Brightcove KK Stock Option Plan (the Brightcove K¥an).

The 2004 Plan provided for the issuance of incerdind non-qualified stock options, restricted stacid other equity awards to the Company’s empkyaféicers,
directors, consultants and advisors, up to an aggeeof 7,397,843 shares of the Company’s comnaksThe Company also established a UK Sub-Planeo2004 Plan under
which the Company was permitted to make grantptibos to employees subject to tax in the Unitedgdiom. In conjunction with the effectiveness of #04.2 Plan, the Board
voted that no further stock options or other egbiged awards may be granted under the 2004 Plan.

In 2012, the Board and stockholders adopted th& B@dn, which became effective on February 16, 20h2 2012 Plan provides for the issuance of inger@nd non-
qualified stock options, restricted stock and oiteck-based awards to the Company’s officers, eyagls, noremployee directors and certain other key persotissco€ompan
as are selected by the Board or the compensatiomittee thereof. In connection with the approvathef 2012 Plan, the Company reserved 1,700,00@slbéicommon stock
for issuance under the 2012 Plan, and 124,703 shane transferred from the 2004 Plan. The numbghares reserved and available for issuance uhde2012 Plan will
automatically increase each January 1, beginni® 18, by 4% of the outstanding number of sharéseofCompanys common stock on the immediately preceding Deceit
or such lesser number of shares as determinedeb@dmpany’s compensation committee subject to amathoverhang limit of 30%. This number is subjecadjustment in the
event of a stock split, stock dividend or otherrdein the Company'’s capitalization. At DecemberZf12, 284,001 shares were available for issuander all stock-based
compensation plans.

The Brightcove KK Plan provides for the issuancstotk options to employees, officers, directons| advisors of Brightcove KK and to employees ef @ompany.
Stock options granted under the Brightcove KK Rlemnot exchangeable for either options or shdrbeeedCompany.

In 2012 the Company adopted the RSU Plan and maaela of restricted stock units pursuant to the R&uh to fifteen new employees in connection whith t
acquisition of Zencoder. The awards of restrictedlsunits cover an aggregate of 77,100 sharesroé@mmon stock and were made as a material indercetm the employees
entering into employment with us in connection wifte acquisition of Zencoder. The restricted stagits will be settled in shares of the Companydmmon stock upon vestir
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The following is a summary of the status of the @any’s stock options as of December 31, 2012 amdtibhck option activity for all stock options plaegcluding the
Brightcove KK Plan) during the year ended Decen#ier2012:

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Term
Exercise Intrinsic
Shares Price (In Years) Value (2
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 3,986,701 $ 3.7¢
Grantec 523,81¢ $ 14.3¢
Exercisec (801,099 $ 1.6¢ $ 8,59/
Cancelec (271,54) $ 8.4t
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 3,437,87 $ b5.4¢ 6.7€ $14,98¢
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 2,490,61! $ 3.3¢ 6.1F $14,44(
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 20: 3,278,62 $ 5.1t 6.67 $14,94-

(1)  This represents the number of vested optiord Recember 31, 2012 plus the number of unvegiidres expected to vest as of December 31, 20E2&dban the
unvested options outstanding at December 31, 20d 2djusted for the estimated forfeiture r:

(2) The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated basdte positive difference between the estimated/éue of the Compar's common stock on December 31, 201
$9.04 per share, or the date of exercise, as apat®pand the exercise price of the underlyingomyst

The aggregate intrinsic value for options exerciddhg the years ended December 31, 2011 and®84®3,108 and $947, respectively.

The Company has entered into restricted stock(R8tJ) agreements with certain of its employees.ddiide terms of the agreement, the Company gréditssRo its
employees pursuant to the 2012 Plan and the RSU WPéssting occurs periodically at specified timeemals, ranging from three months to four yeans|, ia specified
percentages. Upon vesting, the holder will receive share of the Company’s common stock for eatttvested.

The following table summarizes the restricted stacit award activity during the year ended Decen®igr2012:

Weighted

Average
Grant Date

Shares Fair Value

Unvested by December 31, 2011 — $ —
Grantec 1,335,64. 11.97
Vested and issue (13,009 12.9¢
Vested and unissue (20,000 16.8¢
Cancelec (47,217) 16.1(
Unvested by December 31, 2C 1,265,42. $ 11.7C

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coynpiamted 156,292 shares of restricted common dtoak employee under the 2004 Plan. Under thestefrthe
agreement, the Company has a repurchase provisieretwy the Company has the right to repurchaseiavgsted shares when/if the employee terminatespete equal to the
original exercise price. Accordingly, the Compaagarded the payment received of $268 for the psecbéthe restricted shares as a liability as afdb@er 31, 2010. During
the year ended December 31, 2012, the Companysséfaal $101 of this amount to additional-paid-apital upon vesting of a portion of this award. Twmpany did not grant
any shares of restricted common stock during tleesyended December 31, 2012 or 2011.
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The following table summarizes the restricted stefard activity during the year ended Decembe812:

Weighted
Average Aggregate
Grant Date
Intrinsic
Shares Fair Value Value (1
Unvested by December 31, 2C 63,49¢ $ 931
Grantec —
Vested (58,609) $ 931
Repurchase —
Unvested by December 31, 2C 4,881 $ 931 $ 36

(1) The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated basdte positive difference between the estimated/éue of the Compar's common stock on December 31, 201
$9.04 per share and the purchase price on theotigtant.

Warrants

In September 2006, the Company issued fully vestdants to purchase an aggregate of 60,728 shhB=vies B Preferred Stock, at a purchase pri§2¢ef7 per share,
to two lenders in connection with a line of creatireement. The warrants are exercisable at anyufmmtil the expiration date of August 31, 201BeTair value of the warrar
was recorded as a discount on the related debwas@mortized to interest expense over the litb@fdebt. The debt was fully repaid in March 20007 warrant liability was
reported at fair value until completion of the Camyp's IPO in February 2012, whereupon the warrantsmatically converted into warrants to purchdsees of the
Company’s common stock. At the time of conversibthe warrants in connection with the Company’s |B@ fair value of the warrants was $395, whicls vexlassified as a
component of additional paid-in capital.

As of December 31, 2012, 18,685 shares exercisatnler the warrants have been exercised pursuantébexercise provision which resulted in theasse of 15,781
common shares. For the years ended December 32, 2011 and 2010, the Company recorded other ezpefr$28, $139 and $186, respectively, in the agzoying
consolidated statements of operations, relateldetdncrease in the fair value of the warrants, tinas determined utilizing the Black-Scholes opficing model, during each
respective year.

Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance
At December 31, 2012, the Company has reserveflibeving shares of common stock for future issu&anc

December 31

2012
Common stock options outstanding 3,437,87
Restricted stock unit awards outstanc 1,265,42
Shares available for issuance under all based compensation ple 284,00:
Common Stock warran 28,02¢
Total shares of authorized common stock reservefiifore issuanc 5,015,32!
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8. Joint Venture

On May 30, 2008 the Company formed Brightcove Kkytelly owned subsidiary of Brightcove Inc. On Ja, 2008, the Company entered into a joint venture
agreement with J-Stream Inc (J-Stream), Dentsu(Dentsu), CyberCommunications, Inc. and Transossimvestments & Business Development, Inc. (ctllely, the
minority stockholders). The minority stockholdensested cash of approximately $4.8 million in Btigdve KK such that their cumulative ownership iegtrin the entity was
37%, while Brightcove Inc. retained a 63% inteieghe entity. As of December 31, 2012 and 2014 Gbmpany owned a 63% interest in Brightcove KK.

The Company evaluated this agreement and deterrttieeelated joint venture qualified as a variabterest entity. The Company also assessed whigtvas the
primary beneficiary and should consolidate Brighte&K. In assessing whether Brightcove KK shouldcbesolidated by the Company, the Company consideraimber of
factors including its ownership percentage in Bidghre KK, its ability to direct the activities ofri§htcove KK that most significantly affect econanpierformance and its
obligation to absorb significant losses of, or reeesignificant benefits from, Brightcove KK.

The Company has maintained a 63% interest in Brayte KK, has absorbed its proportionate ownershépesof the income (losses) of Brightcove KK framaption,
and has an obligation to continue to absorb prapuate income (losses) to the extent incurred bgtcove KK in the future. For the years ended Dawer 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010, the Company absorbed net (income) lossefl3), $(615) and $477, respectively. In additibe Company controls a majority of the seatsherbpard of directors of
Brightcove KK, which allows the Company to direigrsficant activities and influence decisions thffect the economic performance of Brightcove KikkeTCompany also
considered the rights of the board members of ¢imecontrolling interest holders in the joint venturedaletermined that the rights were generally cawsidl protective in natur

Given its assessment, the Company determinedtthas ia controlling interest and is the primarydfimry of the entity. As such, the Company coitsiks Brightcove
KK for financial reporting purposes, and a non-colting interest has been recorded for the thirdigs! interest in the net assets and operations of Brigfet KK to the extent |
the non-controlling partners’ individual investmentdditionally, the Company determined that it \ebalso be required to consolidate Brightcove KKiemthe voting interest
model given the Company controls a majority ofghats on the board of directors. The portion ofasst (income) attributable to non-controlling et is presented as net loss
(income) attributable to non-controlling interestionsolidated subsidiary and represents the ntynstackholders’ proportionate ownership shareheflosses (income) of
Brightcove KK. There are no restrictions on theetssf Brightcove KK or on the settlement of ithliities, with the exception of dividends paidt®stockholders, including
Brightcove KK, which require approval of two-thirdéthe board of directors of Brightcove KK. At Benber 31, 2012 and 2011 there was $5,184 and $3&ectively, of
cash and cash equivalents held by Brightcove KKimércompany transactions have been eliminated. Sompany re-evaluates the consolidation stateswiggering events
arise. As of December 31, 2012, no events hadpiguswhich would require re-evaluation or decorsdlon.

Provided that the Company owns at least 40% obthstanding voting shares of the joint venture,Goenpany has the right to appoint three of the fiward members of
the joint venture.

Under the terms of the joint venture agreementjdime venture will terminate if the joint ventubecomes a public company, or there is a changeritial of the joint
venture whereby the shares of capital stock ofdim venture outstanding immediately prior to tesummation thereof do not directly or indirectbntinue to represent at
least a majority by voting power of the survivingsoicceeding entity immediately following such saction.
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The non-controlling interest in Brightcove KK iparted as a separate component of stockholdergyggeficit) in the accompanying consolidated fic&l statements.
The portion of net loss (income) attributable tooontrolling interests is presented as net logso(ne) attributable to non-controlling interestansolidated subsidiary in the
consolidated statements of operations, and théopast other comprehensive loss of this subsidiaresented in the consolidated statements okistdders’ equity (deficit)
and comprehensive loss.

As discussed in Note 2, on January 8, 2013 the @agnacquired the remaining 37% of Brightcove Kisuléing in Brightcove KK becoming a wholly-ownedbsidiary
of the Company.

9. Brightcove KK Stock Option and Incentive Plan

The Brightcove KK Plan provides for the issuancstotk options to employees, officers, directonsl advisors of Brightcove KK and to employees afBicove Inc.
Stock options granted under the Brightcove KK Riemnot exchangeable for either options or shefrdeedCompany. There are 100,500,000 shares ohf&age KK common
stock reserved for issuance under the BrightcovePkdf. At December 31, 2012, 33,000,000 shares awaxiéable for grant under the Brightcove KK Plan.

For stock options issued under the Brightcove K&nPthe fair value of each option grant is estimhate the date of grant, and an estimated forfeitate is used when
calculating stock-based compensation expense éqoehiod. Stock options typically vest over threang and the Company recognizes compensation expare straight-line
basis over the requisite service period of the dwar

The option price at the date of grant is determimgthe Board of Directors of Brightcove KK. Duette absence of an active market for Brightcove Kémmon stock,
the Board of Directors of Brightcove KK was requite determine the fair value of the common stackcbnsideration in setting exercise prices fordtoek options granted a
in valuing the options granted. In determining fie value, the Board of Directors of Brightcove Kiénsidered numerous objective and subjective fadtodetermining the
value of the Company’s common stock at each ogjfant date, including the following factors: (1)oas for Brightcove KK’s common stock, which Brighte KK had sold to
third-party investors in arm’s-length transacticasd the rights, preferences, and privileges ajiiddove KK’'s common stock; (2) Brightcove KK’s séagf development and
revenue growth; (3) that the option grants involilkguid securities in a private company; and {4¢ likelihood of achieving a liquidity event fdret shares of common stock
underlying the options, such as an initial pubffeiding or sale of Brightcove KK, given prevailimgarket conditions. The Company believes this teeHzeen a reasonable
methodology. As Brightcove KK's common stock is aotively traded, the determination of fair valoedlves assumptions, judgments and estimatesfféreint assumptions
were made, stock-based compensation expense sseairid consolidated net loss per share could heere ignificantly different.

The fair value of each option grant issued undeistbck-based compensation plan was estimated thgrgjack-Scholes option-pricing model that udeslassumptions
noted in the following table. As there was no pubfiarket for its common stock, the Company deteedhitne volatility for options granted based on malysis of reported data
for a peer group of companies that issued optidttssubstantially similar terms. The expected \tityitof options granted has been determined usimgverage of the historic
volatility measures of this peer group of companigee expected life of options has been determinifiding the “simplified method”. The risk-freetierest rate is based on a
treasury instrument whose term is consistent wighetxpected life of the stock options. The Compaas/not paid, and does not anticipate paying, dasiiends on its common
stock; therefore, the expected dividend yield muaged to be zero. In addition, based on an anaysie historical actual forfeitures, the Compapylied an estimated
forfeiture rate of 7.7%, 5.9% and 2.5% for the geamded December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, resglgciiv determining the expense recorded in thempanying
consolidated statements of operations.
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The weighted-average assumptions utilized to détersuch values are presented in the followingetabl

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Risk-free interest rat —
2.8% 3.4%
Expected volatility —
57% 61%
Expected life (in years) _
6.2¢F 6.2t

Expected dividend yiel —

The following table summarizes the stock option r@activity under the Brightcove KK Plan during tear ended December 31, 2012:

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Remaining
Average Contractual Term
Exercise
Shares Price In Years)
(in thousands, except per share date
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 86,50( $ 0.01
Grantec — —
Exercisec — —
Cancelec (19,000 —
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 67,50( $ 0.01 6.5¢
Vested at December 31, 20 58,00( $ 0.01 6.32
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 20: 66,76¢ $ 0.01 6.5

(1)  This represents the number of vested options Beoémber 31, 2012, plus the number of unvestedmpexpected to vest as of December 31, 2012, lwmsted
unvested options outstanding at December 31, -

The weighted-average fair value of options granliethg each of the years ended December 31, 204 2@t0 was $0.002 per share. No options were gtantine year
ended December 31, 2012. No options were exeraisth@ years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 or ZG1December 31, 2012, all options outstanding évweefcise prices in
excess of the fair value of Brightcove KK’s comnstack. Accordingly, the aggregate intrinsic valfiehe total outstanding options and total optioasted and expected to vest
was $0 as of December 31, 2012.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar@®j 204l stock-based compensation expense relati Brightcove KK Plan was $26, $60 and $72,eetpely. As
of December 31, 2012, there was approximately $1@tal unrecognized stock-based compensatiominestimated forfeitures, related to unvested station grants, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-averagedoof 0.16 years. The total unrecognized staasedd compensation cost will be adjusted for futhanges in estimated
forfeitures.

As discussed in Note 2, on January 8, 2013 the @ognacquired the remaining 37% of Brightcove KKeBrightcove KK Plan was terminated in conjunctiath the
acquisition.

10. Related Party Transactions
Two of the minority interest holders in Brightcok&, J-Stream and Dentsu, also act as product bigwts for the Company in Japan.
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As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, accounts redeiaim related parties was:

December 31
2012 2011
J-Stream 432 56€
Dentsu 1¢ _ 2
Total related party accounts receiva $451 $587

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar@] #@Company recorded revenue from related geaofie

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
AOL N/A N/A 1,43¢
J-Stream 3,24( 2,871 2,07(
Dentsu 27€ 602 14F
Total related party revent

$3,51¢ $3,47¢ $3,65¢
During the year ended December 31, 2011, AOL wasmger a stockholder of the Company and therefis@pplicable, is shown as “N/A” in the tables\abo
The Company believes that all related party tratiwas have been negotiated at arm’s length.

11. Income Taxes

Loss before the provision for income taxes consifthe following:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Domestic $(18,13) $(18,55)) $(16,687)
Foreign 2,19¢ 1,361 (1,049
Total $(15,94) $(17,18)) $(17,72)

The (benefit from) provision for income taxes ie ticcompanying consolidated financial statementsists of the following:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Current provision
Federa $ — $— $—
State 16 — —
Foreign 95 90 56
Total curren 111 90 56
Deferred benefit
Federa (2,937) — —
State 470 — —
Foreign (199) — —
Total deferrec (3,600 — —
Total (benefit) provisiot $(3,489) $ 90 $ 56
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A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory redehe Company'’s effective tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Tax at statutory rate (34.0% (34.0% (34.0%
State income taxe (3.9 (0.9) (4.4
Change in tax rat 0.4 5.2 —
Permanent difference 9.€ 2.7) 4.2
Foreign rate differentie 0.2 0.2 2.C
Research and development cre — (4.5 (1.5
Change in valuation allowan: 5.2 36.£ 33.¢
Effective tax rate (21.9) % 0.5% 0.2%

The approximate income tax effect of each typeepforary difference and carryforward as of Decer8tie2012 and 2011 is as follows:

As of December 31

2012 2011
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 30,16( $ 26,84:
Tax credit carryforward 3,57¢ 3,24¢
Stocl-based compensatic 2,19t 89€
Intangible asset (4,02¢) (33))
Fixed asset (464) (45)
Account receivable reserv 50€ 344
Accrued compensatic 414 50¢
Capitalized research and development c 97 144
Capitalized sta-up costs 57C 63<
Other temporary difference 417 27¢€
Deferred tax asse 33,44¢ 32,51«
Valuation allowanct 33,25¢) (32,519
Net deferred tax asse $ 187 $ —

The Company is required to compute income tax esgp@meach jurisdiction in which it operates. Tjmiscess requires the Company to project its cuteenliability and
estimate its deferred tax assets and liabilitiesduding net operating loss (NOL) and tax creditydarwards. In assessing the ability to realize tiet deferred tax assets,
management considers whether it is more likely thatrthat some portion or all of the net deferi@dassets will not be realized.

Upon the closing of the Zencoder acquisition, thenfany assumed $3.4 million of net deferred tebilliges which created a future source of taxahlime for which
the Company’s net deferred tax assets can beedadiad as a result the Company reduced the vaiuaitmvance by approximately $3.4 million during tyear ended
December 31, 2012. The Company has provided ati@tuallowance against its remaining U.S. net defittax assets as of December 31, 2012 and 20bhsed upon the
level of historical U.S. losses and future projesi over the period in which the net deferred &pets are deductible, at this time, managemervedliit is more likely than not
that the Company will not realize the benefitstefte deductible differences. The increase in theatian allowance from 2011 to 2012 principallyatels to the current year
taxable loss.

The Company has historically provided a valuatibovaance against its net deferred tax assets ianldpased upon the level of historical income adeand future
projections, the Company determined in the fouttlarter of 2012 that it was probable it will realtbe benefits of its future deductible differencis.such, the
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Company released the valuation allowance relatéitetoemaining deferred tax assets in Japan andded a $193 income tax benefit in the consolidatattment of operations
for the year ended December 31, 2012.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had federhktate net operating losses of approximately $84llibn and $39.4 million, respectively, which areailable to
offset future taxable income, if any, through 20B2e Company also had federal and state reseadctiem@lopment tax credits of $2.2 million and $2illion, respectively,
which expire in various amounts through 2032. Téeaperating loss and tax credit amounts are sutgje@mnual limitations under Section 382 changevafership rules under
the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as ameritedugh December 31, 2011, the Company completessessment to determine whether there may havesbe
Section 382 ownership change and determined tisatribre-likely-than-not that the Company’s netragieag and tax credit amounts as disclosed arsutlgect to any material
Section 382 limitations.

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted the poovisr uncertain tax positions under ASC 74@ome TaxesThe adoption did not have an impact on the Coryipan
retained earnings balance. At December 31, 2012@hd, the Company had no recorded liabilitiesufacertain tax positions.

Interest and penalty charges, if any, related t®rtain tax positions would be classified as incéaxeexpense in the accompanying consolidatednséatts of operations.
At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company hadcmed interest or penalties related to uncertairpositions.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal tax jurisdiction, various state and variour®ign jurisdictions. Since the Company is in &loarryforward
position, the Company is generally subject to exativn by the U.S. federal, state and local inctemeauthorities for all tax years in which a lossrgforward is available.

The Company’s current intention is to reinvestttital amount of its unremitted earnings in the lacternational tax jurisdiction or to repatriateetearnings only when
tax effective. As such, the Company has not praliide U.S. taxes on the unremitted earnings dhtisrnational subsidiaries. Upon repatriation afs earnings, in the form of
dividends or otherwise, the Company would be sulet).S. income taxes (subject to an adjustmanfoi@ign tax credits) and withholding taxes pagatiol the various foreign
countries. Determination of the amount of the uogeized deferred U.S. income tax liability is ncagtical due to the complexity associated with Hyipothetical calculation.

12. Debt

On March 31, 2011, the Company entered into a émmhsecurity agreement with a lender (the “Lin€#dit”) providing for an asset based line of ctednder the Line
of Credit, the Company can borrow up to the les§éi) $8.0 million or (ii) 80% of the Company’sigible accounts receivable. Borrowing availabilityder the Line of Credit
changes based upon the amount of eligible recesabbncentration of eligible receivables and othetors. The Company has the ability to obtaitetstof credit, which reduc
the borrowing availability of the Line of CreditoBowings under the Line of Credit are securedulystantially all of the Company’s assets. Outstag@mounts under the Line
of Credit accrue interest at a rate equal to timagrate plus 1.5%. Advances under the Line of Ceed repayable on March 31, 2013, and interedtralated finance charges
are payable monthly. At December 31, 2012 and 20&1Company had no amounts outstanding underitteedf Credit.

On June 24, 2011, the Company entered into thelFaen Modification Agreement (the “Modification Agement”) to the Line of Credit. Pursuant to thenteof the
Modification Agreement, during the year ended Ddoen81, 2011, the Company drew $7.0 million in tésan advances. In February 2012, the Companyaehpai$7.0
million balance under the Modification Agreementianade a final payment of $140,000, representing®te outstanding balance, pursuant to the terfrtise Modification
Agreement. As such, the Company had no outstaritingwings under the Modification Agreement at Deber 31, 2012.
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13. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31
2012 2011
Accrued payroll and related benefits $ 7,07C $4,48:
Accrued sales and other ta 1,38¢ 1,10¢
Accrued professional fees and outside contra 65€ 77¢
Accrued content deliver 1,417 1,13¢
Accrued other liabilitie: 1,11( 1,267
Total $11,63¢ $8,77:

14. Segment Information

Disclosure requirements about segments of an ergerand related information establishes standardeporting information regarding operating segtaen annual
financial statements and requires selected infaomatf those segments to be presented in intenanfiial reports issued to stockholders. Operatgggnents are identified as
components of an enterprise about which separateetié financial information is available for eation by the chief operating decision-maker, origlen-making group, in
making decisions on how to allocate resources asdss performance. The Company’s chief decisioremakhe chief executive officer. The Company #relchief decision
maker view the Company’s operations and manadriggess as one operating segment.

Geographic Data
Total revenue to unaffiliated customers by geogiaptea, based on the location of the customer asdsllows:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Revenue:
North America $55,83¢ $41,95: $29,58:
Europe 20,31+« 14,48¢ 11,077
Japar 5,94¢ 4,76¢ 2,54¢
Asia Pacific 5,17« 2,21¢ 482
Other 70C 13¢ 29
Total revenue $87,97: $63,56: $43,71¢

North America is comprised of revenue from the BaiStates, Canada and Mexico. During the yearsiebdeember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, revenue fratoiers
located in the United States was $51,695, $38,880627,720, respectively. During the years endetkBwer 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, revenue from cestolocated in the
United Kingdom was $7,887, $6,324, and $5,223 aetbgely, and is included in Europe for each ofgpective periods in the table above. Duringytraes ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, no other inferratcountry contributed more than 10% of the Canys total revenue.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, property andoeggnt at locations outside the U.S. was not materia
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15. 401(k) Savings Plan

The Company maintains a defined contribution sas/pign covering all eligible U.S. employees undeet®n 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Company

contributions to the plan may be made at the digeref the Board. To date, the Company has notengay contributions to the plan.

16. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

Revenue

Gross profil

Loss from operation

Net loss attributable to Brightcove Ir
Basic and diluted net loss per sh

For the three months ended

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30 June 30, March 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011
$ 24,33¢ $ 22,07: 21,62( $ 19,94« $ 18,53t $ 16,67¢ $ 15,28( $ 13,07
16,73t 15,09¢ 15,17¢ 13,58( 12,90: 11,39¢ 10,34+ 8,69¢
(4,606) (3,719 (3,880 (3,249 (3,32) (3,297 (5,070 (4,436)
(4,65)) (611) (4,33¢) (3,586) (3,789 (3,97¢) (5,45¢) (4,41F
$ (017) $ (0.09 (016 $ (027) $ (109 $ (109 $ (149 $ (129
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

Our management, with the participation of our gpatexecutive officer and principal financial aiir, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disstosontrols and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a—15(e) and 15de)}1Linder the Securities Exchange Act of 1934nasnded (the “Exchange Act”)), as of the end ofptiigod covered by
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on suchuatain, our principal executive officer and prirgifinancial officer have concluded that as of sdate, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective.

Managemen's Annual Report on Internal Control Over FinanciaReporting

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not includeport of management’s assessment regarding ih@sngol over financial reporting or an attestatireport of our
registered public accounting firm due to a transifperiod established by the rules of the SEC éaviy public companies.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, does not expect tha disclosure controls and procedures or o@rival controls
will prevent all errors and all fraud. A controlssgm, no matter how well conceived and operatadpoavide only reasonable, not absolute, assurératehe objectives of the
control system are met. Because of the inheretitidliions in all control systems, no evaluation ofitols can provide absolute assurance that att@lassues and instances of
fraud, if any, within the Company have been detecidese inherent limitations include the realithest judgments in decision-making can be faultyl that breakdowns can
occur because of a simple error or mistake. Aduily, controls can be circumvented by the indigbacts of some persons, by collusion of two orem®ople, or by
management override of the control. The desigmpfsystem of controls also is based in part upotaiceassumptions about the likelihood of futurergs, and there can be no
assurance that any design will succeed in achidtsrgjated goals under all potential future candg. Over time, controls may become inadequatauserof changes in
conditions, or the degree of compliance with thkcps or procedures may deteriorate. Becauseeoirtherent limitations in a cost-effective consgstem, misstatements due to
error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportm

There were no changes in our internal control éimancial reporting during our most recent fiscahger that have materially affected, or are reatyrlikely to
materially affect, our internal control over fingalaeporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART I
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Goverance

Incorporated by reference from the information im Broxy Statement for our 2013 Annual Meeting tafcholders, which we will file with the SEC withit20 days of
the end of the fiscal year to which this Annual &¢n Form 10-K relates.

Item 11. Executive Compensatior

Incorporated by reference from the information im Broxy Statement for our 2013 Annual Meeting tft®holders, which we will file with the SEC withii20 days of
the end of the fiscal year to which this Annual 8¢n Form 10-K relates.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andVanagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

Incorporated by reference from the information im Broxy Statement for our 2013 Annual Meeting tafcholders, which we will file with the SEC withit20 days of
the end of the fiscal year to which this Annual 8&¢pn Form 10-K relates.

Iltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions an®irector Independence

Incorporated by reference from the information im Broxy Statement for our 2013 Annual Meeting tft®holders, which we will file with the SEC withil20 days of
the end of the fiscal year to which this Annual &¢n Form 10-K relates.

Iltem 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Service

Incorporated by reference from the information im Broxy Statement for our 2013 Annual Meeting tafcholders, which we will file with the SEC withit20 days of
the end of the fiscal year to which this Annual 8&¢pn Form 10-K relates.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statements and Schedule
(a)(1) Financial Statement
The response to this portion of Item 15 is setfarider Item 8 above.

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedul
All schedules have been omitted because they anequoired or because the required informatiorivisrgin the Consolidated Financial Statements deBlthereto set

forth under Item 8 above.
(a)(3) Exhibits.

See the Exhibit Index immediately following thersadure page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. &kieibits listed in the Exhibit Index below areefil or
incorporated by reference as part of this Annugdd®eon Form 10-K.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{(th)e Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiigthas duly caused this report to be signedsooeihalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

BRIGHTCOVE INC.
By: /s/ Jeremy Allaire

Jeremy Allaire
Chief Executive Officer and Chairmi

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose individual signature appearswedweby constitutes and appoints Christopher Meaad Andrew Feinberg, and each of them, withdaiver of
substitution and resubstitution and full power ¢bwithout the other, as his or her true and lawftdrney-in-fact and agent to act in his or heneaplace and stead and to
execute in the name and on behalf of each pensdividually and in each capacity stated below, Enfile any and all amendments to this Annual ReparForm 10-K, and to
file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and ottilecuments in connection therewith, with the Séimsriand Exchange Commission, granting unto séadreys-in-fact and
agents, and each of them, full power and authtwiyo and perform each and every act and thindyireg and confirming all that said attorneysfenct and agents or any of thi
or their or his substitute or substitutes may ldlfdo or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpthe following persons on behalf of the registrand in the capacities
and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/sl Jeremy Allaire Chief Executive Officer and Chairmi March 5, 201
Jeremy Allaire (Principal Executive Officer
/s| _Christopher Menard Chief Financial Officer March 5, 2013
Christopher Menard (Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer

/s/__David Mendels Director, President and Chief Operating Offi March 5, 201
David Mendels
/s/ Deborah Besemer Director March 5, 2013
Deborah Beseme
/s/  Scott Kurnit Director March 5, 201
Scott Kurnit
/s| _Elizabeth Nelson Director March 5, 2013
Elizabeth Nelsor
/s| David Orfao Director March 5, 201:
David Orfao
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibits

2.1%(1) Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July2@62, by and among the Registrant, Zebra Acquisifiorporation, Zencoder Inc. and the
Securityholder Representative named there

3.1*(2) Eleventh Amended and Restated Certificate of Inm@tpon

3.2%(3) Amended and Restated -Laws

4.1%(4) Form of Common Stock certificate of the Registi

4.2%(5) Second Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agmtesta¢ed January 17, 2007, by and among the Ragisthe investors listed therein, and Jer
Allaire, as amende

4.3%(6) Warrant to Purchase Stock dated August 31, 200@dsby the Registrant to GE Capital CFE,

4.4%(7) Warrant to Purchase Stock dated August 31, 200@dsby the Registrant to TriplePoint Capital L

4.5%(8) Brightcove Inc. RSU Inducement PI

4.6%(9) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement unitier Brightcove Inc. 2012 RSU Inducement F

10.1*%(10) Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Regig and its directors and executive offic

10.21*(11) Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Option and IneeRian of the Registrant, together with forms oaahagreemer

10.31*(12) 2012 Stock Incentive Plan of the Registr

10.41*(13) Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under2f&2 Stock Incentive Ple

10.5t1 (14, Form of Nor-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Company Emples under the 2012 Stock Incentive F

10.6*(15) Lease dated February 28, 2007 between MortimeuBké&man, Edward H. Linde and Michael A. Cantalgsa]rustees of One Cambridge Ce
Trust and Brightcove Inc., as amenc

10.7*(16) Lease dated June 15, 2011 between BP Russia Wih@raihd Brightcove Inc

10.8*%(17) Loan and Security Agreement dated March 30, 201idmn Silicon Valley Bank and Brightcove Inc., asesdec

10.91*(18) Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2011 betweefRegistrant and Jeremy Alla

10.101*(19) Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2011 betweerRegistrant and David Mend:

10.111*(20) Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2011 betweerRegistrant and Edward Got

10.121*(21) Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2011 betweerRegistrant and Christopher Men

10.131*(22) Employment Agreement dated August 8, 2011 betweemRegistrant and Andrew Feinb¢

10.141** Employment Separation Agreement dated Januaryl3 B6tween the Registrant and Edward Gi

10.151*(23) Non-Employee Director Compensation Pol

10.161*(24) Senior Executive Incentive Bonus P
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10.171%(25)
10.181%(26)
10.191%(27)
10.20%(28)
21.1%
23.1%
24.1%
31.1%

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under2®&2 Stock Incentive Ple

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement fan@pany Employees under the 2012 Stock Incentive
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement farm-Employee Directors under the 2012 Stock Incentiea
Form of Nor-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for N-Employee Directors under the 2012 Stock Incentiea
Subsidiaries of the Registre

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registétablic Accounting Firn

Power of Attorney (included on signature pa

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuaat3ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1%* e Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chigihancial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of theb8ae-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS+ XBRL Instance Documen

101.SCH+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume

101.CAL+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuim

101.DEF+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhe

101.LAB+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

101.PRE+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenin

(1) Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registr's Current Report on Forn-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiarjuly 26, 201Z2

(2) Filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Amendment No. 5 to the Reghn’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorebruary 6, 201,
(3) Filed as Exhibit 3.3 to Amendment No. 5 to the Reghn’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorrebruary 6, 201
(4) Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 5 to the Reghn’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorrebruary 6, 201,
(5) Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registr’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissioiugust 24, 201:

(6) Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Registr’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiougust 24, 201:

(7)  Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Registr’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiougust 24, 201:

(8) Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Registr’s Registration Statement on For-8 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiougust 14, 201:

(9) Filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Registr’s Registration Statement on For-8 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorugust 14, 201:

(10) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Amendment No. 5 to the iRegn’s Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiot-ebruary 6, 201
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(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17
(18)
(19)
(20
(21)
(22)
(23)

(24)
(25)
(26)
@7

(28)

*
*%k

Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registr's Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorugust 24, 201

Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Amendment No. 5 to the iRegn’s Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissio-ebruary 6, 201.
Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Amendment No. 5 to the iRegn’s Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorebruary 6, 201:
Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. 5 to the iRegn’s Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorebruary 6, 201:
Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Registr's Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorugust 24, 201:

Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Registr's Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorugust 24, 201:

Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Registr's Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorugust 24, 201:

Filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Registr's Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorugust 24, 201

Filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Registr's Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiougust 24, 201:

Filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Registr's Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiougust 24, 201:

Filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the Registr's Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiougust 24, 201:

Filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the Registr's Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiougust 24, 201:

Filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Amendment No. 5 to thgiRean’s Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorfrebruary €
2012.

Filed as Exhibit 10.15 to Amendment No. 5 to thgiRean’s Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorfrebruary €
2012.

Filed as Exhibit 10.16 to Amendment No. 5hte Registrant’s Registration Statement on Fornfifd with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorrebruary 6,
2012.

Filed as Exhibit 10.17 to Amendment No. 5 to thgiR&an's Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissioifrebruary €
2012.

Filed as Exhibit 10.18 to Amendment No. 5hte Registrant’s Registration Statement on Fornfifed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorf-ebruary 6,
2012.

Filed as Exhibit 10.19 to Amendment No. 5 to thgiRean’s Registration Statement on For-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorfrebruary €
2012.

Incorporated herein by referen

Filed herewitl

The certifications furnished in Exhibit 32.1 herare deemed to accompany this Annual Report on B@rik and will not be deemed “filedbr purposes of Section 18
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendezh &ertifications will not be deemed to be incogied by reference into any filings under the SéiesriAct of 1933,
as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1234mended, except to the extent that the Regfistpacifically incorporates it by referen

In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulatic-T, these XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Lagg)@ocuments are furnished and not filed or agfaatregistratior
statement or prospectus for purposes of Sectioms 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amende&eation 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended, and
otherwise are not subject to liability under thesetions

Indicates a management contract or any compensplamy contract or arrangeme
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Exhibit 10.14
& Orightcove

Edward Godin January 2, 2013

Separation Notice and Agreement

Dear Ed:

This letter confirms the terms of your separatiamf employment with Brightcove Inc. (* BrightcoVer the “ Company). It also provides you with answers to certain
questions you may have about your benefits. Fipalblso describes a proposed agreement betwaerBgovard Godin (hereinafter, “ ydwor “ Employee”), and the Compan

1. Termination of Employmer.

Your employment with the Company shall terminafeatfve December 27, 2012 (the “ Separation DptErom and after the Separation Date, you shall havauthorit
to act for or on behalf of Brightcove and you simait have any additional duties or responsibiljteesept as described in this letter, provided yoatagree to be generally
available to respond to questions from the Compamtyor for other transition-related items. Exceptlascribed in this letter, the Company shall meotdguired to pay you any
further compensation, whether in the form of salapnus, commission, or otherwise. Except as s#t fo this letter, you shall not be entitled to/drenefits.

2. Final Paychecks, Bonus Payment, Reimbursen.
The Company shall make the following payments to: yo

(a) Final PaycheckOn or before the last day of 2012, in accordamitie the Company’s ordinary payroll schedule, ybalkreceive a check in the amount of $8,958.33,
less applicable withholdings, representing paymégbur salary through the end of 2012.

(b) ReimbursementsThe Company shall also reimburse you for anytantiing, reasonable business expenses that your@mwesd on the Company’s behalf through
the Separation Date, after the Company’s timelgig®f appropriate documentation pursuant to thegany’s business expense reimbursement policy.

3. Benefits.

You have the right to continue certain health iasge benefits under the Company’s group healthgtlgour own expense after the Separation Daterithddaw known
as “COBRA.”You and/or your dependents are entitled to eledBR® coverage (usually for up to 18 months or marajer your existing plan(s). We will send to yopaekage
describing your rights under COBRA in more detatjch will include forms for you to complete to efiin COBRA.



Edward Godin
January 2, 2013
Page 2

4. Separation Payme.

This Section 4 proposes an agreement (the “ Agreeinbetween you and the Company. The purpose ofAbieement is to permit you to receive an additigrzyment
in connection with your separation from the Compamgd to establish an amicable arrangement fongndur employment relationship, including relegdine Company and
related persons or entities from any claims, indlgdut not limited to any claims for amounts onéfits owed pursuant to your Executive Agreeméntol agree to the terms
of this Agreement, you acknowledge that you areramg into this Agreement voluntarily and that geyments and benefits to you hereunder supersedararin lieu of any
other payments or benefits for which you are elgimder your Executive Agreement or otherwisés iommon in employment separation agreementhiédéparting
employee to release the employer from any posslalms, even if the employer believes, as is tise ¢eere, that no such claims exist. The specifiogef the release are set
forth in Section 4(b). By entering into this Agreemh, you understand that the Company is not admitti any way that it violated any legal obligatitat it owed to you.

(a) Conditions of the AgreemenThe Company will provide you with the paymentd &enefits described in Section 4(c) in consideratif and in exchange for your
fulfillment of the conditions set forth in this SEm 4(a); specifically:

(i) the Company’s receipt of an executed and urkega@opy of this Agreement, including specificaiypong other things, the release contained in @ed(b)
and your agreement that the payments and bene8tgitled in Section 4(c) replace and supersedgggpthents and obligations to you described in yougchtive Agreement ai
otherwise, and that no further amounts or benafgsowed to you pursuant to your Executive Agredraentherwise,

(ii) your reasonable availability generally duritige thirty-day (30 day) period following your Segigon Date to assist with transition-related mattecluding
without limitation answering questions and provglinformation about matters related to your resjimlittes prior to your Separation Date; and

(iii) your reasonable assistance, cooperation aadadbility following your Separation Date in coration with any disputes, claims, proceedings aydtion
matters involving the Compa’s personnel relating to any Human Resources m
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(b) Release of Any Claim. In consideration for, among other terms, the paytnby the Company described in Section 4(c), thvitou acknowledge you would otherw
not be entitled, you voluntarily release and foradischarge the Company, its affiliated and relaetities, its and their respective predecessacsessors and assigns,
and their respective employee benefit plans andtiadies of such plans, and the current and fooffarers, directors, shareholders, employees, rétys, accountants a
agents of each of the foregoing in their officiatlpersonal capacities (collectively referred tthas* Release€$ generally from all claims, demands, debts, dagsag
causes of action, and liabilities of every name ratttire, known or unknown (* Clainilthat, as of the date you sign this Agreement, lgave, ever had, now claim to
have or ever claimed to have had against any of #lle Releaseespecifically including under your Executive Agreemieand also any claim under the Age
Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amerdjer Chapter 151Fof the Massachusetts General Lavemd also including, without limitation, all Clairr

«  relating to your employment by and termination wipdoyment with the Compan

. of wrongful discharge

«  of breach of contrac

. of retaliation or discrimination under federal tstar local law (including, without limitation, Gtas of age discrimination or retaliation under &ge Discrimination ir
Employment Act, Claims of disability discriminatian retaliation under the Americans with Disalgi#tiAct, and Claims of discrimination or retaliatiamder Title VII of
the Civil Rights Act of 1964)

. under any other federal or state statute (includivithout limitation, Claims under the Worker Adjoent and Retraining Notification Act, the FamilydaMedical Leavt
Act, and the Fair Labor Standards A«

. of defamation or other tort
. of violation of public policy:

« for wages, overtime pay, bonuses, incentive congiins stock, stock options, restricted stock tieoequity compensation, vacation pay, holiday qragny othe
compensation or benefits; a

«  for damages or other remedies of any sort, incudiithout limitation, compensatory damages, puaitiamages, injunctive relief and attor's fees

provided,however, that: (i) this release shall not affeatrygested rights under the Company’s Section 40dlék) or your rights under this Agreement; (iisthelease does not
limit your right to file, cooperate with or partte in an age discrimination proceeding beforate ©r federal Fair Employment Practices Agenogyiped that you waive any
right to recover monetary benefits in such procegdand (iii) this release does not apply to amynelthat may arise out of actions, inactions angetions that occur subsequ
to the date this Agreement is executed by bothigzartou agree that you shall not seek or accapedas of any nature, other equitable or legal réesddr your own benefit,
attorney’s fees, or costs from any of the Releasdtsrespect to any Claim released by this Agrasm&s a material inducement to the Company torente this Agreement,
you represent that you have not assigned to any plirty and you have not filed with any agencgaurt any Claim released by this Agreement. Yothirrepresent that, upon
receipt of the payments described in Section 2 @pgau have been paid in full for any and all oweetpay, holiday pay, vacation pay, bonuses, cosions and any and all
other wages, compensation and/or benefits dueudrpm the Releasee
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(c) Separation Payments and Benefits. In considerétr the Agreement described in this Sectiothd,Company hereby agrees:

(i) To pay you, in a lump sum during 2013, in aclzorce with the Company’s payroll practices regardinnual bonus payments and calculated in accoedaitic
the Company’s annual incentive bonus plan, a paynepnesenting your annual performance bonus far performance during 2012.

(i) To pay you, in a lump sum within thirty (30ags following the Separation Date, the amount &%250, less applicable withholdings, which refietie
equivalent of 1 year's annual base salary plusyelag's annual target bonus at 100%, each at yavemannual rate.

(iii) To pay you, in a lump sum within thirty (3@dpys following the Separation Date, the amount/2&3, less applicable withholdings, which reflabis
equivalent of twelve (12) months of monthly emplogentributions that the Company would have maderéwide health insurance to you if you had remdieeployed by the
Company; and

(iv) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary inyaapplicable option agreement or stock-based aagreement, (A) the vesting schedule for stock ogtand
other stockbased awards held by the Executive as of the Oatermination shall immediately accelerate by twefinte percent (25%) and such accelerated awarals lstcome
fully exercisable, vested and/or nonforfeitabl@fthe Separation Date, provided, however, thatliB)vesting schedule for the Restricted StockdJgriainted to you by the
Board of Directors of the Company on May 8, 201RSUs")shall immediately accelerate by fifty percent (50} such accelerated RSUs hall become fully esabtz, veste
and nonforfeitable as of the Separation Date.

5. Tax Treatment

The Company shall undertake to make deductionbhaitlings and tax reports with respect to paymantsbenefits under this Agreement to the extentitheasonably
and in good faith determines that it is requirechike such deductions, withholdings and tax repBagments under this Agreement shall be in ammetitsf any such
deductions or withholdings. Nothing in this Agreernshall be construed to require the Company toenaaly payments to compensate you for any adversffert associated
with any payments or benefits or for any deductiowithholding from any payment or benefit.

6. Return of Propert.

You confirm that you have returned to the CompahZampany property, including, without limitationpmputer equipment, software, keys and access,cenetlit
cards, files and any documents (including compzeridata and any copies made of any computerizacddaoftware) containing information concernihg Company, its
business or its business relationships (in theratio cases, actual or prospective). You also cibtendeleting and finally purging any duplicatddites or documents that may
contain Company information from any computer dreotdevice that remains your property after theaBson Date. In the event that you discover tloat gontinue to retain
any such property, you shall return it to the Conypanmediately
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7. Confidential Informatior.

You understand and agree that you have been entpinyeposition of confidence and trust and hawkdexess to information concerning the Companytti®a€ompan
treats as confidential and the disclosure of wisimhld negatively affect the Company’s interest€ghfidential Informatiorf). Confidential Information includes, without
limitation, confidential financial information; buress forecasts; inventions; improvements and atieltectual property; trade secrets; know-howsiges, processes or
formulae; confidential software; marketing or satésrmation or plans; customer lists; and busin#ass, prospects and opportunities. You agreeytiiashall not use or
disclose any Confidential Information at any timigheut the written consent of the Company. In gaitéir and without limitation, You agree to contirtaecomply with the
Employee Non-Competition, Nondisclosure and Develept Agreement You executed on August 15, 201 1tettmes of which are hereby incorporated by refezénto Section
7 of this Agreement.

8. Confidentiality.

You agree to keep the existence and terms of thisment (* AgreemesRRelated Informatiori) in the strictest confidence and not reveal, asliegally compelled to do
so0, any Agreement-Related Information to any pessoept your spouse, your attorney and your fishadvisors, and to them only provided that thest gree, for the
benefit of the Company, to keep Agreement-Relatéatination confidential. Nothing in this Sectiorafitbe construed to prevent you from disclosingefagnent-Related
Information to the extent required by a lawfullgued subpoena or duly issued court orgmyidedthat you provide the Company with advance writtetioe and a reasonable
opportunity to contest such subpoena or court order

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreemt® the contrary, the Employee may provide a anfihis Agreement to the Massachusetts Division of
Unemployment Assistance (* DUA, or may utilize a copy of this Agreement in gompceeding relating to a claim for benefits witk UA.

9. Nondisparagemel.

You agree not to make any disparaging statemenisecoing the Company or any of its affiliates omrent or former officers, directors, shareholderaployees or
agents. You further agree not to take any actiom®onduct yourself in any way that would reasonddgyexpected to affect adversely the reputatiggoodwill of the Company
or any of its affiliates or any of its current orer officers, directors, shareholders, employgegents.

10. Outside Inquirie.

The Company agrees that any inquiry from any peasoto the Employee’s status, position, and/or eympént relationship or employment history with @empany
shall be referred to the Company'’s Vice Presiddntnan Resources (* VB or General Counsel (* General Coun®elThe VP or General Counsel shall respond to such
inquiry, other than inquiries seeking a job refeefor the Employee, by informing the inquirer loé Employee’s dates of employment and the jotsthiikdd, and that Company
policy precludes the provision of any further infation to the inquirer. The VP or General Counballanake no other comments and shall provide rmuoh@nts containing
further information.

11. Ledgal Representatio

This Agreement is a legally binding document aesdsiginature will commit the parties to its termsuYacknowledge that you have been advised to disduaspects of
this Agreement with your attorney, that you haveetidly read and fully understand all of the praerss of this Agreement and that you are voluntegityering into this
Agreement
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12.  Absence of Reliane.
In signing this Agreement, you are not relying upory promises or representations made by anyooreast behalf of the Company except as set forthimmAgreement.

13.  Enforceability.

If any portion or provision of this Agreement (inding, without limitation, any portion or provisiai any section of this Agreement) shall to anyeaekbe declared
illegal or unenforceable by a court of competenisliction, then the remainder of this Agreementhe application of such portion or provision ircamstances other than
those as to which it is so declared illegal or dorreable, shall not be affected thereby, and gaction and provision of this Agreement shall bédvzand enforceable to the
fullest extent permitted by law.

14. Waiver.

No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shl effective unless made in writing and signedhgyvraiving party. The failure of any party to reguhe performance
of any term or obligation of this Agreement, or thaiver by any party of any breach of this Agreetnshall not prevent any subsequent enforcemesuici term or obligation
or be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach.

15. Enforcemen.

(a) Jurisdiction You and the Company hereby agree that the Sup@oiort of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts aadJiited States District Court for the District of
Massachusetts shall have the exclusive jurisdicbaronsider any matters related to this Agreeniealtiding, without limitation, any claim for vidi@n of this Agreement. Wit
respect to any such court action, you (i) submiheojurisdiction of such courts, (ii) consent &nsce of process, provided there is actual natagke Employee of any such cc
action, and (iii) waive any other requirement (Wiegtimposed by statute, rule of court or otherwigitf) respect to personal jurisdiction.

(b) Relief. You agree that it would be difficult to measuny &darm caused to the Company that might resutt fray breach by you of your promises set forthnin a
section of this agreement, and that in any evemayadamages would be an inadequate remedy forummytseach. Accordingly, you agree that if you bhear propose to
breach, any portion of your obligations, the Conypsimall be entitled, in addition to all other rergexdit may have, to an injunction or other apprajerequitable relief to restrain
any such breach, without showing or proving anyaaiamage to the Company and without the necesfsigsting a bond. In the event that the Comparyails in any action
to enforce any section of this Agreement, thenalso shall be liable to the Company for atto’s fees and costs incurred by the Company in emfgiiich provision(s
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16. Governing Law; Interpretatic.

This Agreement shall be interpreted and enforcetbuthe laws of the Commonwealth of Massachuseitisout regard to conflict of law principles. Ingkevent of any
dispute, this Agreement is intended by the pattdse construed as a whole, to be interpreteddordance with its fair meaning, and not to be awoest strictly for or against
either you or the Company or the “drafter” of allamy portion of this Agreement.

17.  Entire Agreemen.

This Agreement, the Employee’s Noncompetition, Nscldsure and Developments Agreement dated as g@igtul5, 2011, and the Employee’s Non-Qualifiectisto
Option Agreements dated as of November 12, 20G¥ Jaly 31, 2008, and the Employee’s Incentive StOpkion Agreements dated May 8, 2009, and May 0212and the
Employees Restricted Stock Unit Agreement dated on or abtayt 8, 2012, as amended hereby, respectively titatesthe entire agreement between you and thepaagnwith
respect to the subject matter hereof and therabShall supersede any previous agreements or uadédnsgs between you and the Company. You speltyfiagree and
acknowledge that your Executive Agreement is sigoierd hereby, terminated, and shall be of no fufiree or effect, and that no further obligatiohereunder are owed to yi

18. Counterpart:.

This Agreement may be executed in any number ofitevparts, each of which when so executed andetelivshall be taken to be an original, but all bfol together
shall constitute one and the same document.

19. Time for Consideration; Effective Date, Revocal.

You acknowledge that you have had a period ofetlfortyfive (45) days to consider the terms of this AgreemHowever, you may sign this Agreement and neituio
me at any time within this forty-five (45) day p=ti You may revoke this Agreement during the sévg@rays immediately following your execution ofstthgreement by
submitting a revocation, in writing, to me at Brigbve Inc., 290 Congress Street, Boston, MA 021f1IGdo not receive such written revocation priorthe expiration of this
seven (7)-day period, this Agreement shall takectfit that time (the * Effective Date

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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Please indicate your agreement to the terms offpisement by signing and returning to me the oggof this letter.
Very truly yours,
BRIGHTCOVE INC.

By: /sl Jeremy Allaire
Name: Jeremy Allaire, CEC

Date:  January 2, 201
You are advised to consult with an attorney be$igaing this Agreement. The foregoing is agreeano accepted by:

By: /s/ Edward Godit
Name: Edward Godir

Date:  January 2, 201



Name

Brightcove UK Ltd
Brightcove Singapore Pte. Lt
Brightcove K.K.

Brightcove Kore:

Brightcove Australia Pty Lt
Brightcove Holdings, Inc
Bright Bay Co. Ltd

Zencoder Inc

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Jurisdiction of Organizatio
UK

Singapore
Japar
Korea

Australia

Delaware
China

Delaware

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm
We consent to the incorporation by reference infdlewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-179966) pertaining to the Amended and Restated 308k Option and Incentive Plan of Brightcove lad the
Brightcove Inc. 2012 Stock Incentive Plan, i

(2) Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-183315) pertaining to the Brightcove Inc. 2012 R8ducement Plar

of our report dated March 5, 2013, with resped¢h®consolidated financial statements of Brightciome included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K)Rxfightcove Inc. for the
year ended December 31, 2012.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 5, 2013



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-a}QOF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jeremy Allaire, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fiBrightcove Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadominy untrue statement of a material fact or eengttate a material fact necessary to make thenséants made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statesere made, not misleading with respect to #re@ covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respectsfihancial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the regyigtas of, and for, the periods presented in gpsnt;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined ilmd&hge Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control overriial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rulga-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and proceduttes designed under our supervision, to ensure
material information relating to the registrantlirding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmtows by others within those entities, partidylar
during the period in which this report is beingpgaeed;

b) Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release N-8238/3:-47986 and 3-8392/3-49313;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratigslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the effectivereghe
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the étitegeriod covered by this report based on swuekuation; anc

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegyis’s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s most recesuiadi quarter

(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the caéan annual report) that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, tfegistrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial reporting, ttetregistrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s bodrdir@ctors (or persons performing the equival@mictions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal comver financial reporting which are reasonably lijke
adversely affect the registris ability to record, process, summarize and refprancial information; ant
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting

Date: March 5, 2013 By: /s/ Jeremy Allaire
Jeremy Allaire
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-a}QOF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Christopher Menard, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fiBrightcove Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadominy untrue statement of a material fact or eengttate a material fact necessary to make thenséants made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statesere made, not misleading with respect to #re@ covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respectsfihancial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the regyigtas of, and for, the periods presented in gpsnt;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined ilmd&hge Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control overriial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rulga-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and proceduttes designed under our supervision, to ensure
material information relating to the registrantlirding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmtows by others within those entities, partidylar
during the period in which this report is beingpgaeed;

b) Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release N-8238/3:-47986 and 3-8392/3-49313;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratigslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about the effectivereghe
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the étitegeriod covered by this report based on swuekuation; anc

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegyis’s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s most recesuiadi quarter

(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the caéan annual report) that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, tfegistrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial reporting, ttetregistrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s bodrdir@ctors (or persons performing the equival@mictions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal comver financial reporting which are reasonably lijke
adversely affect the registris ability to record, process, summarize and refprancial information; ant
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting

Date: March 5, 2013 By: /s/ Christopher Menar
Christopher Menar
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEFINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on FormK.@f Brightcove Inc. for the year ended DecemberZ12 as filed with the Securities and Exchange@asion on th
date hereof (the “Report”), Jeremy Allaire, as Chirecutive Officer of Brightcove Inc., hereby des, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adbptirsuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the béhis knowledge the Report fully complies wiltetrequirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of theuBtes Exchange Act of
1934, and the information contained in the Repairtyf presents, in all material respects, the faiancondition and results of operations of Brighte Inc.

Date: March 5, 2013 By: /s/ Jeremy Allaire
Jeremy Allaire
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

In connection with the Annual Report on FormK @f Brightcove Inc. for the year ended DecemberZ12 as filed with the Securities and Exchangm@asion on th
date hereof (the “Report”), Christopher MenardCagef Financial Officer of Brightcove Inc., herebsgrtifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,dagpted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, tioathe best of his knowledge the Report fully pties with the requirements of Section 13(a) od)®f the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, and the information contaiimeithe Report fairly presents, in all materialgests, the financial condition and results of ofjena of Brightcove Inc.

Date: March 5, 2013 By: /s/ Christopher Menar
Christopher Menar
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer




